Annual Report 2021

CAPITAL LIMITED

REGISTRAR

AUDITOR

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Bermuda registered
number 34477

Computershare Investor
Services (Jersey) Limited
Queensway House
Hilgrove Street
St Helier
Jersey JE1 1ES
Channel Islands

BDO LLP
55 Baker St
Marylebone
London W1U 7EU

Buchanan
107 Cheapside
London EC2V 6DN

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda
CORPORATE OFFICE
The CORE Building
9th Floor
Ébène CyberCity
Mauritius

WEBSITE
www.capdrill.com
COMPANY SECRETARY
Catherine Apthorpe

BANK
Standard Bank
(Mauritius) Limited
9th Floor, Tower A
1 CyberCity, Ébène
Mauritius

BROKERS
Tamesis Partners LLP
125 Old Broad Street
London EC2N 1 AR
Berenberg
(Joh. Berenberg, Gossler
& Co. KG)
60 Threadneedle Street
London EC2R 8HP
Stifel Nicolaus Europe
Limited
150 Cheapside
London, EC2V 6ET

Capital Limited (Capital) is a leading LSE listed mining
services company providing a complete range of drilling,
mining, maintenance and geochemical laboratory solutions
to customers within the minerals industry, focusing on the
African markets.
We operate with an unwavering commitment to safety, are
dedicated to providing a high-quality professional service and
work closely with our clients to deliver operational efficiencies.
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The most notable change
throughout 2021 has been
the Group’s successful
strategy to develop a broader
range of services, 22% of
Group Revenues are now
derived from non-drilling
services.
6

Highlights
TRANSFORMATIONAL YEAR
2021 has been a transformational year for our business. Our Company delivered its strongest ever revenue performance,
with three record quarters of revenue growth. Our core drilling business performed exceptionally well driven by high levels of
market activity, while our non-drilling businesses also grew strongly, contributing materially to Group revenues.

REVENUE

68%
INCREASE

$226.8M

EBITDA

117%
INCREASE

$73.3M

EBIT

140%
INCREASE

$51.9M

NPAT

184%
INCREASE

$70.3M

DIVIDEND

64%
INCREASE

TRIFR
Total

35%
BELOW TARGET (1.5)

FY20 $135.0M

FY20 $33.8M

FY20 $21.6M

FY20 $24.8M

3.6cps
FY20 2.2cps

0.98
FY20 0.77

7

CAPITAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Our Company

CAPITAL DRILLING

CAPITAL MINING

Capital Drilling provides a complete range of
drilling solutions for projects across the mining
cycle from exploration to production.

Capital Mining provides a fully flexible and complete
load and haul and mining service for mine owners.

Our clients include Tier 1 mining operations and
exploration companies based across Africa and in
selected international markets.
Our drilling services include: air core, blast hole,
delineation, dewatering, directional, deep hole
directional, exploration, grade control, pre-splits,
reverse circulation and underground drilling.
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By providing a fully integrated service, we manage
every stage of the process - from designing the
blast to delivering the required fragmentation that
optimises load and haul and down-stream ore
processing operations, delivering maximum value for
the mine owner.
Our mining services include: load and haul,
maintenance services, equipment operational hire
and fully integrated mining contracts tailored to the
mine owners specific circumstances.

MSALABS

CAPITAL INVESTMENTS

MSALABS is a global provider of geochemical
laboratory services for the exploration and mining
industries.

Capital Investments is a key component of our
business development strategy and comprises a
selective direct investments portfolio of both publicly
traded and private companies.

Our analytical services are suitable from greenfields
exploration through to mine closure and include
sample preparation, a complete range of analytical
techniques and construction and management of
on-site laboratories.

Direct investments into exploration and mining
companies are strategically aligned with our Group’s
broader operations, contributing to our activity via
‘drill for equity’ agreements and service contracts.
Our investments business also supports the
development of long-term relationships with our
clients by providing alternative partnership models.
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Capital Drilling
STRONG GROWTH PERFORMANCE FOR CORE DRILLING BUSINESS
2021 was an outstanding year for our core drilling business, driven by an increase in rig count combined with a significant
rise in utilisation rates. Our drilling division contributed revenue in 2021 of $173 million, up 45% on 2020 ($119 million).

VERY SUPPORTIVE MACRO CONDITIONS

EXPANDING OUR COMMODITY EXPOSURE

From early 2021 trading conditions showed signs of
significant improvement and this demand accelerated
through Q2 2021, driving up exploration and mining activity
and in turn the utilisation of our drilling fleet.

By the nature of both the contracting market and also
critically, the geographic regions where we operate, gold
mining is our main exposure. However, in 2021 we gained
some notable contract wins that expanded our exposure
outside of gold and into battery materials.

INCREASING RIG COUNT & UTILISATION
Our total rig count increased to 109 at the end of 2021 (with
three further rigs undergoing commissioning), up from 94
rigs at the end of 2020. These rigs have provided additional
support to existing contracts as well as to new contract
awards. In addition to the increased fleet size, utilisation rates
increased by 16% to 75% in 2021 (2020: 59%).

MAJOR CONTRACT RENEWALS
COMPLETED IN 2021
We have maintained a strong focus on securing long-term
mine site contracts to reduce the volatility of earnings and
ensure sustainability of the business through the cycle.
At the end of 2020, our drilling contract at Sukari was
expanded and extended in line with the mining contract
award and in 2021, we were awarded major contract
renewals at Geita. We have a strong history of recurring
renewals at projects dating back to 2005, and with only
smaller contracts due for renewal in 2022, we have a strong
foundation and good revenue visibility for the year.

In Q4 2021, we won an exploration contract with Tembo
Mining at their Kabanga Nickel Mine, Tanzania. Late in 2021,
this project received an investment from BHP intended to
accelerate its development. Additionally, early in 2022 we
announced an exploration contract with Firefinch at the
Goulamina Lithium Mine, Mali. This is a JV project between
Firefinch and the world’s largest lithium producer, Ganfeng.

OUTLOOK
The macro conditions continue to provide underlying support
for demand for our services. Consultants, S&P Global,
are estimating a 5-15% Year-on-Year (YoY) increase in
exploration budgets in 2022, following a 35% YoY increase
in 2021, strong indicators that robust activity levels will
continue.
This, in combination with the strength in demand we are
seeing from our new and existing customers, gives us
confidence to continue to invest in additional rigs throughout
2022. Our purchasing decisions are focused on ensuring we
have a favourable balance of rig type in the regions where we
are operating, in addition to building the overall fleet size.
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Capital Mining
EXPANDING OUR CAPABILITIES TO LOAD & HAUL AT SUKARI
2021 marked a transformational step for us as our mining business commenced the Sukari Gold Mine (Sukari) waste
mining contract for Centamin in Egypt. This was not only the largest award of new business in our history, but also our first
major earthmoving contract.

SUKARI LOAD & HAUL WASTE STRIPPING
CONTRACT DETAILS
The contract consists of open-pit waste mining with load
and haul and associated services as part of the Eastern Wall
waste cut-back at the Sukari gold mine.
The 120Mt waste mining contract commenced in January
2021 for a four-year term. In addition, the contract included
a 15-month extension on the existing Blast Hole drilling
contract to 31 December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT FLEET EXPANSION
The size of the Sukari project required a significant increase
to the existing fleet. To support this project we purchased
seventeen dump trucks, four excavators, seven blast hole
drill rigs and further ancillary equipment such as graders and
dozers.

INCREASED SERVICE OFFERING
DIVERSIFICATION

Overall, the value of the Sukari Contract (Mining and Drilling)
is estimated to be between $235 million and $260 million.

Our expansion into load and haul supports our strategy to
diversify our product offering to provide clients with a full
suite of mining services.

RAMP UP AHEAD OF CONTRACT
EXPECTATIONS

We commenced our first ancillary mining services contract at
the Bonikro Mine in H2 2019. Throughout 2020 we increased
our capacity and capability and engaged in tendering
opportunities.

Our Capital Mining team set a demanding ramp up
schedule. Mine production commenced in February 2021,
just two months after winning the contract. In August 2021,
operations hit target run rates of above one million bulk cubic
metres (bcm) per month, three months ahead of contracted
commitments. This was an impressive result from the team
on top of what were already demanding ramp up targets.
Operations had achieved steady state run rates by
31 December 2021.

In December 2020, we secured the waste stripping contract
at Sukari, marking a significant step forward into an area we
anticipate will provide larger revenue opportunities in the
future.
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MSALABS
OUTSTANDING YEAR OF GROWTH
2021 has been another outstanding year for our laboratory business MSALABS, further contributing to the growth in our
non-drilling revenue. MSALABS is a core pillar of our strategy to provide clients with an end-to-end service. We are excited
by the growth potential in this business as it plans to roll out further new laboratories throughout 2022.

BUILDING A GLOBAL LABORATORY
NETWORK
Over the past two years, MSALABS has expanded its
footprint across Africa, with mine-site laboratories added in
Mauritania, Nigeria, Mali and Tanzania. It is now expanding its
footprint in the Americas with a laboratory commencing in
Val d’Or, Canada during Q1 2022.
We expect this expansion to continue throughout 2022,
driven by the roll out of Chrysos Corporation’s (Chrysos)
PhotonAssay technology.

CHRYSOS PHOTONASSAY – A
REVOLUTIONARY TECHNOLOGY
MSALABS have become early adopters of Chrysos
Corporation’s (Chrysos) PhotonAssay technology that we
see as revolutionary in gold analysis delivering multiple
advantages over the traditional Fire Assay process.
This technology provides faster, more accurate and more
environmentally friendly analysis. The process is significantly
simpler than fire assay, dramatically improving the results
turnaround time and reducing the risk of human error, with
the benefit of being able to retain and retest samples.
In addition, the use of X-rays avoids the high temperatures
and harmful chemicals such as lead and acids involved in
Fire Assay, making it more environmentally friendly.

CHRYSOS GLOBAL PARTNERSHIP
In April last year, MSALABS announced its global partnership
with Chrysos to lease their ground breaking PhotonAssay
units across its global network.
This rollout has commenced with a unit at the Bulyanhulu
Gold Mine, Tanzania (Barrick), a unit at the Morila Gold Mine,
Mali (Firefinch) and a unit in Val d’Or, Canada.
MSALABS is planning to have six Chryos PhotonAssay units
leased by the end of 2022.

HUB AND SPOKE MODEL
MSALABS operates a ‘Hub and Spoke’ model consisting
of two major ‘hub’ laboratories, one in Yamoussoukro, Ivory
Coast, and the second in Langley, Canada. These labs are
in key gold producing regions and are run by a team of
technicians that can offer a wide range of services.
It also operates ten ‘spoke’ laboratories that collect samples
and feed them back to the ‘hubs’. This model maximises
utilisation and leverages the capabilities at the ‘hub’.

FOCUS ON MINE SITE
LABORATORIES
Consistent with our strategy, MSALABS is focusing on
the construction and management of mine-site based
laboratories. In addition to exploration samples, this
laboratory can be used for on-site analysis of grade control
and plant analysis. This reduces results lead time, critical for
accurate mine planning. These contracts are 24/7 site-based
operations and typically have long-term contracts of four to
five years.
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Capital Investments
A CORE PILLAR OF OUR STRATEGY
For several years as a component of our business development strategy, we have engaged in direct investments into
exploration and mining companies, aligning the activity with service contracts. This is now a core pillar of our strategy.

INVESTMENTS STRATEGY
Capital has established a committee, to oversee investments
that must satisfy a number of criteria:
•

Strategic alignment with Capital’s operations;

•

Stand alone investment case;

•

Commercial services contract.

CREATING STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS AT
ALL STAGES OF DEVELOPMENT
In addition to the substantial gains we have seen in the
portfolio throughout 2021, our Capital Investments strategy
allows us to offer alternative partnership models to our clients
creating long-term relationships. We have created these
partnerships across all stages of mine development:
•

Capital has generated substantial returns from the investment
portfolio over the past three years.

Opportunity sourcing: We have targeted early-stage
exploration properties, conducted our own field work
and subsequently sourced listed entities to acquire these
assets in exchange for equity;

•

Total investments value increased from $27.2 million
(December 2020) to $60.2 million at the end of 2021, net of
cash proceeds.

Creating partnerships: Through these investments, we
have created strong collaborative relationships with
management teams and Boards;

•

Capital raising: We have provided financing for early
stage mine acquisitions where financing was less readily
available;

•

Ongoing business relationship consistent with our
partnership approach: The strong partnerships we have
created through these investments generates ongoing
business for our Capital Drilling business;
Contracts from investee customers generated
$41 million (18% of Group revenue) in 2021.

SUBSTANTIAL RETURNS IN OUR
INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

16

KEY HOLDINGS

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Our portfolio is comprised of a combination of listed
companies ($52.0 million December 31, 2021) and unlisted
companies ($8.2 million).

65

Key holdings include:

50

•

55

45

Predictive Discovery (ASX: PDI): At the end of Q3 2021
Predictive announced its maiden resource for its Bankan
Project of 72.8Mt @ 1.56 g/t for approximately 3.646
million ounces of gold. Our last reported holding of
Predictive Discovery was 10.44% as disclosed on 19 July
2021;
Firefinch (ASX: FFX): In 2021 Firefinch announced a
50/50 joint venture arrangement with leading lithium
producer Jiangxi Ganfeng Lithium Co. Ltd (“Ganfeng”)
for its Goulamina Lithium Project (“Goulamina”) whereby
Ganfeng is to provide up to US$194 million of funding.
We were awarded a drilling services contract in Q4
2021 at this project. Capital’s latest published holding of
Firefinch was 2.1%.
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•
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121% Increase
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NAMIBIA
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Our Strategy
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AFRICAN
FOCUSSED

QUALITY
PROVIDERS

Maintain our strong
established presence in
MENA, East and West
Africa.

Deliver first world project
execution standards in the
emerging markets.

INDUSTRY
LEADING
HSE
Deliver world class
safety processes
and procedures on
every site.

Deliver an end-to-end
exploration to mining
services solution, with
a focus on mine-site
based contracts

BEST IN CLASS
ASSETS AND
MAINTENANCE

SUPERIOR
PORTFOLIO OF
CONTRACTS

ROBUST
BALANCE
SHEET

INCREASE
SERVICE
OFFERING

Invest in Tier 1 on-site
maintenance infrastructure
and maintain industry
leading equipment
standards through
maintenance and rebuild
programs.

Build portfolio of blue
chip and mid-tier mining
companies with quality
assets.

Create strong cash
generation and maintain a
conservative approach to
gearing.

Expand range of
complimentary ancillary
services.
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Our Investment Proposition
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STABLE,
PREDICTABLE
REVENUE

FULL
SERVICE
PROVIDER

HIGH
GROWTH
REGION

Established portfolio of
long-term contracts across
ten operating mine sites.

Diversity of services across
the mining cycle and shift
towards becoming a fullservice provider increases
recurring revenue.

Multiple mine-site
based contracts
with Tier 1 clients
combined with
focus on highgrowth African
market.

Recurring revenue
base underpins
growth opportunities
and investor returns

EXECUTION
EXCELLENCE
Excellent project execution,
high quality and expanding
fleet, and experienced
management teams.

HIGHLY
SUPPORTIVE
MACRO
Strong gold and metals
prices, resurgent capital
raisings and elevated
operating margins across
the commodities sector,
strong lead indicators for
increased activity levels for
our company.

ROBUST
PIPELINE
Substantial increase in
tendering pipeline activity
across all business units.

STRONG
BALANCE
SHEET
Robust balance sheet
enables shareholder
returns through accretive
growth initiatives,
investments and dividend
payments.
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Key Facts
At a Glance

FOCUS

ON AFRICA

SAFETY ACHIEVEMENTS

CLIENT BASE

0.98

Total Recordable Injury
Frequency Rate

		2020

ISO 45001

Attained company-wide
certification

MID-TIER

JUNIOR

MAJOR
LOST TIME INJURY (LTI)
FREE MILESTONES:

13 YRS

Mwanza Facility (Tanzania)

5 YRS

North Mara Gold Mine (Tanzania)

5 YRS

Syama Gold Mine (Mali)

4 YRS

Geita Gold Mine (Tanzania)

3 YRS

Yanfolila (Mali)

3 YRS

Bamako Facility (Mali)

2 YRS

Jabal Sayid Mine (Saudi Arabia)

1 YR

Capital Mining, Sukari (Egypt)

1 YR

Bankan Project (Guinea)

1 YR

Bulyanhulu (Tanzania)

1 YR

Bonikro (Cote d’Ivoire)

2021

3 7%
59 61%
38 32%

DRILLING REVENUE BY ACTIVITY PHASE

		
2020
2021

3 8%
DEVELOPMENT 		
37 38%
PRODUCTION
48 41%
UNDERGROUND
12 13%
EXPLORATION

TOTAL REVENUE BY ACTIVITY PHASE
		2020

2021

3 6%
DEVELOPMENT 		
33 31%
PRODUCTION *
46 45%
UNDERGROUND
11 10%
OTHER
7 7%
EXPLORATION

* Includes mining revenue

2021 operations
Previous operations
Long-term contracts
MSALABS laboratory

REVENUE BY REGION

REVENUE BY LOCATION

REST OF WORLD 3%

NON MINESITE
12%

WEST AFRICA
34%
MENA
40%

MINESITE
88%
SOUTH AND EAST AFRICA
23%

REVENUE BY ACTIVITY

NON-DRILLING *
22%

REVENUE BY SERVICES
NON DRILLING *
22%

PRODUCTION
31%
DRILLING
78%

EXPLORATION
6%
DELINEATION
31%

UNDERGROUND
10%

* Includes mining revenue
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Environmental Commitment
COMMITMENT TO REDUCING ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT
At Capital, we regard climate change as both a company and global concern. We recognise that the impacts of climate
change, including shifts in temperature, precipitation and more frequent severe weather events, could affect our clients
and, by extension, our business in a range of possible ways.

CLIMATE CHANGE
Changing climate conditions can:
•

Affect the stability and effectiveness of infrastructure and
equipment;

•

Impact environmental protection and client demands
such as demand for green or cleaner fleets;

•

Lead to regulatory changes such as more widespread
carbon tax regimes; and

•

Potentially impact the stability and cost of energy and
water supplies.

We are committed to reducing our emissions to contribute to
stemming the worst impact of climate change and are taking
action to build a climate resilient business. We welcome
the UK Financial Conduct Authority’s mandatory stance

24

on the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD). Globally we are faced with the need to be prepared
for external climate-related events, and in 2021 we made
positive steps towards managing these challenges.

GOVERNANCE OF CLIMATE-RELATED
ASPECTS
We recognise that climate-related impacts to our business
provide us with new risks, but also new opportunities. We
see this as an exciting challenge to adjust our products
and services to remain relevant and competitive in contract
mining markets. Our strategy to manage the risks and
opportunities associated with a changing climate is governed
at Board and Management level and recognises the potential
risks of being ill-prepared for external, uncontrolled events.

BOARD
The Board’s Sustainability Committee is responsible for
overseeing our environmental policies, programmes and
performance, including matters of climate change.
The Sustainability Committee reports directly to the Board,
and consists of:
•

Two Executive Directors;

•

Rick Robson, Executive: Corporate Development;

•

One Non-Executive Director;

•

One Independent Non-Executive Director as Chair.

The Sustainability Charter was developed and adopted
by the Board in 2021. The Charter sets out the structure
and reporting lines of the committee and makes
recommendations to the Board to connect with the strategy,
standards, processes and approach to environmental, social
and governance matters that could affect the business
activities, assets, performance and reputation.
Members of the Sustainability Committee meet with
operational members of the Executive Leadership Team
(ELT) on a regular basis to review our exposure to and
management of all relevant, applicable, or material
sustainability issues, including those related to the climate.
The ELT is tasked with managing such risks, as well as the
preparation of associated disclosures.
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MANAGEMENT

STRATEGY

At the management level, our ELT provides oversight and
governance on strategic decisions related to climate change.
Development and implementation of climate strategy ideas
are discussed in the technology and innovation committee
meetings. Members of the ELT and senior management sit
on the technology and innovation committee and feedback
to the rest of the leadership team and ensure progress in
against strategy is monitored. Monthly meetings are held
where issues related to climate change, environmental
management and emissions reduction are discussed. The
ELT are responsible for the oversight of potential climaterelated trends, risks and potential uncertainties, performing
associated risk assessments, preparing action plans based
on the results of such assessments, and tracking and
reporting the results of such risk assessments and associated
action plans. The ELT is also responsible for assessing
climate-related risks and opportunities as part of their daily
duties.

Climate-related issues are integrated into most strategic
discussions and decisions, particularly those related to the
oversight of risk management, infrastructure, research and
development, resource efficiency programmes, acquisitions
and divestitures and regulatory compliance. Responsibility
for monitoring implementation of our policies, and progress
against strategy and targets resides with the Sustainability
Committee and the managers of each operational unit.
Targets will be set in 2022 to enable enhanced tracking of our
progress.

A climate change strategy will be implemented in 2022 to
formalise the process of assessing progress against climate
change targets on an annual basis.

We will also provide climate risk focused training and
information sessions for our Board and ELT to ensure they are
adequately prepared for this emerging risk for our business.
During 2021, we worked to develop a climate change
strategy. The fundamental objectives of our strategy are:
•

Identify and understand the climate change related
risks and opportunities for our business, over the short,
medium and long term, and develop steps to manage
and mitigate identified negative impacts;

•

Research, investigate and invest in new and existing
cleaner technologies to reduce our overall carbon
footprint and limit exposure to increasing regulation,
stakeholder scrutiny and physical climate risks, and
future proof our business against changing client
demands;

•

Set our scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions baseline and
emissions intensity and develop short, medium and longterm targets to improve our emissions intensity;

•

Diversify our commodity exposure and work with metals
crucial to decarbonisation such as copper, and lithium.

SITE ACTIVITY
Although we are not owners of the sites where we operate,
we do need to merge seamlessly with the approach of our
client’s sites. We constantly review new technologies to
align with client requirements and collaborate to elevate
their operations through new technology implementation.
We work with our client’s site teams in partnership to ensure
our on-site teams are sensitised to the site or client-specific
climate programmes. This collaborative relationship provides
feedback to our Management Team, creating a positive loop
of progress for our company.

During 2021, we identified a number of climate-related
risks and opportunities for our business. Given the scale
of climate change and its potential impacts, our approach
is to work to fully assess and understand each risk and
opportunity, while simultaneously developing appropriate
mitigation, management and realisation plans. In 2022, we
will work to further assess our risks and opportunities, to
better understand when they may occur (short, medium and
long term).
Further to the above and once climate scenario analysis work
is completed, we will regularly review the resilience of our
strategy against different scenarios and adjust the strategy as
necessary.
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IDENTIFIED AND REALISED OPPORTUNITIES
As part of our climate strategy and analysis, we have already identified several opportunities to reduce emissions, de-risk
the business, save costs and ensure we stay relevant and aligned to our clients environmental objectives.
Our Technology and Innovation Committee constantly researches and tests cleaner energy or renewable energy sources.
New technology is investigated in detail and trialled before implementation.

HYBRID LIGHTING
Due to the remote nature of
many of our operational sites,
accessing electricity from the grid
can be a challenge or simply not
an option. To reduce the reliance
on diesel generators for lighting
on site, during 2021 we have
investigated alternative energy
sources. Initially, we focussed on
solar-only solutions, however, the
available technology does not meet
our requirements. Therefore, we
expanded our research and trials
to consider hybrid solar and diesel
solutions, which have since been
implemented across multiple sites.
The hybrid system significantly
reduces diesel consumption,
delivering both cost and emissions
reductions.

RETROFITTING HYDI
HYDROGEN UNITS ONTO
DIESEL ENGINES
We are currently trialling the use of
innovative bolt-on hydrogen units,
or HYDIs, on two of our vehicles,
a 785 dump truck and a DML drill
rig, at Centamin’s Sukari Gold Mine
in Egypt. HYDI units are retrofitted
onto diesel engines and hydrogen
is produced while the engine is
running. The system then supplies
hydrogen gas to the engine’s
intake. While still in the testing
phase, the initial results have
been positive indicating reduced
diesel consumption and potential
emissions decrease of up to 10%
for each vehicle.

CHRYSOS PHOTONASSAY
Our laboratory business, MSALABS
is installing a new and cleaner assay
method, Chysos PhotonAssay. The
system provides an environmentally
friendly, chemical-free, more sustainable
replacement for traditional fire assay
methods, significantly reducing CO2
emissions and hazardous waste. By
utilising x-ray technology, the need for
traditional fire assay methods, which
are energy intensive and substantially
more time consuming, is eliminated. It
also delivers improved representative
samples, helps to better define reserves
and resources, and provides more
accurate analysis of all plant and
geological sample types, while reducing
human error. Alongside the positive
environmental benefits, this technology
also reduces the cost of analysis.
While Chrysos technology has been
implemented in Australia, MSALABS
installed and commissioned the first
international unit at Barrick’s Bulyanhulu
mine in Tanzania with further units
planned to be deployed through 2022.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

PHYSICAL RISK ANALYSIS

During 2021, we began to consider the impact of climate
change on the business which has been increasingly
integrated into our formal risk management process.

One way we factor climate risks into our process is through
the analysis of rainfall and potential extreme weather
events, primarily undertaken at our West African operations.
These analyses consider severe rainfall and how this might
affect our ability to work effectively. They also consider the
potential impacts to the communities around us or in which
we operate, to avoid impacting water quality and quantity.
This process has allowed us to identify several additional
climate-related risks and opportunities. They include lowcarbon or low-impact technologies, challenges associated
with new laws and regulations, and adjusting to keep our
business relevant.

Climate risks have been incorporated into the corporate
risk register and include the following key risks:
•

Weather related disruption to operations

•

A slow response to energy transition

•

Non-compliance with climate related reporting
regulations

Each risk is regularly monitored in terms of its relative
impact on the business and its mitigating strategies with
progress against specific actions also regularly reviewed.
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In line with recommendations of the TCFD, going forward
we will work to expand these analyses to full climate
scenario analyses to consider the impacts a changing
climate might have on our business, including a Net Zero by
2050 (1.5 degree increase). Results of the scenario analysis
will then be used to assess the resilience of our climate
strategy.

OUR EMISSIONS

GROUP SCOPE
1 AND 2 GHG EMISSIONS

SCOPE 1 - STATIONARY 11%
SCOPE 2 - 1%

SCOPE 1 - MOBILE 88%

GHG EMISSIONS

SCOPE 1 + 2 GHG EMISSIONS (tCO2-e)

During 2021 we began to track our
carbon footprint in terms of our
scope 1 (direct) and scope 2 (indirect)
emissions in accordance with GHG
Protocol Corporate Accounting. The
baseline data will be used to inform
the setting of a emissions reduction
target during 2022. We recognise the
absence of a target does not comply
with the recommendations of the
TCFD. However, it is our firm belief
any target we set must be grounded in
climate science and the realities of our
business. As noted above we plan to
build on the work undertaken in 2021
to fully understand our emissions
profile, and set out target. Our target
will be fully disclosed in our 2022
report. The target will also be reviewed
and updated as additional emission
reduction opportunities are identified
and realised.
The bulk (88%) of our emissions stem
from the mobile fleet we operate
across our operations, which are
accounted for under scope 1. The
remainder flow from our stationary
units (11%), also accounted for under
scope 1, and the electricity we use
on site and at our offices (1%) which
is accounted for under scope 2. Our
scope 1 emissions are reflective of
the assets we own, irrespective of
whether the contract on which they
are deployed is fuel supplied by the
client.
This data will form the baseline of
an on-going assessment to set an
emissions reduction target. We are
committed to determining a target
during 2022 which we will monitor and
adjust as we grow.

		
We are also working to establish
2021

84,950

suitable emissions intensity measures
that are appropriate for a complete
mining services provider.
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We actively encourage the
employment of women and gender
diversity through all levels of the
organisation within the legal and
cultural parameters of the countries
in which we operate.
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Social Responsibility
COMMITMENT TO OPERATING RESPONSIBLY
We embrace our role in the communities where we work and recognise the impact our operations can have on local
society. We strive to develop strong relationships with these communities and build sustainable value in local regions
by providing a range of support to residents, local communities and charity organisations while developing career
opportunities for our local employees.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION
At Capital, our operations span geographically and culturally
diverse locations, employing 39 different nationalities. We
are committed to be a leading mining services organisation
with a workforce that reflects the diversity of the broader
communities in which we operate.
We not only encourage an inclusive workplace but we are
also passionate about developing the skills of our employees
in the countries we operate.
Our Workforce Diversity Policy highlights our commitment to
Equal Employment Opportunity and our focus on driving a
culture that is respectful of individual differences. We will not

NATIONAL EMPLOYEES V EXPATS

tolerate any form of harassment or other forms of unwelcome
behaviour.
Our strategy focuses on employing expatriates for the
purpose of delivering value through high performance,
coaching and upskilling our local workforce. We encourage
this development of local workforces from entry level
positions through to management roles.
As a result of this key strategy, 88% of our workforce
are local employees, 3% of which have now have taken
expatriate roles across our business, where they are
transferring their skills and knowledge to intercontinental and
international employees of different nationalities.

NATIONAL EMPLOYEES BY REGION

EXPATS
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
Group Services

MENA

East Africa

West Africa

Subsidiaries

NATIONAL EMPLOYEES
NATIONAL EMPLOYEES

EXPAT
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT & INVESTMENT
As well as training local workforces, we continue to be
supportive of local initiatives in the communities in which we
operate. Where possible we offer support in various ways
across multiple programs including:
•

Support through donations for community fundraising
activities;

•

Support through funding of local scholarships;

•

Health and welfare support to local hospitals as well as
in-community initiatives such as mosquito spraying in
local villages;

•

Sponsorship for local sporting teams;

•

Where possible procuring services from local
communities.

These projects are key to building relationships with the
communities where we operate and ensure our license to
operate.
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CASE STUDY
BRIDGE PROVIDES SAFER CROSSING FOR
NORTH MARA LOCAL COMMUNITY
While greenfield drilling in a remote region of North
Mara, Tanzania, project manager Omary Paul,
initiated the construction of a bridge to provide the
local community with a much safer crossing.
Construction of the bridge took two days and
involved Capital, Barrick and the local community.
Recycled drill and blast rods were used on the base
for strength and recycled diamond rods on the top for
the crossing.
The local community have praised the new bridge
and its improvement to their safety while travelling
between villages.

CASE STUDY
ALEX RUGBY CLUB, EGYPT
We are proud to have been continually supporting the
Alex Rugby Club in Egypt since 2005. The club aims to
promote rugby in Alexandria and more broadly across
Egypt, but also to promote Egyptian rugby internationally.
We are also very proud they are the first club to have
introduced a women’s rugby team in the country.
Members of the women’s team joined the first official
Egyptian National Women’s team who went on to win Gold
in the 1st Arab Rugby 7s championship for women earlier
in 2021 – great to see such outstanding performance from
the club.

CASE STUDY
SUPPORT PROVIDES GROWTH FOR LAUNDRY
BUSINESS
Wherever possible, we like to support local businesses
in the communities we operate.
Peter is the owner of EL Batal laundry service in Egypt.
He was awarded a Laundry Services Contract with
Capital 11 years ago to complete all the washing and
cleaning services for our Sukari operations including
clothes, blankets and curtains.
Peter and his wife started with only one washing
machine and their business has continued to grow
with our support until today, where they now have 11
machines and a thriving business.
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Enhancing Corporate
Governance
REVIEWING OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Towards the end of 2021 and early 2022, we completed a comprehensive risk assessment on all areas of the business
including anti-bribery and corruption and modern slavery. The outcome of the risk assessment has facilitated development
of our inaugural Modern Slavery Statement and an updated Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy.

MODERN SLAVERY

ANTI-BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION POLICY

At Capital, we are committed to doing business responsibly
and we take a zero-tolerance approach to all forms of modern
slavery in our business and supply chain. In accordance with
section 54(1) of the UK Modern Slavery Act, the statement
describes the steps that we have taken to date to identify and
mitigate the risk of modern slavery occurring in any part of our
business or supply chain.

We are committed to conducting all our business activities and
those of our subsidiaries in an honest and ethical manner. We
have a zero tolerance approach to bribery and corruption. We
are committed to acting professionally, fairly and with integrity
in all our business dealings and relationships wherever we
operate, and implementing and enforcing effective systems to
counter bribery and corruption.

Our Modern Slavery Statement for the financial year
ending 2021 can be found on our website at
www.capdrill.com

Our policy can be found in the Corporate Governance section
of our website.
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HUMAN RIGHTS POLICY

ETHICAL BUSINESS

We are committed to respecting human rights and support the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the United Nations’
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.

We are committed to doing business in an ethical manner. The
Board regularly monitors and seeks to improve our corporate
governance practices through evaluation of regulatory
developments with respect to corporate governance and the
transparency of public company disclosure.

We recognise and support the International Labour
Organization’s core labour standards. We strive to ensure
that the rights of every individual within our workforce, and
every individual or community with whom we interact, are
upheld and respected. We recognise that in many situations
economic development and environmental responsibility are
fundamental to the realisation of rights and the importance of
working, where appropriate and feasible, in partnership with
governments, civil society and other businesses.
A copy of our policy can be found in the Corporate
Governance section of our website.

We have in place relevant policies and standards, including
our Business Conduct (with separate guidelines to the policy)
which are the foundation of our internal governance. They
provide clear guidance on the behaviour of employees, and
those engaged in activities on our behalf, must demonstrate
at all times in their dealings with stakeholders. This includes
behaving ethically, acting with integrity and transparency,
respecting human rights and complying with applicable laws
and regulations.

OTHER POLICIES OVERSEEN BY THE
SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Additional policies with input from the Sustainability
Committee (and where appropriate, the HSSE Committee)
include policies on Safety, Health and Wellbeing, Workforce
Diversity, Social Responsibility and the Environment.
These policies can be found in the Corporate Governance
section of our website.
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Health and Safety
COMMITMENT TO OPERATING RESPONSIBLY
The health and safety of our employees is always our number one priority. Our approach and commitment to safety
aims to eliminate the risks and potential hazards both within the business and also in the various regions where we
operate.

SAFETY PERFORMANCE
Our safety performance remains world class with the Group
remaining LTI free across eleven sites through 2021, six of
which have remained LTI free in excess of three years:
•

13 years LTIF at Mwanza, Tanzania;

•

5 years LTIF at the Syama Gold Mine, Mali;

•

5 years LTIF at the North Mara Gold Mine, Tanzania;

•

4 years LTIF at the Geita Gold Mine, Tanzania;

•

3 years LTIF at Bamako, Mali;

•

3 years LTIF at the Hummingbird, Mali;

•

2 years LTIF at the Jabal Sayid Copper Mine, Saudi
Arabia;

•

1 years LTIF at the Bulyanhulu Gold Mine, Tanzania;

•

1 years LTIF at the Bonikro Mine, Cote d’Ivoire;

•

1 years LTIF at the Sukari gold project, Egypt;

•

1 years LTIF at the Bankan gold project, Guinea.

The Group also achieved a Total Recordable Injury Frequency
Rate (TRIFR) of 0.98 for 2021. This result is outstanding given
an increase of more than 3 million working hours, an increased
headcount of 1,000 new employees and the commencement
and ramp up to full run rate of our first major earthmoving
contract during the year.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
(HSE) MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
We apply ISO 45001 and ISO 9001 standards to reduce
risks to as low as reasonably possible. This includes
applying new technology and the hierarchy of controls to
eliminate risk, and creating management plans and safe
(HS&Q) work procedures to control risks and hazards
associated with work being performed.
To achieve zero harm, we adhere to a number of key
principles. The first of these is accountability across all
levels. Within leadership this includes allocating sufficient
resources to maintain a high standard and sustainable work
environment, and also regular HS&Q meetings to address
workplace hazards, risks & failures. We also communicate
our HS&Q expectations and hold employees accountable
for their behaviour and actions.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
Training and development of our employees is a cornerstone
of our strategy. It ensures they are capable of delivering a
competent and safe service, contributes to increasing the
knowledge and skills of local employees and assists in career
path development.
We have increased our focus on training programs delivered
during the early stages of employment, which also supports
improving the diversity of our workforce.
We also continue to evaluate initiatives that provide opportunities
to enhance the skills within the local communities where we
operate.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING POLICY
We are committed to protecting the health, safety and wellbeing
of our employees, host communities, suppliers, business
partners and visitors. All Directors, employees and any thirdparty workers, sub-contractors, business partners or visitors
to our sites have a duty of care to take reasonable care of their
own health, safety and wellbeing and that of others who may be
affected by their actions.
We are committed to promoting wellbeing and healthy lifestyles
through education on fatigue risk management and fitness and
nutrition.

CASE STUDY
TRAINING DODOMA UNIVERSITY
STUDENTS
Students studying their Mining Engineering
degree at the University of Dodoma, Tanzania,
undertake eight weeks of practical training
with companies operating in the mining sector.
Capital has provided training for a number of
students in this program, training and passing
seven students in drilling operations, with a
further 32 students completing training time
with Capital on rotation with the client, to
study the drilling component of an open pit
mining operation.
A range of topics are covered including
diamond, blasthole, presplit and grade control
drilling, Quality Assurance/Quality Control
(QAQC) and Rock Drilling Tool (RDT) operation.
Students are required to prepare and present
a report from their field operations as part of
their degree.

Our Health, Safety and Wellbeing Policy can be found in the
corporate governance section of our website.

COVID-19
COVID-19 continues to present a challenge across the mining
industry today. We continue to closely monitor the situation
and apply risk management measures to not only ensure the
health and safety of our employees but also the continuity of our
operations.
In mitigating the risk of COVID-19 we have:
•

Implemented a rigorous and regular testing program to limit
transmission amongst employees;

•

Provided quarantine accommodation where necessary;

•

Used preventative measures such as face masks, regular
sanitation and temperature checks;

•

Limited where possible flying in and flying out of employees
to operations;

•

Encouraged our workforce to participate in global
vaccination programs.
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Board of Directors
The Group’s Executive and Non-Executive Directors bring a broad range of business,
commercial and other relevant experience to the Board.

JAMIE PHILLIP BOYTON
Executive Chairman
Jamie Boyton is Chairman of the Company, having been appointed in January 2009. In his
role as Chairman, he is responsible for overseeing the Company’s strategic and business
development, which includes advising on capital markets requirements and strategic
growth opportunities. He was previously an Executive Director at Macquarie Bank, where
he was the Head of Asian Equity Syndication and Corporate Broking, based in Hong Kong.
Jamie has a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting and Finance) degree from the University of
Western Australia.

BRIAN RUDD
Executive Director
Brian Rudd is a founder of the Company and an Executive Director, with a focus on
business development and client relations. He was appointed as a Director in May
2005. As a founder of the Company, Brian has been instrumental in the successful
establishment and development of the Company since 2005. Brian has over 36 years
of experience in the mining industry in both Australia and Africa. Before establishing
the Company, Brian held various senior positions for private and listed drilling
companies in Australia and Africa. Brian is a Non-executive Director of Hardy Metals
and an adviser to Minexia.

DAVID GARY ABERY
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
David Abery is the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, being appointed in January
2018. David joined the Company in October 2017 when he was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director and as Chairman of the Audit Committee. David has over 15 years’
experience as a Finance Director of London quoted companies, and over 20 years’ experience
in senior finance and general management roles. He has extensive experience of financial,
commercial and strategic matters in African and UK corporate environments at both board
and operational level, as well as experience of corporate governance, regulatory and investor
relations best practice. David has a BA (Hons) in Finance and Accountancy and is a Chartered
Accountant (ICAEW).
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ALEXANDER JOHN DAVIDSON
Independent Non-Executive Director
Alex Davidson is an Independent Non-Executive Director and was appointed in May 2010.
He has over 40 years’ experience in designing, implementing and managing gold and base
metal exploration and acquisition programmes throughout the world. Alex was Barrick
Gold Corporation’s Executive Vice President, Exploration and Corporate Development with
responsibility for its international exploration programmes and Barrick’s corporate development
activities. Alex is a director of a number of London and Toronto listed companies, including
Yamana Gold and Americas Gold & Silver. He has a B.Sc. and M.Sc. in Economic Geology from
McGill University.

MICHAEL IAN RAWLINSON
Independent Non-Executive Director
Michael Rawlinson is a Non-Executive Director and was appointed in August 2018. He is a former
investment banker with over 26 years’ of experience focused on the mining and metals sector.
He was previously Global Co-Head of Mining and Metals at Barclays investment bank having
joined from the boutique investment bank, Liberum Capital - a business he helped found in 2007.
He has experience as both a corporate financier and research analyst covering the mining sector
and has extensive capital markets experience having worked on IPOs and follow-on offerings for
a number of companies. He is also Senior Independent Non-Executive Director at Hochschild
Mining PLC, Chairman of Adriatic Metals PLC and is a Non-Executive Director of AfriTin Mining
Limited.

CATHERINE (CASSIE) BOGGS
Independent Non-Executive Director
Catherine (Cassie) Boggs is an Independent Non-Executive Director and was appointed in
September 2021. She has over 35 years’ experience in General Counsel and senior leadership
roles for companies in the mining sector.
Previously, she spent eight years with renowned global mining investment firm, Resource Capital
Funds, in the role of Partner, Vice President and General Counsel. Cassie also held the role of
Senior Vice President, Corporate Development for Barrick Gold Corporation. During this time, she
served as General Counsel to their LSE-listed subsidiary, African Barrick Gold and as Regional
President of their African Business Unit. She was also an International Partner for global law firm
Baker McKenzie, also holding the role of the Head of Global Mining Group with the company.
Cassie is also an Independent Director for Hecla Mining Company.
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Our Performance
2021 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
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EXECUTE SUKARI CONTRACT

GROW ANCILLARY SERVICES REVENUE

•

Commenced production in February 2021, two
months from contract award

•

FY 2021 non-drilling revenue contribution grew
to 22% (FY 2020:19%)

•

Achieved all production phases ahead of contract
schedule commitments

•

•

Contract now running at steady state for 2022

MSALABS commissioned the first Chrysos
PhotonAssay unit outside Australia, at the
Bulyanhulu Gold Mine (Barrick), Tanzania

•

Completed recruitment of over 400 employees,
deployment of new equipment and ramp up to
steady-state production injury free

•

Rollout of the PhotonAssay units will continue in
2022 with multiple units planned for installation
across Canada and Africa, providing a further
platform for growth

EXPAND CAPACITY WITH EXISTING CUSTOMERS

INCREASE UTILISATION THROUGH IDLE FLEET

•

Increased rig capacity at multiple operations, including:

New exploration drilling contracts with:

•

Sukari Gold Mine (Centamin), Egypt

•

•

Geita Gold Mine (Barrick), Tanzania

Allied Gold Corp, Altus Strategies, Cora Gold and
Firefinch in Mali

•

North Mara Gold Mine (Barrick), Tanzania

•

Perseus Mining Limited in Côte d’Ivoire

•

Morila Gold Mine (Firefinch), Mali

•

Golden Rim Resources in Guinea

•

Tasiast Gold Mine (Kinross), Mauritania

•

Oriole Resources in Cameroon

•

Arrow Minerals and Endeavour Mining Corporation in
Burkina Faso

•

Shanta Gold in Kenya

•

Allied Gold, Centamin and Thani Dubai Mining in Egypt

•

Tembo Mining in Tanzania

•

•

Firefinch - Awarded five-year laboratory services
contract at Morila Gold Mine, Mali and two-year
exploration drilling contract at Goulamina Lithium Mine,
Mali.
Resolute - Maintenance services contract at Syama
Gold Mine, Mali
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2021 Financial Summary
REVENUE $226.8M

EBITDA $73.3M

UP $91.8M FROM FY20 $135.0M

UP $39.5M FROM FY20 $33.8M
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NPAT $70.3M

OPERATING CASH FLOW $42.6M

UP $45.5M FROM FY20 $24.8M

UP $6.6M FROM FY20 $36.0M
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NAV PER SHARE $1.15

NET DEBT -$31.9M

UP $0.09 FROM FY20 $1.06

UP $36.9M FROM FY20 $5.0M
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KEY METRICS 2021
AVERAGE FLEET SIZE

104

FY20
98

RIG UTILISATION

75%

FY20
59%

AVERAGE REVENUE PER OPERATING RIG

$181,000

FY20
$171,000

EBIT

$51.9M

FY20
$21.6M

EARNINGS PER SHARE BASIC

37.0c

FY20
17.8c

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED

22.7%

FY20
22.2%*

*Adjusted ROCE excludes Mining Assets and Prepayments,
Net Equity Raise proceeds and Sukari prepayment from Capital
Employed
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Chairman’s Statement
2021 has been a transformational year with Capital delivering three record
quarters of revenue growth and the strongest year in our history. We have
seen growth in all our business areas, but most notably a sizeable shift
forward in our service offering with the addition of large scale load and haul
services at Sukari and the beginning of the rollout of the revolutionary Chrysos
PhotonAssay units in our laboratory business, MSALABS. The operational
execution of this growth has been outstanding, with an exceptional safety
performance, maximising the value delivered to shareholders.
We delivered 68% revenue growth, 117%
EBITDA growth and 140% EBIT growth.
This is the second consecutive year we have
delivered material growth, following 18%
YoY growth in revenue in 2020. Amongst
this growth however, our core focus on long
life, mine site contracts (88% of revenue in
2021) with blue-chip customers has remained
unchanged to ensure a business that is
sustainable through the cycles.
Our strategy to develop a broader range
of services continued successfully during
2021. The contribution from our non-drilling
services increased significantly during the
year to 22% of Group revenues, compared to
9% in 2020, driven primarily by the ramp up
of the load and haul operation at Sukari and
the continued expansion of MSALABS.
In 2020, we announced an equity raise to
help fund equipment for a waste mining
contract with Centamin at the Sukari Gold
mine, which represented the largest award
of business in the Group’s history. The ramp
up of this operation in 2021 was ahead of
contracted expectations and has reached
full run rate going into 2022, while remaining
injury free. This contract is anticipated to
deliver incremental revenues of US$235 –
$260 million over a four-year period.
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Our laboratory business, MSALABS,
continued to perform well and is positioning
itself for material growth as it rolls out the
revolutionary Chrysos PhotonAssay units.
The first of these units was successfully
commissioned in 2021 and in 2022

MSALABS will continue to roll out further
units, a key driver of its growth. PhotonAssay
technology has the potential to disrupt the
geochemical analysis sector and we are
encouraged by the demand we are seeing.
In addition to the expansion in our service
offering, our core drilling business has
also gone from strength to strength. As we
entered 2021 there was a clear disconnect
between the rapid increase in commodity
pricing seen in 2020, compared to capital
raisings and exploration budgets, which
remained at close to half the level seen when
commodity prices were last at these levels.
This changed early in the year and we saw
a rapid and significant increase in demand
which was visible in our utilisation rates in
the subsequent three quarters of the year.
Elevated commodity prices have continued
into 2022, as has the strong demand we are
seeing for our services.
Our Direct Investments portfolio has also
cemented itself as the fourth key pillar of
our strategy. We undertook a significant and
well-timed investment strategy in 2019 as
we expanded our operations in West Africa.
We have engaged in direct investments into
exploration and mining companies, and drill
for equity, aligning the activity with service
contracts. The year-end portfolio was valued
at $60.2 million, up 121% compared to the
year end 2020 position of $27.2 million, with
investment gains (predominantly unrealised)
for the year of $33.7 million. This translated
into significant net profit growth in 2021 of
184%.

We have seen growth
across our business but
most notably, a sizeable
shift in our service
offering.
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In addition to the investment gains, these positions have
cemented key relationships and partnerships with the
investees, with contracts from these companies generating
$41 million of revenue over 2021 (18% of Group revenue).
At the beginning of 2022 we also launched a buyback
programme of up to two million shares. While our focus
remains primarily on growth, the buyback demonstrates both
the huge success we achieved in 2021 and also the confidence
we have in the business going forward.
The Board of Directors has declared a final dividend for the
2021 period of 2.4 cents per share (cps) ($4.5 million), payable
on 10 May 2022 to shareholders on the register as of 7 April
2022. This brings the total dividend declared in 2021 to 3.6
cps. The dividend is a result of our solid financial and operating
position.

OPERATIONAL & SAFETY UPDATE
I am extraordinarily proud of our Company’s achievements
during 2021. Amongst the significant levels of growth and
increased activity, the Group has also increased its headcount
by 1,000 people, a 78% increase YoY. Nevertheless we
maintained the consistency in our operations throughout the
year and our industry leading safety record and I would like
to take this opportunity to thank all our employees for their
dedication.
The Group’s rig count increased from 94 at the end of 2020
to 109 at the end of 2021, with a further three rigs undergoing
commissioning. The new rigs supported both existing longterm contracts and new contract wins. We remain very active
with our fleet management in order to maintain our position as
the provider of best-in-class equipment in the regions where
we operate. In addition to the increased fleet size, our rig fleet
utilisation increased to 75% in 2021 vs 59% in 2020, while
full year ARPOR also increased 5.8% in 2021 to $181,000
(2020: $171,000). This stellar performance is a result of both
improving commodity prices and macro conditions together
with our successful geographical expansion into West Africa.
This expansion has delivered regional revenue exposure
beyond our traditional operations in Egypt and Tanzania, and
with it new long-term mine site contracts.
Our portfolio of ten long-term mine site contracts continued
to perform well through 2021 with a number seeing increased
rig counts on site for further support and new services.
In addition, we signed multiple new contracts while also
expanding our commodity exposure.
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By the nature of both the contracting market and also critically
the geographic regions where we operate, gold mining remains
our main exposure. However at the beginning of 2022, Capital
announced an exploration contract with Firefinch at the
Goulamina Lithium Mine, Mali, a JV project between Firefinch
and the world’s largest lithium producer Ganfeng, as well as
an exploration contract with Tembo Mining at the Kabanga
Nickel Mine, Tanzania. Both projects have the potential to be
very large, long-life assets and the latter project has seen an
investment from BHP intended to accelerate development.
For the ramp up of the Sukari mining project we hired over 400
new employees and purchased 4 excavators, 17 mining trucks
and other associated vehicles. Nevertheless we delivered
ahead of our contract terms with the ramp up also completed
with its first year of operation injury free. This outstanding
performance in our first major earth moving contract both
reinforces our relationship with Centamin at Sukari, where we
have provided drilling services since 2005, and also positions
us well for future tender awards.
MSALABS is quickly becoming a key growth area for the
Group. 2021 saw the start of the company’s rollout of Chrysos
PhotonAssay units, with the first unit now commissioned
at Barrick’s Bulyanhulu Gold Mine in Tanzania. This
contract marked both the largest contract since MSALABS’
establishment, and the first PhotonAssay unit deployed
outside Australia. Two more units were deployed in Q1 2022,
the first in Val d’Or in Quebec, Canada, and the second at the
Morila Gold Mine, Mali. MSALABS will also establish a third
major hub laboratory in Saudi Arabia later this year, which will
assist in setting the foundations for further growth in 2023 and
beyond.
Once again, our focus and commitment to the safety of our
employees delivered results significantly better than industry
standards, and I congratulate everyone for their effort. We
expect visible safety leadership at all levels of the business,
from the Executive Leadership Team to crews on site, and we
actively invest in training programs to ensure our workforce is
skilled, competent and can identify and mitigate hazards in the
workplace.

Our Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) was 0.98
per 1,000,000 hours worked. We also achieved a number of
site records and safety milestones during 2021 including:
•

13 years LTIF at Mwanza, Tanzania

•

5 years LTIF at the Syama Gold Mine, Mali

•

5 years LTIF at the North Mara Gold Mine, Tanzania

•

4 years LTIF at the Geita Gold Mine, Tanzania

•

3 years LTIF at Bamako, Mali

•

3 years LTIF at Hummingbird, Mali

•

2 years LTIF at the Jabal Sayid Copper Mine, Saudi Arabia

•

1 year LTIF at the Bulyanhulu Gold Mine, Tanzania

•

1 year LTIF at the Bonikro Mine, Cote d’Ivoire

•

1 year LTIF at the Sukari Gold Mine, Egypt

•

1 year LTIF at the Bankan gold project, Guinea

OUTLOOK
As we look to the year ahead, trading conditions continue to
point to very strong demand. Commodity prices, including our
main exposure gold, remain at very high levels which provide
strong profitability and cash flows for the producers and is a
positive indicator for continued momentum throughout 2022.
Equity markets also remain highly supportive for the mining
industry, with financings through 2021 at decade highs
according to S&P Global Market Intelligence. Together this
suggests a further improvement in exploration budgets and
demand for our services across all of our business units.

At Sukari, operations are now fully commissioned, and 2022
will be the first complete year with the earth moving contract
at full run rate. MSALABS is also at an exciting inflection
point, with one Chrysos PhotonAssay unit successfully
commissioned in Q4 2021 and 2022 set to see material growth
driven by the rollout of further units, as well as the construction
of the Group’s third major hub lab in Saudi Arabia.
As we enter 2022, our core drilling business has the highest
rig count in the group’s history and we are confident in
maintaining strong utilisation levels given the increased
activity we are seeing from our existing clients, as well as the
strength we continue to see in commodity pricing. We are also
continuing to invest in our fleet and this will drive a further
increase to our fleet size (net of decommissioning old rigs).
We will continue to execute our key strategic priorities in 2022,
focussing on growing our full-service mining business, growing
revenues from our ancillary services businesses, particularly
MSALABS, expanding capacity with our existing clients and
maintaining high levels of utilisation through our fleet.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all our employees,
business partners, shareholders, our Board of Directors
and other stakeholders for their continued support of our
Company.

Jamie Boyton
Executive Chairman
9 March 2022

Our focus on long-term mine site contracts continues to
underpin our business through 2022. At the end of 2020,
we saw a extension and expansion of the drilling contract at
Sukari (in line with the mining contract award) and in 2021 we
saw major contract renewals at Geita. These contract renewals
provide clear revenue visibility and a strong foundation for the
year ahead.
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Chief Financial Officer’s
Review
Capital Limited has delivered a stellar performance in 2021 with all our
business areas achieving growth through the year. We have made
transformational steps through 2021, including expanding our service
offering in order to continue to grow the business even further in 2022 and
beyond.
Revenue increased by 68% to $226.8 million
(2020: $135.0 million). H2 revenue ($128.1
million) was 30% higher than H1 revenue
($98.7 million) primarily due to the weighting
of the ramp up of the Sukari waste mining
contract, but also new drilling contract wins
through the year, an associated increase
in rig count and improved revenues at
MSALABS.
Profitability also improved, with margin
improvements across all key metrics on the
back of increased expenditure discipline. YoY
EBITDA and EBIT increased by 117% and
140% respectively.
Primarily as a result of our expanded service
offering into waste mining and the associated
equipment purchases, our capex remained
elevated relative to 2020 with cash capital
expenditure of $46.3 (2020: $42.2 million). In
addition to the Sukari load and haul contract,
growth capex funded the expansion of the rig
fleet in 2021 and also deposits for rigs due to
arrive and commission in 2022.
Through 2021 we have increased our debt
profile through additional financing to fund
equipment purchases in combination with
operating cash flow. We obtained this
financing from Macquarie Bank ($27.7 million)
and OEM financing from Sandvik and Epiroc.
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Cash generated from operations was $42.6
million (2020: $36.0 million). Closing cash
was $30.6 million (2020: $35.7 million),
aided by an additional $27.7 million in
new financing in the year, with net debt of
$31.9 million (2020: $5.0 million net cash).
Weighing on cash flows was the increased
capex outflow associated in particular with
the Sukari mining ramp up. Nevertheless

our balance sheet remains in a very strong
position with the group finishing 2021 with
net cash including investments of $28.3
million.
Our portfolio of long-term mine-site based
contracts continues to underpin our cash
flow and growth strategy. Mine-site based
contracts represent 88% (2020: 93%) of
our Company revenue and growth of this
portfolio remains a focus.
Our investment portfolio generated a
$33.7 million gain on investments reflected
in the Profit and Loss. This outstanding
performance reflects a significant value
increase in a number of investments within
the portfolio. The result is a consequence
of the successful 2019 investment strategy.
Investment activity decreased in 2020
and 2021 as the cycle improved and
capital markets became significantly more
accommodating to equity issuance. The
Company’s strategy has therefore matured
and rationalised to a portfolio of strategic
core holdings, while continuing to evaluate
new opportunities.
Our focus on long-term mine site contracts
both reduces the volatility of earnings and
ensures the sustainability of the business
through the cycles. This stable business
platform was demonstrated through 2020
and early 2021 through the COVID-19
pandemic where our portfolio of mine-site
based contracts continued uninterrupted.
However, given the sometimes unpredictable
nature of the countries where we operate, we
have evaluated a downside model taking the
aggregate effect of the reasonable downside
short term risks and demonstrated that the

We delivered a stellar
performance with revenue
growth of 68% and profitability
improvements across all key
margin metrics.
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business is robust to scenarios far worse than experienced
or expected. Refer to Note 1.1 of the Annual Financial
Statements for further detail.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Reported

2021
$’m

2020
$’m

Revenue

226.8

135.0

EBITDA

73.3

33.8

EBITDA (%)

32.3

25.1

EBIT

51.9

21.6

PBT

82.0

34.1

NPAT

70.3

24.8

Basic EPS (cent)

37.0

17.8

Diluted EPS (cent)

36.4

17.6

Table 1: Statement of Comprehensive Income (Summary)

As the Group operates in multiple jurisdictions, there is an
inherent uncertainty in the interpretation of income tax laws.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had uncertain income
tax positions in relation to which tax assessment totalling $2.0
million (2020: $2.7 million) have been issued. The Group has
recognised a provision of $0.2 million (2020: $0.9 million) as
management’s best estimate of the likely income tax exposure.
The Basic Earnings Per Share (EPS) for the year increased
108% to 37.0 cents (2020: 17.8 cents). The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the earnings per share
calculation was 189,765,149 (2020: 138,367,746).
The substantial growth in Earnings per Share was driven by
the strong operating performance and investment gains.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Average rig utilisation increased 16% to 75% (2020: 59%) on
a larger average fleet size of 104 (2020: 98). Average revenue
per operating rig (ARPOR) per month also saw an increase in
2021 to $181,000 (2020: $171,000) attributed to the increased
mobilisation of exploration rigs and some renegotiation of
existing contracts.
Non-drilling revenues saw a notable increase in contribution
to Group revenues in 2021, driven by the ramp up of the
Sukari mining contract as well as the continued ramp up of
MSALABS. 2021 contribution to revenue from non-drilling
services was 22% in 2021 (2020: 9%) and is expected to
increase further in 2022.
EBITDA increased 117% to $73.3 million delivering a 32.3%
margin (2020: $33.8 million/25.0%).
EBIT increased 140% to $51.9 million delivering a 22.9%
margin (2020: $21.6 million/16.0%).
Profit Before Tax (PBT) increased by 141% to $82.0 million
(2020: $34.1million) impacted by Net Interest of $3.6 million
(2020: $1.1 million) and benefitting from an investment gain
of $33.7 million (2020: $13.6 million gain). These investments
were aligned to activity with service contracts and provided
greater revenue and earnings. Depreciation of $21.4 million
(2020: $12.2 million), flat as a percentage of revenue at 9%.
NPAT increased 184% to $70.3 million (2020: $24.8 million).
The improved NPAT benefitted from net gains on unrealised
equity investments of $33.7 million (2020: $13.6 million gain).
The Effective Tax Rate (ETR) for 2021 was 14.3% (2020:
27.4%). The reduction in ETR in 2021 is primarily due to the
significant unrealised increase in fair value of the Group’s
investment portfolio. In addition, in 2020 the tax expense
included a $2.8m prior year expense. The equivalent expense
in 2021 is $0.2 million.
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Reported

2021
$’m

2020
$’m

Non-current assets

162.4

91.1

Current assets

189.1

135.2

Total assets

351.5

226.3

Non-current liabilities

53.0

26.5

Current liabilities

75.6

51.8

128.6

78.3

219.2

146.7

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

1

Table 2: Statement of Financial Position (Summary)
1

Excludes non-controlling interest of $3.8 million

As at 31 December 2021, shareholders’ equity increased by
49% driven primarily by strong net profit of $70.3 million. The
Group distributed dividends of $4.7 million (2020: $2.2 million)
to shareholders.
The total rig fleet size at the end of 2021 was 109 drill rigs with
3 further rigs undergoing commissioning (2019: 94).
Overall PPE increased from $89.0 million in 2020 to $143.6
million in 2021, reflecting depreciation of $21.4 million (2020:
$12.2 million), assets disposed of $0.5 million (2020: $0.8
million) and additional operating capital expenditure of $75.7
million (2020: $48.7 million).
Current assets increased to $189.1 million (2020:
$135.2million). Inventory increased by $13.2 million to $37.9
million (2020: $24.7 million) due to increased inventory levels
primarily in Egypt. Prepaid expenses decreased by $10.7
million to $17.7 million (2020 $28.4 million). Cash and cash
equivalents decreased by $5.1 million to $30.6 million (2020:
$35.7 million). Investments held of $60.2 million (2020: $27.2
million) are the fair value of trade investments.

Non-current liabilities of $53.0 million (2020: $26.5 million)
includes $45.6 million (2020: $26.1 million) of long term loans.
Total long term debt includes $15 million of the renewed
Revolving Credit Facility, a $37.7 million asset backed facility
with Macquarie and OEM financing direct through Epiroc and
Sandvik.
Current liabilities consisted of trade and other payables,
$46.5 million (2020: $39.7million), current portion of long-term
liabilities $16.9 million (2020: $4.6 million) and tax liabilities of
$10.0 million (2020: $7.2 million). Trade and other payables
includes increased trade payables of $22.1 million (2020: $19.9
million) due to increased activity levels and investment in the
Sukari contract.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH (DEBT)
POSITION
2021
$’m

2020
$’m

5.0

4.4

(4.2)

17.7

(31.8)

(17.5)

(0.9)

0.4

(31.9)

5.0

Reported
Net cash at the beginning of the year
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents
(Increase) in long term liabilities
Translation of foreign currency cash
Net cash at the end of the year
Table 5: Reconciliation of net cash (debt) position

Cash generated from operations was $42.6 million (2020:
$36.0 million), an increase of 18% year-on-year.
The investing cash flow have decreased year-on-year with
some investments, including prepayments, for the new Sukari
contract occurring in 2020. We continued to invest through
2021, however, both to complete the ramp up for the Sukari
mining contract as well as increase our drill rig count to meet
existing client requirements and maintain fleet operational
readiness.

Reported

2021
$’m

2020
$’m

Opening equity

148.1

87.0

-

37.2

2.0

1.4

Total comprehensive income

70.3

24.7

Dividends paid

(4.8)

(2.2)

Financing activities included the dividend cash payment of
$4.8 million (2019: $2.2 million).

Gain on change in ownership

5.6

-

The dividend history for the past three years is as follows:

NCI ex Business Combination

1.7

-

222.9

148.1

Net proceeds from Equity raise
Share based payments

Closing equity
Table 3: Statement of Change in Equity (Summary)

Declaration
Cents per
share

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reported

2021
$’m

2020
$’m

Net cash from operating activities

30.4

28.3

(50.1)

(60.7)

15.5

50.1

(4.2)

17.7

Opening cash and cash equivalents

35.7

17.6

Translation of foreign currency cash

(0.9)

0.4

Closing cash and cash equivalents

30.6

35.7

Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Table 4: Statement of Cash Flows (Summary)

H1
2019

FY
2019

H1
2020

FY
2020

H1
2021

FY
2021

22 Aug

19 Mar

20 Aug

18 Mar

19 Aug

10 Mar

2019

2020

2020

2021

2021

2022

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.2

2.4

$0.95

$0.96

$1.23

$2.47

$2.28

$4.55

Dividend
amount
($’m)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Given the breadth of operations and the geographies and
markets in which the Group operates, a wide range of risk
factors and uncertainties have the potential to impact Capital.
While Capital attempts to mitigate and manage risks where it is
efficient and practicable to do so, there is no guarantee these
efforts will be successful. Aside from the generic risks that
face all businesses, the Group’s business, financial condition
or results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected by any of the risks described below.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)
Outlined below is an overview of a number of material risks facing Capital. These risks should not be regarded as a complete and
comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties, nor are they listed in order of magnitude or probability. Additional
risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to the Directors, or which they currently deem immaterial, may also have an
adverse effect on the Group’s operating results, financial condition and prospects.
The principal and emerging risks associated with the business are:
Area

Risk Description

Risk Mitigation

Reduction in
levels of mining
activity

The Group is highly dependent on the levels of mineral
exploration, development and production activity
within the markets in which it operates. A reduction in
exploration, development and production activities,
or in the budgeted expenditure of mining and mineral
exploration companies, will cause a decline in the demand
for mining services, as was evident in the 2014 and 2015
financial years.

The Group is seeking to balance these risks by building a portfolio of longterm mine-site contracts, expanding its services offering into mine-site based
activities such as load and haul mining, and also expanding both its customer
and geographic reach.

Risk of
Termination

Contracts can be terminated for convenience by the client
at short notice and without penalty. Guidance is partly
based on current contracts in hand, and the Group derives
a significant proportion of its revenue from providing
services under large contracts. As a result, there can be
no assurance that work in hand will be realised as revenue
in any future period. There could be future risks and
costs arising from any termination of contract. While the
Group has no reason to believe any existing or potential
contracts will be terminated, there can be no assurance
that this will not occur.

Contract renewal negotiations are initiated well in advance of expiry of
contracts to ensure contract renewals are concluded without interruption
to services. There are also a wide range of termination clauses across the
Group’s contracts depending on the size, nature and client involved (i.e not
all contracts can be terminated for convenience, and some contracts must be
terminated with notice).

In addition it’s important that the Group maintains its
project pipeline and win rate. Any failure by the Group
to continue to win new contracts will impact its financial
performance and position.

Risk of Default

The Group has financing facilities with external financiers.
A default under any of these facilities could result in
withdrawal of financial support or an increase in the cost
of financing.

The Group has a robust system of analysing and forecasting cash and debt
positions. The Group is continuing to develop a stronger facilities management
system, in addition to strengthening and broadening its banking relationships.

Supply chain
disruption

Disruption to border crossings; equipment being held up
in customs.

The Group ensures a continual monitoring of movement of goods at all
relevant borders, and assesses back-up options regularly. Inventory levels are
set to allow for a period of disruption. The Group also ensures a local supplier
early bulk purchasing strategy.

Adverse change
in local tax laws,
regulations and
practice.

Unforeseen changes to local tax regulations leading
to new or higher tax charges; unpredictable tax audit
processes.

The Group carries out enhanced tax due diligence on incorporation with
identification of strong and well-connected local tax advisers.
The Group obtains written confirmation from local tax authorities in advance of
undertaking major transactions.
The Group ensures supporting documentation for all tax filings are complete
and accurate.

Risk to Cash
Repatriation

Restrictive currency controls which impact ability to
repatriate cash from countries of operation.

The Group has multiple bank accounts in multiple currencies and seeks to
move cash out of restrictive or high-risk jurisdictions as soon as possible.
The import documentation process is being improved and the process
increasingly automated.
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Area

Risk Description

Risk Mitigation

Decline in
Minesite
production levels

The Group’s activity levels and results are to a certain
extent dependent on production levels at clients’ mines
while revenues are linked to the production volumes and
not to the short-term price of the underlying commodity.

A significant proportion of the Group’s revenue is derived from mines which
are already in production.

Reliance on Key
Customers

The Group’s business relies on a number of individual
contracts and business alliances, and derives a significant
proportion of its revenue from a small number of key longterm customers and business relationships with a few
organisations. In the event that any of these customers
fails to pay, reduces production or scales back operations,
terminates the relationship, defaults on a contract or fails
to renew their contract with the Group, this may have
an adverse impact on the financial performance and/or
financial position of the Group.

The Group has entered into long-term contracts with its key customers
for periods between two to five years. Contract renewal negotiations are
initiated well in advance of expiry of contracts to ensure contract renewals are
concluded without interruption to services.

The Group focuses on ensuring execution of work to a high standard and
improving its operation to increase its value proposition to clients. Application
of the Group tender work procurement and approval processes maximises
the likelihood of achieving margins and earnings. In addition, the Group’s
diversification of service offering limits the exposure to one specific area of the
business.

The Group has historically had a strong record of completing contracts
to term and securing contract extensions. The Group is selective in the
contracts that it enters into to allow for options to extend where possible to
maximise the contract period and the return on capital. The Group focuses on
ensuring execution of work to a high standard and improving its operation to
increase its value proposition to clients. Application of the Group tender work
procurement and approval processes maximises the likelihood of securing
quality work with commensurate returns for the risks taken. The Group
maintains a work portfolio diversified by geography, market, activity and client
to mitigate the impact of emerging trends and market volatility.
The Group has and continues to monitor projects closely and invest a
significant amount of time into client relationship and service level monitoring
at all levels of the business. A key part of this process is the quarterly project
steering committee meetings with key client stakeholders that provide a
forum for monitoring and reporting on project performance and performance
indicators, contractual issues, pricing and renewal.

Labour costs and
availability

The Group is exposed to increased labour costs and
retention constraints in markets where the demand for
labour is strong. Changes to labour laws and regulations
may limit productivity and increase costs of labour. If
implemented and enforced, these types of changes
to labour laws and regulations could adversely impact
revenues and, if costs increase or productivity declines,
operating margins.

The Group’s labour costs are typically protected by rise and fall mechanisms
within client contracts, which mitigate the impact of rising labour costs.

Risk of poor
performance
due to lack
of equipment
availability

The Group has a significant fleet of equipment, and has
a substantial ongoing requirement for consumables,
including tyres, parts and lubricants. If the Group cannot
secure a reliable supply of equipment and consumables,
there is a risk that its operational and financial
performance may be adversely affected.

The Group continues to focus on supplier relationships including maintaining
payment terms and identifying alternative sources.

Deterioration in
Health & Safety
record

Operations are subject to various risks associated with
mining including, in the case of employees, personal
injury, malaria and loss of life and in the Group’s case,
damage and destruction to property and equipment,
release of hazardous substances into the environment
and interruption or suspension of site operations due to
unsafe operations. The occurrence of any of these events
could adversely impact the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects, lead to
legal proceedings and damage the Group’s reputation.
In particular, clients are placing an increasing focus on
occupational health and safety, and a deterioration in the
Group’s safety record may result in the loss of key clients.

The Executive Chairman, Executive Leadership Team and managers provide
leadership to projects on the management of these risks and actively engage
with employees at all levels.
The Group has implemented and continue to monitor and update a range of
health and safety policies and procedures including equipment standards
and standard work procedures. Employees are provided with training
regarding risks associated with their employment, policies and standard work
procedures. Health and Safety statistics and incident reports are monitored
throughout our projects and the various management structures of the Group,
including the HSE committee. Where necessary policies and procedures are
updated to reflect developments and improvement needs.
The Executive – HSEQ monitors high risk events in areas of operation and
distributes warnings and guidance as required. The Group is also closely
engaged with its clients to ensure workplace safety and containment
measures are adhered to.
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Area

Risk Description

Risk Mitigation

Risk of Mispricing
Contracts

The Group is reliant on its ability to price contracts
accurately. Contract prices are generally set at the-outset
of a customer contract following a competitive tender
process.

The Group goes through a rigorous process to determine a price to submit as
part of the tender submission based on a bottom-up costing analysis with a
mark-up.
The Group makes use of its extensive historical statistics and its in-house
knowledge base, combined with site visits to obtain contract specific data.
Where contracts are of significant scope, independent cost estimators are
appointed, with their findings verified by in-house modelling.
Some contracts include pricing protections by way of mechanisms that
allow for annual pricing reviews and/or the application of annual CPI
adjustments. Many contracts also contain mechanisms to allow the Group to
end the contract with minimal notice if continued performance is financially
burdensome.

Adverse
Movements in
Commodity Prices

Adverse movements in commodity prices may reduce
both exploration budgets and the pipeline of mine-site
work in the mining sector, which in turn could reduce
the level of demand for the Group's drilling and mining
services. This could have a material impact on the Group’s
operating and financial performance.

The Group focuses on mine-site low-cost operations where activity is less
susceptible to adverse commodity price movements. In addition, the Group
is implementing a diversification strategy which is focused on developing new
service offerings, developing a finance/capital strategy that provides balance
sheet strength and allows for organic and inorganic growth in the business,
and also diversifying through M&A opportunities.

Over exposure to
Gold

Gold is an important commodity contributing to the
Group's order book and tender pipeline. If the gold
industry were to suffer, it would have a material adverse
effect on the Group's revenues and profitability.

The Group is in the process of implementing a diversification strategy in terms
of developing new service offerings, developing a finance/capital strategy
that allows for organic and inorganic growth in the business, and diversifying
through M&A opportunities.

Exposure
to currency
fluctuations

The Group’s contract pricing is in US dollars. However, in
certain markets the funds are received in local currency
and some of the Group’s costs are in other currencies in
the jurisdictions in which it operates. Foreign currency
fluctuations and exchange rate risks between the value
of the US dollar and the value of other currencies may
increase the cost of the Group’s operations and could
adversely affect the financial results. As a result, the
Group is exposed to currency fluctuations and exchange
rate risks.

To minimise the Group’s risk, the Group tries to match the currency of
operating costs with the currency of revenue. Funds are pooled centrally in the
head office bank accounts to the maximum extent possible.

Higher levels of
Inflation

Increases in cost of goods and in labour/salary costs
related to higher levels of inflation.

The Group ensures accurately pursuing contractual rights under existing rise
and fall mechanisms. It ensures to price contracts with known inflationary
pressures and negotiates robust rise and fall mechanisms.

Reduction
in values of
Investments held

The Group holds investments in a portfolio of both
publicly traded and private companies. The accounting
value of these investments is marked to market at each
reporting date and the fair value adjustment is accordingly
recorded in the profit and loss account as an unrealised
gain or loss. The value of the investments will change and
could materially alter both the Group’s reported net assets
and net profit position.

The Group holds a portfolio of investments in various companies, mitigating
the risk of single company weakness. The investments are actively monitored
and proactively managed.

Risk of noncompliance
with climate
related reporting
regulations

Non-physical risks arise from a variety of policy,
regulatory, legal, financing and investor responses to the
challenges posed by climate change.

The Group has recognised the need for the appointment of a Sustainability
Manager. It has engaged with expert consultants in this field to establish
emissions reporting, guidance and publications. Additionally it has established
a separate Sustainability Committee to drive the ESG process forward.

Communicable
disease
outbreaks,
including
COVID-19

A large-scale outbreak in one of our operating jurisdictions
may lead to interruptions in operations, closures at mine
sites, inability to source supplies or consumables, higher
volatility in the global capital and commodity markets,
adverse impacts on investment sentiment and economies.
Ongoing restrictions on travel could significantly impair
the Group’s ability to manage its businesses effectively.

The Group undertakes extensive planning to facilitate the mobility of its
international and regional expatriate workforce as the Company manages
international flight cancellations and COVID-19 travel restrictions.

The Group has significantly improved processes for the repatriation of funds
to the Group’s Head Office bank accounts from jurisdictions where exchange
control regulations are in effect and this remains a key focus area.

New investments are required to satisfy a number of criteria with NonExecutive oversight. In the event of fair value investments becoming an
unrealised loss, while this would affect the company’s net assets and
profitability, it would not affect going concern or cash flow.

The Group also monitors other communicable disease outbreaks relevant
to the location of the Group’s operations in order to implement its planned
response strategy when needed.
The Group’s key priorities on COVID-19 are:
• protecting our people with a focus on their wellbeing
• to play our role in limiting the spread of the virus
• delivering value for our clients and stakeholders
• maintaining the strongest possible financial position.
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VIABILITY STATEMENT
The activities of the Group, together with the factors likely
to affect its future development, performance, the financial
position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and
borrowing facilities are described in pages 50 - 59.
The Directors have carried out a robust assessment of the
emerging and principal risks facing the Group over the coming
three years, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. These risks
and the ways they are being managed and mitigated by a wide
range of actions are summarised on pages 54 - 56.
Taking account of the Group’s position, emerging and principal
risks, the Directors assessed the prospects of the Group by
reviewing and discussing the annual forecast, the three-year
strategic plan and the Group risk framework. The review is a
robust consideration of all risk factors and sensitivities. Whilst
all the risks identified could have an impact on the Group’s
performance, the specific risks which could potentially impact
the Group’s financial position/viability include:
•

A deterioration in global demand and commodity prices;

•

Non-renewal of key contracts within the time frame;

•

Idled mining equipment at the end of the large scale load
& haul contract;

•

A potential decrease in turnover due to a prolonged
operational disruption such as political unrest; and

•

Increases in the Group’s cost base.

Given the Group had minimal operational impacts from
COVID-19 over the past two years, the Directors no longer
view it as a significant risk to the Group’s performance and
financial position.
In view of the recent escalation of the Russia-Ukraine conflict
and sanctions imposed on Russia and Belarus, the Directors
have considered the likely impact on the Group as detailed
in Note 1.1 and assessed the risk to the Group’s operations
as minor. The Directors will continue to carefully assess the
impact of this situation on the Group’s operations.
The evaluation of the potential downturn in commodity
pricing considered the long-term nature of the majority of our
contracts, the low operating costs of the mines where we
operate, the liquidity of the company, its robust balance sheet
and good relationship with financiers.
The evaluation of mining equipment remaining idle at the end
of the mining contract considered that the asset backed debt
facilities drawn to purchase the equipment over the life of the
contract and therefore would not affect group viability if left
idled for a period.
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The Directors have also evaluated short term major
disruptions due to political events and while these risks are
considered remote, in such a scenario, the Group would be
able to continue operating without reaching its borrowing
capacity nor breaching its covenants, given the diversification
of the company’s geographic mix and through additional
measures available to mitigate the impact on the Group’s
liquidity and cash flows such as reduction in inventories and
capital expenditure and renegotiation of creditor terms.
The Directors have also reviewed the forecasts and
downward scenario against the Group’s current and
projected future net cash/debt and liquidity position. The
Group closed the financial year with a net debt1 position
of $31.9 million (2020: $5.0 million net cash). The revolving
credit facility has financial covenants interest cover, debtequity ratio, gross debt to EBITDA and tangible net worth and
is not due for renewal until June 2023.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT
This Business Review, which comprises the Chairman’s
Statement and Chief Financial Officer’s Review, has
been prepared solely to provide additional information
to shareholders to assess the Group’s strategies and the
potential for those strategies to succeed.
The Business Review contains certain forward-looking
statements. These statements are made by the Directors
in good faith based on the information available to them
up to the time of their approval of this report and such
statements should be treated with caution due to the inherent
uncertainties, including both economic and business risk
factors, underlying any such forward-looking information.

By order of the Board

A three-year period is considered appropriate for this
assessment because:
•

It is the period covered by the strategic plan;

•

It is aligned with the terms of our principle financing
facilities;

•

The majority of our major contracts are for a period of
three to five years; and

•

It enables a high level of confidence, even in extreme
adverse events, due to a number of factors such as:
•

The Group has considerable financial resources
together with established business relationships
with major, mid-tier and junior mining houses and
suppliers in countries throughout the world;

•

High cash generation by the Group’s operations;

•

Low levels of gearing and strong debt capacity;

•

Flexibility of cash outflows including capital
expenditure and dividend payments; and

•

The Group’s long-term contracts, equipment
availability and diverse geographic operations.

Giles Everist
Chief Financial Officer
9 March 2022

Based on the results of this analysis, the Directors believe
that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks
successfully as the market conditions continue to improve.
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group
will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as
they fall due over the three-year period of their assessment.

1

This is a non-GAAP measure.
A definition and reconciliation are provided in the Glossary on pages 150 to 151.

59

2021
Financial Report
CAPITAL LIMITED
(Registration Number 34477)
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

CAPITAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Financial Report, and the Consolidated Financial
Statements in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.
The Directors are required to prepare Consolidated Financial Statements for each financial year presenting fairly in all material
respects the Group’s state of affairs at the end of the year and profit or loss for the year, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The Directors must not approve the
accounts unless they are satisfied that they are presenting fairly in all material respects the state of affairs of the Group and of the
profit or loss of the Group for that period.
In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:


Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;



Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;



State whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and
Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue



in business.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and to ensure that the Financial Statements
comply with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s
website. Legislation in Bermuda and the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of Financial Statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Corporate Governance Statement
The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 64 to 70 forms part of this report.
Directors' responsibilities pursuant to DTR 4
In accordance with Chapter 4 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules issued by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United
Kingdom, the Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge:
•

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs and give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group; and

•

The Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the financial position of
the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Going Concern
The activities of the Group, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance, the financial position of the
Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Chairman’s Statement and Chief Financial Officer’s
Review on pages 46 to 59. In addition, we describe in Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statement on pages 139 to 144 the
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial
instruments and its exposures to credit and liquidity risk. Although not assessed over the same period as the going concern, the
viability of the Group has been assessed on pages 57 to 59. It has further reviewed scenarios such as a general reduction in turnover
and the impact on the business and a reasonable worst-case scenario incorporating the aggregate impact of operational and financial
disruption on the business. The reasonable worst-case scenario is considered to be remote. It has also considered the impact of a
significant cost overrun on the Sukari Mining contract. Refer to Note 1.1 of the Annual Financial Statements for more detail. The
Group has considerable financial resources together with established business relationships with many customers and suppliers in
countries throughout the world. As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks
successfully. After making enquiries, the Directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
this Annual Report and the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Fair, balanced and understandable
The Directors as at the date of this report consider that the Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements taken as a whole
is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position,
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performance, business model and strategy, as well as the principal risks and uncertainties which could affect the Group’s
performance.
Auditors
As far as each of the Directors are aware at the time this report was approved:
•
•

There is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware; and
They have taken all steps that ought to have been taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

By order of the Board.

Chairman
Jamie Boyton
9 March 2022
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Capital Limited recognises the value and importance of high standards of corporate governance. Accordingly, the
Group has adapted elements of its corporate governance framework during the course of 2021 in order to take into
account the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council in July
2018 (the "2018 Code"), bearing in mind that Capital Limited falls outside the FTSE 350 Share Index and is therefore
a “smaller quoted company” for the purposes of the 2018 Code.
This section of our Annual Report sets out how the Group has applied the 2018 Code throughout 2021. The 2018 Code is
available at www.frc.org.uk. Details of the Group’s corporate governance policies and procedures (including the charters of
each of its corporate governance committees) can be found on http://www.capdrill.com/investors/corporate-governance.
Statement of compliance with the 2018 Code
The 2018 Code places greater emphasis on relationships between companies, shareholders and stakeholders. It also
promotes the importance of establishing a corporate culture that is aligned with the company purpose, business strategy,
promotes integrity and values diversity. It is the intention of Capital Limited to comply as closely as possible with the 2018
Code as a smaller quoted company, in order to facilitate the most effective balance between entrepreneurial and prudent
management with the ultimate strategy of delivering long-term value to all the Group’s stakeholders. As well as outlining our
corporate governance structures in this section of the Annual Report, we also explain where and why the Company does
not apply the provisions of the 2018 Code and the alternative procedures in place that achieve the same outcome. The
Company has identified compliance shortfalls and provided mitigating/alternative procedures for Provision 2 (explanation of
the Company’s approach to investing in and rewarding its workforce), Provision 5 (Workforce and Stakeholder Engagement),
Provision 9 (separation of Chairman/CEO), Provision 19 (Chair remaining in post beyond nine years) and Provision 41
(engagement with the workforce in terms of how executive remuneration aligns with wider company pay policy).
Responsibilities of the Board
The Board concentrates on devising and implementing strategy, monitoring Group performance and oversees governance,
risk and control issues. Governance, risk and control structures are looked at with a view to aligning the Group's culture
with the Group's purpose and strategy. Certain areas of the Board's responsibilities are delegated to the Executive Directors.
However, the Group has established guidelines requiring specific matters to be subject to decision by a majority of the full
Board, including material acquisitions and disposals, investments and capital projects.
The Board meets regularly, and eight meetings were held in 2021. All Directors are supplied, in advance of meetings, with
appropriate information covering matters which are to be considered. The Chairman also meets with the Non-Executive
Directors in the absence of the other Executive Director.
There is a formal schedule of decisions reserved for the Board. This includes approval of the following: the Group’s strategy;
the annual operating plan and budget; the annual and interim financial statements; significant transactions; major capital
expenditures; risk management policies; the authority levels vested in management; Board appointments; and remuneration
policies. As described below, the review of certain matters is delegated to Board Committees, which make recommendations
to the Board in relation to those matters. Ultimately, however, the Board is responsible for adopting the recommendations
of the Board Committees.
Composition of the Board
The Board comprises:
Executive Directors
Jamie Boyton – Executive Chairman
Brian Rudd – Executive Director
Non-Executive Directors:
David Abery – Senior Independent Director
Alex Davidson – Independent Director
Michael Rawlinson – Independent Director
Catherine (Cassie) Boggs – Independent Director
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The Executive and Non-Executive Directors are satisfied that the Group operates an effective Board which is collectively
responsible for the success of the Group. Together, the Executive and Non-Executive Directors bring a broad range of
business, commercial and other relevant experience to the Board, which is vital to the management of an expanding Group.
Pages 40 and 41 contain descriptions of the background of each Director. As per the Company’s Workforce Diversity Policy
the Company has entrenched the importance of diversity into its employment structures, as is reflected by the increase of
culturally and gender diverse appointments in the last three years. Further information on our culturally diverse workforce
can be found on page 31 of this Annual Report.
Significant progress was made with regard to gender diversity during 2021, with the appointment of Catherine (Cassie)
Boggs to a previously all-male Board, in addition to the appointment of two other females in senior management positions,
including the Company Secretary.
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
The 2018 Code advises that the Board should appoint one of its Independent Non-Executive Directors to be the Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director. The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director should be available to shareholders
if they have concerns that contact through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial
Officer has failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate. Throughout 2021, Mr Abery acted as Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director and was available to address any queries or concerns from shareholders.
Role of the Executive Chairman
Since 2017, Mr Boyton has acted as the Group's Executive Chairman, fulfilling the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer. After the departure of the Chief Executive Officer in 2017, the Board decided that Mr Boyton would provide the
necessary stability to the leadership team to ensure the implementation of the Group's strategy. While there is a risk of a
conflict of interest between board and management activities, the Board is satisfied that there are sufficient controls in place
at Board level and that there is a clear division of responsibilities between the running of the Board and the executive
responsibility for the running of the Company’s business, including the Chairman excusing himself from any vote where a
conflict of interest may occur. The Board is aware that combining the role of chairman and chief executive officer is not
compliant with Provision 9 of the 2018 Code, and remaining in post beyond nine years is not compliant with Provision 19 of
the Code. This was discussed by the Nomination Committee and the Board in 2021. The Board agreed that, bearing in mind
the Company’s stage of evolution and current phase of growth, it is in the best interests of the Company for Mr Boyton to
remain as Executive Chairman. The Board will continue to closely monitor this arrangement to ensure that the division of
responsibilities between the two roles is maintained.
Directors' Independence
The 2018 Code recommends that the Chairman of the Board should be independent. The Directors do not consider Mr
Boyton to be independent because of his historic ties with the Group, his employment with the Company as Executive
Chairman and his significant shareholding in the Group and so the Group will not satisfy this requirement of the 2018 Code.
However, in view of his knowledge of the Group and specific strategic role within the Group, the Board considers it
appropriate at this stage to retain Mr Boyton as Executive Chairman.
The 2018 Code recommends that at least half the Board, excluding the Chairman, should comprise Independent NonExecutive Directors. The Board considers that Mr Abery, Mr Davidson, Mr Rawlinson and Ms Boggs are independent, and
therefore the Group considers that it satisfies the independence requirements of the 2018 Code. Notwithstanding the fact
that Mr Davidson has served on the Board as a Non-Executive Director for more than ten years, the Board considers him to
be independent, as he fully understands the importance of being a strong and objective voice on the Board and on the Board
Committees.
Jamie Boyton and Brian Rudd collectively hold 18.49% of the Company's voting share capital. The Board does not consider
the Company to have a controlling shareholder for the purposes of the Listing Rules.
Board commitment
The Board is satisfied that each of the Non-Executive Directors committed sufficient time throughout 2021 for the fulfilment
of their duties as members of the Board and of the Board Committees.
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None of the Directors has any conflict of interests that have not been disclosed to the Board. Details of attendance at Board
meetings and Board committee meetings are set out below.
On appointment, and throughout their tenure, all Directors receive appropriate training and regular presentations are made
to the Board by senior management and external advisers.
All Directors are authorised to obtain, at the Group’s expense and subject to the Chairman’s approval, independent legal or
other professional advice where they consider it necessary. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, who
oversees their ongoing training and development needs.
The Executive Directors' service contracts and the terms and conditions of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are
available for inspection at the Group’s registered office and will also be available at the Annual General Meeting. Brief
details of these terms and conditions are also set out in the Remuneration Committee Report.
Board Committees
The 2018 Code recommends that a UK listed company should establish an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee
and a Nomination Committee. The Group has each of these committees, the terms of reference of which are described in
further detail below.
In view of the utmost importance which the Group places on health and safety and the social and environmental impact of
the business, in 2021 the Board enhanced its governance framework and established a separate Sustainability Committee,
in addition to the well-established Health, Safety, Social and Environmental Committee. Additionally, given the increasingly
strong performance in the portfolio of the Company’s investment arm, Capital DI Limited, the Board considered it prudent to
implement an Investment Committee for Capital DI Limited, a 100% directly owned subsidiary of the Group.
•

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises Mr Abery (Chair), Mr Davidson and Mr Rawlinson. The membership and
workings of the Audit and Risk Committee are set out in the separate Audit and Risk Committee Report.
The 2018 Code recommends that the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee should be an Independent NonExecutive Director (who is not the Chair) and who has relevant experience for the role. Throughout 2021, Mr Abery
was the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee. The Board is satisfied that Mr Abery has appropriate and relevant
experience to chair the Audit and Risk Committee.
•

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr Rawlinson (Chair), Mr Abery, Mr Davidson and Ms Boggs.
The membership and workings of the Remuneration Committee, together with details of the Directors’
remuneration, interest in options, together with information on service contracts, are set out in the Remuneration
Committee Report. No Director is involved in the decision of his or her own remuneration.
The 2018 Code recommends that the Chair of the Remuneration Committee should be independent and have
previously served a period of at least 12 months on a remuneration committee before appointment. Mr Rawlinson,
as Chair of the Remuneration Committee, is considered to be an Independent Non-Executive Director. In addition,
Mr Rawlinson exceeds the required 12 months serving on a remuneration committee prior to his appointment. The
Board is satisfied that Mr Rawlinson has appropriate and relevant experience for the Chairship of the Remuneration
Committee.
•

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises Mr Abery (Chair), Mr Davidson, Mr Rawlinson and Ms Boggs.
The Nomination Committee deals with appointments to the Board, monitors potential conflicts of interest and
reviews annually the independence of the Non-Executive Directors. The Nomination Committee is also responsible
for proposing candidates for appointment to the Board having regard to the balance and structure of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee recognises the need for diversity and succession planning at Board level. During 2021,
upon the Nomination Committee’s recommendation, the Board successfully appointed Ms Catherine (Cassie)
Boggs, ensuring female representation on the Board, in addition to the appointment of Catherine Apthorpe as
Company Secretary. This is significant step in the right direction with regard to its ongoing work regarding gender
diversity and succession planning.
The 2018 Code recommends that the majority of members of the Nomination Committee should be Independent
Non-Executive Directors. Mr Davidson, Mr Abery, Mr Rawlinson and Ms Boggs were members of the Nomination
Committee and are all considered to be Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Group therefore complies with
the 2018 Code for smaller quoted companies in this respect. The 2018 Code also recommends that an
Independent Non-Executive Director chairs the Nominations Committee. Mr Abery is considered independent and
accordingly is compliant with the 2018 Code.
•

Health, Safety, Social and Environment Committee ("HSSE Committee")

The Health, Safety, Social and Environment comprises of Mr Davidson (Chair), Mr Rudd, Ms Boggs and two nonDirector members - Mr Monaghan (Executive – HSEQ) and Mr North (Chief Operating Officer). The HSSE
Committee is responsible for formulating and recommending to the Board a policy on health, safety, social and
environmental issues related to the Group’s operations. In particular, the HSSE Committee focuses on compliance
with applicable standards to ensure that an effective system of health, safety, social and environmental standards,
procedures and practices is in place at each of the Group’s operations.
The HSSE Committee is also responsible for reviewing management’s investigation of incidents or accidents that
occur and to assess whether policy improvements are required. The Committee members take soundings from the
workforce in connection with this responsibility. While the HSSE Committee is expected to make recommendations,
the ultimate responsibility for establishing the Group’s health, safety, social and environmental policies remain with
the Board.
•

Sustainability Committee

The Sustainability Committee comprises of Ms Boggs (Chair), Mr Davidson, Mr Rudd, Mr Boyton and a non-Director
member- Mr Robson (Executive- Corporate Development). The Sustainability Committee is responsible for
assisting the Board in developing and making recommendations in connection with the Company’s strategy,
standards, processes and approach to environmental, social and governance matters that could affect the business
activities, assets, performance and reputation of the Company (collectively, “ESG”) and for the Company’s ongoing
sustainable development. The Committee members take soundings from the workforce in connection with this
responsibility. While the Sustainability Committee is expected to make recommendations, the ultimate responsibility
for establishing the Group’s Sustainability Committee policies remain with the Board.
•

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee recently formed since the year-end, for the Company’s separate investments arm,
Capital DI Limited, comprises of Mr Rawlinson (Chair), Mr Boyton, Mr Davidson and a non-Director member - Mr
Rowley (Investor Relations and Corporate Development Manager). The Investment Committee is responsible for
the investments strategy and creation of strategic partnerships at all stages of development.
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Board and Committee meetings and attendance
The number of Board and Committee meetings during 2021 was as follows:
Board
meetings

Audit and Risk
Committee
meetings

Remuneration
Committee
meetings

Nomination
Committee
meetings

HSSE
Committee
meetings

Number of meetings held
2021

8

4

2

4

3

Jamie Boyton

7

Invitee

Invitee

Invitee

-

2

Brian Rudd

7

-

-

-

3

2

David Abery

6

3

1

3

-

-

Alex Davidson

8

4

2

4

3

2

8

4

2

4

-

-

2

-

1

1

1

2

-

-

-

-

3

-

-

-

-

-

3

-

-

2

Michael Rawlinson
Catherine (Cassie) Boggs
Rick Monaghan
Jodie North

3

1

1

Rick Robson

1

-

-

-

2

-

Sustainability
Committee
meetings
2

1

Mr Monaghan, Executive – HSEQ and Mr North, Chief Operating Officer, are Non-Director members of the HSSE
Committee and Mr Robson, Executive – Corporate Development is a Non-Director member of the Sustainability Committee.
2Mr Boyton did not attend Remuneration Committee meetings where his remuneration was discussed.
3 Ms Boggs joined the Board on 6 September 2021 and has attended all Board and Committee meetings since joining.
Re-election of Directors
In accordance with the 2018 Code, all Directors are required to submit themselves for re-election annually. The last Annual
General Meeting in April 2021 approved the re-appointment of all five current Directors who were directors at that time: Mr
Abery, Mr Boyton, Mr Davidson, Mr Rawlinson and Mr Rudd. All five Directors in addition to Ms Boggs (appointed on 6
September 2021) will submit themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting due on 28 April 2022.
Evaluation of the Board
The Board annually evaluates the performance of individual Directors, the Board as a whole and its Committees. The
evaluation comprises structured interviews led by the Executive Chairman and the Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director with the other Directors. The performance of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors was appraised by the
Executive Chairman, taking into account the views of the other Directors. Led by Mr Abery, as Senior Independent NonExecutive Director, the performance of the Chairman was assessed by the Non-Executive Directors, taking into account the
views of the other Executive Directors. The Board composition will continue to be regularly reviewed based on the
Company’s size and requirements. The reviews will continue to consider composition and diversity as a key part of the
criteria. In line with the 2018 Code, the Board will keep under review the need to conduct an externally facilitated board
evaluation during the course of 2022.
Engagement with Shareholders
The Chairman is the Group’s principal spokesmen and point of contact with investors, analysts, fund managers, the press
and other interested parties. Access is available to the Chief Financial Officer, Senior Independent Director and other NonExecutive Directors if required. The Board is kept informed about shareholder relations and in particular the Senior
Independent Director is kept informed of the views of major shareholders. This is done by a combination of reports to the
Board on meetings held and feedback to the Board from the Group’s advisers. The Group holds briefing meetings with
analysts and institutional shareholders, usually following the half year and final results announcements, to ensure that the
investing community receives a balanced and complete view of the Group’s performance and the issues faced by the
business.
The Group provides financial statements to all shareholders twice a year when its half year and full year results are
announced and provides two further Trading Updates post the completion of the first and third quarters of trading throughout
the fiscal year. These results and all other stock exchange announcement information are available on the Group’s website
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www.capdrill.com. Management presentations as well as other information relevant to investors are also available on the
website.
All shareholders are given at least 21 working days’ notice of the Annual General Meeting. It is standard practice for all
Directors to attend the Annual General Meeting to which all shareholders are invited and at which they may raise questions
to the Chairs of the Board Committees or the Board generally. The proxy votes for and against each resolution, as well as
abstentions (which may be recorded on the proxy form accompanying the notice of Annual General Meeting) are counted
before the Annual General Meeting commences and are made available to shareholders at the close of the formal business
of the meeting. The proxy votes are announced via the LSE and posted on the Company’s website shortly after the close
of the meeting.
Shareholder Communication
The Board of Directors aims to ensure that Shareholders of the Company are provided with important information in a
timely manner through written and electronic communications, in accordance with the requirements of the Financial
Conduct Authority’s (FCA) Listing Rules, the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and the UK Market Abuse Regulation.
Workforce and other stakeholders’ engagement
As referred to above, the importance of health and safety as well as the Group's social and environmental impact are key
issues that are kept under constant review. In doing so, the HSSE and Sustainability Committees take soundings from the
Group's workforce, so that the Board is kept fully appraised of health and safety, environmental social and governance
concerns.
The Board has encouraged the Executive Leadership Team and senior management in each location to engage with staff,
suppliers, customers and the community in order to assist the Board in discharging its obligations. Board members also
carry out site visits enabling staff to raise issues directly with them and to enable them to meet key stakeholders when
necessary. Throughout 2021, Board site visits were not practical due to travel restrictions, but the Chairman visited a number
of the Company’s operational sites and offices including Egypt, Tanzania, the DRC, Mali, Guinea and Cote d’Ivoire. In
addition the Executive Director visited operational sites and offices in Mauritania, Egypt and Tanzania. Both Executive
Directors held a number of structured meetings with workforce on the ground. Workforce engagement is channelled via the
Executive Leadership Team while performing site visits, or via senior in-country management where this was not practical
due to travel restrictions. A more structured engagement with the workforce is in the process of being implemented.
During the year, there have been a number of shareholder engagements via the AGM, investor calls, investor roadshows
and interviews with the Chairman. This includes three separate multi-day sessions engaging with shareholders and
investments, the Annual General Meeting, nine media engagements and four moderated investor calls.
Capital is a Bermuda registered company and the full requirements of Section 172 of the UK Companies Act 2006 (Section
172) are additional to the directors’ current obligations under Bermudan Law. Understanding and, where necessary,
implementing and updating policies to ensure compliance with Section 172 has been continued to be considered throughout
2021, spearheaded by the formation of the Sustainability Committee. The Sustainability Committee will in 2022 formalise
the existing reporting and feedback mechanism from internal stakeholders and ensure this flows up to a regular board item
on the Board Agendas.
Whilst the strengthened initiatives during 2021 bring the Company closer to compliance, the Board acknowledges they are
not yet sufficient to comply with provision 5 of the 2018 Code, including its reporting requirements in the Annual Report. The
risks of non-compliance of this provision is a potentially disengaged workforce; however this risk is mitigated by regular
Middle and Senior management engagement with workforce representatives and the informal workforce advisory groups
currently in place.
Please refer to the Remuneration Committee report on pages 71 to 79 with regard to Provision 41 of the 2018 Code.
Whistleblowing
The 2018 Code recommends that there should be a means for the workforce to raise concerns in confidence and
anonymously, with the Board reviewing and ensuring arrangements for proportionate and independent investigation and for
follow-up action. Any submissions are handled by the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, Mr Abery. During 2021
the Company formalised its Whistleblowing policy and as part of this has recently implemented a web reporting portal for
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anonymous submissions. The Whistleblowing policy can be found on the Company’s website in the Corporate Governance
Section.
Share dealing policy
The Company has a share dealing code in place which was updated in 2018 following the implementation of the Market
Abuse Regulations. In 2021 the share dealing policy was tightened so that it now applies to all employees at all times.
Governance work relating to the Sustainability Committee
As previously mentioned in this report, the Board launched its new Sustainability Committee in 2021. Please refer to pages
24 to 35 detailing the work the Committee has carried out with regard to implementing policies and strengthening its
governance framework in this area. This includes publication of its Modern Slavery Statement, updating its Anti-Bribery and
Corruption Policy, and implementation of further policies including Human Rights.
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The report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee (the 'Remuneration Committee' or the ‘Committee’)
and approved by the Board.
The Remuneration Committee comprises Michael Rawlinson (Chairman of the Committee), David Abery, Alex Davidson
and Catherine (Cassie) Boggs. Catherine (Cassie) Boggs joined the Committee on her appointment to the Board in
September 2021. The profiles of the Committee members are included on pages 40 to 41.
The Code recommends that the majority of members of the Remuneration Committee should be Independent NonExecutive Directors. All Committee members were considered to be Independent Non-Executive Directors during the
period under review and therefore the Group complied with the Code for smaller quoted companies.

Dear Shareholder,
I am pleased to present the report of the Remuneration Committee in my capacity as Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.
The Remuneration Committee sets the remuneration packages for the Executive Directors, including basic salary,
bonuses, and other incentive compensation payments and awards. It approves the policy and framework proposals made
by the Executive Directors in respect of the remuneration for the Executive Leadership Team of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee further approves all share and option grants. The Remuneration Committee is assisted by the
Company Secretary and takes advice as appropriate from external advisers. Since 2018, the Company has taken advice
on remuneration from h2glenfern Remuneration Advisory on an ad hoc basis.
The annual report on remuneration sets out the remuneration outcomes and decisions made for the year and follows the
description of policy.
Performance in year
As set out earlier in this Annual Report, the Company performed strongly in 2021. Full year revenue for the year reached
$226.8 million (2020: $135.0 million), above the 2021 revenue guidance of $220-$225 million; EBITDA increased by $39.5
million to $73.3 million (2020: $33.8m) and NPAT by $45.5 million to $70.3 million (2020: $24.8 million). The Remuneration
Committee is satisfied that the Group delivered a strong performance for the year in what was still a very challenging
operating environment during the COVID pandemic. The Group has seen a step change in performance in 2021 including
a significant increase in the utilisation of our drilling fleet, the continued expansion of our service offering into mining load
and haul, and the development of our laboratory business, MSALABS. The renewal of major long-term contracts, such as
Geita also underpins a solid foundation for 2022. In addition, a strong outlook for drilling, highlighted by new contracts early
this year (Kabanga Nickel & Goulamina Lithium) and the continued rollout of the revolutionary Chrysos technology by
MSALABS, points to a further step change in performance in 2022.
Decisions in year
For 2021, the Committee decided to increase the salary of the Executive Chairman by $50,000 p.a. to $450,000. The
salary of the Executive Director remained unchanged at $330,000.
Reflecting the agreed performance targets achieved relating to EBITDA, Return on Assets and Safety metrics, the
Remuneration Committee determined to award a scheme bonus payment in respect of 2021 of 100% of salary to the
Executive Chairman and 60% to the Executive Director, as detailed later in this report. In addition, the Committee intends
to reward FY2021 exceptional performance by granting an additional 50% of the bonus entitlement and removing the ability
to give a discretionary bonus. This is in line with the FY2022 proposed policy and in effect applies the new policy on stretch
targets retrospectively as discussed later in this report. It results in an additional $225,000 to the Executive Chairman and
$99,000 to the Executive Director in view of their contributions to the Group’s exceptional performance in 2021. This
additional increment to the Executive Chairman’s bonus takes his overall bonus to 150% of salary in 2021 and the
Executive Director’s bonus to 90% of salary; resulting in a total bonus of US$675,000 for the Executive Chairman and
US$297,000 for the Executive Director. The Company made LTIP awards under the long-term incentive structure to the
Executive Directors during the first half of 2021 and intends to make further awards in the first half of 2022. The structure
of these awards is disclosed in further detail later in this report.
Remuneration in 2022
Capital last carried out a review and made significant changes to its senior team remuneration arrangements in 2018. Over
the past three years, Capital has made transformative steps in building its business and growing value for shareholders.
Our Direct Investments activities have also become an important part of our business and strategy.
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In view of this, the Remuneration Committee carried out a review of Executive remuneration at the end of 2021 and early
2022 and is proposing several changes to remuneration effective from 2022. The Company received advice on this from
h2glenfern Remuneration Advisory. The Company consulted with its major shareholders on these changes in early 2022
and is pleased with the support the proposals received.
The changes to remuneration are intended to strengthen retention, incentivisation and support the Company’s next phase
of growth. The principal changes we propose are to increase the salaries of our Executive team for 2022 above inflation,
to develop annual bonus arrangements to reflect stretch targets and remove the ability to pay discretionary bonus amounts
above the normal annual bonus maximum and that in addition to normal Long Term Performance share awards similar to
the approach taken from 2018 to 2021, to make additional Long Term Performance share awards to key Executives with
more demanding targets based solely on absolute TSR. Long term incentive awards to Executive Directors from 2022 will
be subject to a two-year holding period post vesting.
Further details of the changes are reflected in the remuneration policy table below and set out directly in the section on
remuneration in 2022 below.
2021 AGM
At our AGM in April 2021, 107.9m shares were voted to approve the resolution on remuneration (89% of votes cast) with
13.0m shares voted against the resolution. The votes for 21.6m shares were withheld. The Committee believes the
negative voting levels reflected the above inflation increase in the salary of our Executive Chairman for 2021 and the
payment to him of a discretionary bonus above the normal maximum in respect of 2020. The Committee has sought to
address these concerns but consulting with major shareholders on the changes for 2022 which include removing the ability
of the Company to pay discretionary bonuses above the stated cap. The Company will implement a two-year holding period
post vesting to long term incentive awards made to Executive Directors from 2022 in response to shareholder feedback.
Michael Rawlinson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Policy
The Group’s policy on Directors’ remuneration has been set with the objective of attracting, motivating and retaining high
calibre Directors, in a manner that is consistent with best practice and aligned with the interests of the Group’s
shareholders. The policy on Directors’ remuneration is that the overall remuneration package should be sufficiently
competitive to attract and retain individuals of a quality capable of achieving the Group’s objectives. Remuneration policy
is designed such that individuals are remunerated on a basis that is appropriate to their position, experience and value to
the Company.
The main components of the remuneration policy for the years ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and how they are
linked to and support the Company’s business strategy are summarised below.
Element
Base Salary

Link to
remuneration
policy/strategy
Core element of
remuneration.
To set at a level
which is sufficiently
competitive to
recruit and retain
individuals of the
appropriate calibre
and experience.
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Operation

Maximum
opportunity

Performance
metric

Basic salary is
reviewed annually as
at 1 January with
reference to
company
performance; the
performance of the
individual Executive
Director; the
individual Executive
Director’s experience
and responsibilities;
and pay and
conditions
throughout the
Company.
May be paid in
different currencies

There is no
prescribed maximum
annual base salary
or salary increase.

The Committee
considers individual
and Company
performance when
setting base salary.

The Committee is
guided by the
general increase for
the broader
employee
population, but has
discretion to decide
to a lower or a
higher increase.
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Other Benefits

Annual bonus

To help recruit and
retain high
performing
Executive Directors.
To provide market
competitive benefits.
To incentivise the
achievement of a
range of short-term
performance targets
that are key to the
success of the
Company.
To align the
interests of the
Executives and
shareholders to the
full year targets.

as appropriate to
reflect their
geographic location.
The Company does
not provide any other
fringe benefits or
pensions to
Executive Directors.
Parameters,
performance criteria,
weightings and
targets are set at the
start of each year.
Bonuses can be paid
to Executives to
support the
achievement of
annual operational,
financial, strategic
and personal
objectives.
Payments are made
in cash and shares
following completion
of the year subject to
the Committee’s
assessment of
performance against
targets and other
matters it deems
relevant.
Any bonus is subject
to achieving agreed
KPIs.

N/A

N/A

From 2022, the
maximum bonus
opportunity for the
Executive Chairman
is 150% of salary for
stretch performance,
with 100% of salary
paid for on-target
performance.

For the Executive
Chairman, 100% of
the bonus is subject
to corporate and
financial
performance
objectives. For the
Executive Director
and other members
of the ELT, 80% is
subject to corporate
and financial
performance
objectives. The
remaining 20% is
based on individual
performance targets.

The maximum
bonus opportunity
for the Executive
Director, CFO and
COO is 90% of base
salary for stretch
performance with
60% of salary paid
for on-target
performance.
From 2022, there is
no ability for the
Company to pay
discretionary
bonuses above the
stated maxima.

The annual bonus
structure contains a
financial and HSE
underpin, whereby
the Remuneration
Committee can
determine that no
bonus is to be paid if
the underpin targets
are missed.

50% of any bonus is
settled immediately
in cash, 50% is
awarded in shares
and deferred for one
year.

Long Term Incentive
awards

To support
retention, long term
performance and
increase alignment
between the
executives and
shareholders.
The Company
intends to make
awards under this
structure annually.

Annual bonus
awards are subject
to malus and
clawback provisions.
The Executive
Chairman, Executive
Directors and senior
members of the ELT
are eligible to receive
awards under the
Long Term Incentive
Plan at the discretion
of the Committee.
Awards are granted
as nil cost options or
conditional awards
which vest after
three years subject

From 2022, the
Executive Chairman
and Executive
Director will receive
two performance
share awards each
year. The initial
award will have a
face value of up to
100% and 60% of
salary, respectively,
and have
performance
conditions pitched at

Initial award:
For 2022, two
performance
measures: 50%
absolute Total
Shareholder Return
(TSR) and an 50%
EPS growth (based
on performance of
the underlying
business business –
i.e. excluding returns
from Capital DI, the
direct investment
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to the meeting of
objective
performance
conditions specified
at award.
Awards to Executive
Directors from 2022
will have an
additional two- year
holding period post
the three-year
vesting period.
LTIP awards are
subject to malus and
clawback provisions.
Shareholding
requirement

Aligns Executive
Directors’ interests
with those of
shareholders
Encourages
executive Directors
to achieve the
Company’s longterm strategy and
create sustainable
stakeholder value.

Non-executive
Director
remuneration

To attract and retain
high calibre NonExecutives with the
necessary
experience.
To provide fees
appropriate to time
commitments and
responsibilities of
each role.

conventional levels.
The further awards
will have a face
value of up to a
further 100% and
60% of salary for the
Executive Chairman
and Executive
Director,
respectively, and
have performance
conditions set ahead
of conventional
levels.

vehicle of Capital
Limited). Both
measured once at
the end of the threeyear period. 25% of
the award will vest at
threshold and 100%
of the award will vest
at stretch
performance.
Further award:
For 2022, solely
absolute TSR. 25%
of the award will vest
at threshold and
100% of the award
will vest at stretch
performance.

Executive Directors
are required to
accumulate a
personal
shareholding in the
Company.
The Executive
Directors’
shareholding are
currently many
multiples of their
salaries.
Non-executive
Directors are paid a
basic fee. An
additional fee is paid
to the Senior
Independent NonExecutive Director to
reflect the additional
time and
responsibility, and to
the Chair of each
Committee for the
same reason.

Fee levels reflect
market conditions
and are reviewed
annually on 1
January each year.

Service contracts
The Executive Directors’ employment service contracts have no specified term. No Director has a service contract
containing more than six months’ notice period or with pre-determined compensation provisions upon termination
exceeding six months’ salary. It is the Company’s policy that, except where prescribed by law, there should be no automatic
entitlement to bonuses in the event of an early termination.
Non-Executive Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Group, for an initial three-year period, thereafter
renewable on the agreement of both the Company and the Non-Executive Director. The notice period under the letters of
appointment is three months.
In accordance with the 2018 Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are required to submit themselves for re-election
annually. The last Annual General Meeting in April 2021 approved the reappointment of all five current Directors on the
Board in April 2021: Mr Abery, Mr Boyton, Mr Davidson, Mr Rawlinson and Mr Rudd. All five Directors in addition to Ms
Boggs (appointed on 6 September 2021) will submit themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting due on 28
April 2022.
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External appointments
The Company recognises the proposition that Executive Directors could become fee earning non-executive directors of
other companies and that such appointment can broaden their knowledge and experience to the benefit of the Company.
In their contracts of employment, the Executive Directors have covenants not to compete during their employment
(including directorships) unless the Board consents in writing.
Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Company in developing policy
In setting the remuneration policy for Directors, the pay and conditions of other Group employees are taken into account.
The Committee is provided with data on the remuneration structure for senior members of staff below the Executive Director
level and uses this information to ensure consistency of approach throughout the Group.
For 2021, the focus below the Executive Leadership Team was limited to a review of all performance incentives issued in
the Group. Given the size and geographical diversity of the Group, workforce engagement was focused at a country level.
While the initiatives implemented during 2021 bring the Company closer to compliance, the Board acknowledges they are
not yet sufficient to comply with provision 41 of the 2018 Code. The risk for a lack of due consideration is a disengaged
workforce, although the risk is mitigated as geographical consideration is given to compensation evaluation. During 2022
the Remuneration Committee will develop a more comprehensive workforce engagement policy.
Consideration of shareholder views
Shareholders views are considered when evaluating and setting remuneration strategy. Opportunities to discuss the
remuneration strategy are available during investor calls as well as by voting on the policy at the AGM.
ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
This section of the remuneration report contains details of how the Company’s remuneration policy for Directors was
implemented during the financial year ended 31 December 2021.
Following a review of the Executive Directors salary levels, the Committee decided to increase the salary of the Executive
Chairman from $400,000 to $450,000 for the year commencing January 2021. The salary of the Executive Director
remained unchanged at $330,000.
The normal bonus maximums for the Executive Chairman and the Executive Director are 100% and 60% of salary
respectively. Of this, for the Executive Chair, the entire bonus is based on corporate and financial performance objectives.
For the Executive Director, 60% of the maximum bonus opportunity is subject to corporate and financial performance
objectives with the remaining 40% based on individual performance targets.
For 2021, Corporate and financial objectives were weighted 60% EBITDA, 20% Return on Assets and 20% for safety (HSE
TRIFR). All three EBITDA, Return on Assets and HSE targets exceeded the stretch target levels. Corporate and financial
performance objectives were met at an overall level of 123%. The Executive Director’s individual performance targets were
met at 100% of maximum.
In view of exceptional performance during 2021, reflected in our January 2022 trading update, the Remuneration
Committee intends to pay total bonuses for our Executive Chairman and Executive Director at 150% of salary being
$675,000 and 90% of salary being $297,000. This treatment in effect applies the new policy on stretch targets
retrospectively.
The table below sets out the breakdown of the total award:
2021 ANNUAL BONUS TARGET
GROUP TARGET METRICS (60% OF TOTAL BONUS)
Threshold
Stretch Target
On Target $'m
Target $'m
$'m

Target
achieved

EBITDA

(60% of Group
Target Metrics)

44.0

47.3

50.6

73.3

Stretch

ROA (EBIT/Ave
Total Assets)

(20% of Group
Target Metrics)

12.1%

14.0%

15.9%

19.9%

Stretch

HSE TRIFR

(20% of Group
Target Metrics)

1.87

1.50

1.12

0.98

Stretch
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In the light of the strong performance of the Group during the year, bonuses were awarded to the Executive Directors as
detailed in the table below.
Of the $675,000 bonus awarded to Jamie Boyton and the $297,000 awarded to Brian Rudd, 50% is payable in cash in
March 2022 and 50% payable in shares in March 2023.
Consistent with the LTIP awards issued in 2020, a further LTIP award was granted to Executive Directors in 2021 as
detailed in the share options table below. Awards were made in January 2021. The awards to the Executive Chairman and
Executive Director had a calculated value of 100% and 60% of salary, respectively. Awards vest after three years and are
subject to two performance targets each covering 50% of the award: an absolute Total Shareholder Return (TSR) condition
and an EPS growth performance condition, both measured once at the end of a three-year period. For both conditions, the
threshold vesting target, at which 25% of the relevant portion of an award vests, was 8% compound annual growth with
maximum vesting at 18% CAGR.
The remuneration of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and
comparative figures is shown below.
2021
Salary
/ fees

Bonus
in
cash

Bonus
in
shares

Jamie Boyton

450

337.5

337.5

Brian Rudd

330

148.5

148.5

2020

Other

Salary
/ fees

Bonus
in cash

Bonus
in
shares

1,225

400

217

217

834

627

330

77

77

484

Total

Other

Total

Current Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors
David Abery

98

98

Catherine (Cassie) Boggs

28

-

Alex Davidson

85

85

Michael Rawlinson

85

85

Figures in US$’000
Catherine (Cassie Boggs) was appointed to the Board on 6 September 2021 hence fee pro-rated.
Non-Executive Remuneration is set out below:
2021
Basic
Fees

Committee
Chair

David Abery

65

20

Catherine (Cassie) Boggs

21

Alex Davidson
Michael Rawlinson

2020
Snr
NED

13

Total

Basic
Fees

Committee
Chair

Total

98

65

20

13

98

7

28

-

-

-

-

65

20

85

65

20

85

65

20

85

65

20

85

Figures in US$’000
Catherine (Cassie Boggs) was appointed to the Board on 6 September 2021 hence fee pro-rated.
Chair and Snr NED remuneration only contractually differentiated from 2021.
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Directors’ Share Interests
Directors’ share interests at 31 December 2021 are set out below:
Number of
beneficially
owned shares 1

Unvested options
without
performance
measures

Total interest held
at 31 December
2021

Total interest held
at 31 December
2020

Executive
Jamie Boyton

23,026,895

23,026,895

22,554,386

Brian Rudd

12,105,538

12,105,538

14,963,034

Non-Executive:

2

David Abery

555,747

555,747

0

-

50,000

50,000

169,540

169,540

Catherine (Cassie) Boggs
Alex Davidson
Michael Rawlinson

Beneficially owned shares include shares held directly or indirectly by connected persons
2 Non-Executive shares were acquired through market purchases which complied with the Company's share dealing code,
and were not acquired though any option scheme
1

This table does not include the share portion of Jamie Boyton’s 2020 bonus which is expected to be issued in March 2022,
totalling 232,695 shares based on the share price of last day of the Company’s close period in March 2021.
This table does not include the share portion of Brian Rudd’s 2020 bonus which is expected to be issued in March 2022,
totalling 82,921 shares based on the share price of last day of the Company’s close period in March 2021.
Share Options and Long-Term incentive awards
On 31 December 2021 all share options granted to executive directors under the 2010 Discretionary Share Option Plan
expired.
At 31 December 2021, the LTIP awards that had been awarded to each Director were as follows:
Granted
January
2019

Vesting
date

Expiry
date

Granted
January
2020

Vesting
date

Expiry
date

Granted
January
2021

Vesting
date

Expiry
date

Total at
31
December
2021

Exercise
price

Jamie
Boyton

797,212

31/03/
2022

30/09/
2022

509,254

31/03/
2023

30/09/
2023

540,767

31/03/
2024

30/09/
2024

1,847,233

US$0.0001

Brian
Rudd

394,620

31/03/
2022

30/09/
2022

252,081

31/03/
2023

30/09/
2023

237,938

31/03/
2024

30/09/
2024

884,639

US$0.0001

Vesting after three years and subject to performance conditions detailed above.
Management of remuneration for 2022
As explained earlier in this report, the Company has implemented a number of changes to remuneration for 2022.
Salaries
Effective 1 January 2022, we increased the salary of Executive Chairman, Jamie Boyton from $450k to $500k and
Executive Director Brian Rudd from $330k to $360k. The global mining services sector is currently highly competitive and
the Remuneration Committee sees that these increases are necessary to ensure base remuneration remains effective,
attractive and fair.
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Annual bonus
The annual bonus scheme for the Executive Directors for 2022 is based on the overall performance of the Group and the
meeting of financial and non-financial performance objectives including profitability measures, safety measures, specific
execution of strategic targets, role based and personal targets.
We will operate the 2022 annual bonus with a scorecard in line with our normal practice. Each year we review the scorecard
and for 2022 we are maintaining the weighting of Safety within the structure at 20%. For the Executive Chairman, annual
bonus is based solely on corporate performance targets. For the Executive Director and below we are reducing the
percentage of bonus allocated to personal objectives, so for most employees the safety element of the bonus is increasing.
In addition, we are introducing a fatality underpin whereby the safety portion of the bonus is automatically forfeited in the
event of a work-related fatality.
For 2022 we are also introducing a localisation objective (5% of total) where we have targets to increase the levels of local
participation (i.e. non-expatriate labour) in the workforce. As such, the corporate and financial performance objectives will
have the following weightings: 55% EBIT, 20% ROCE, 20% HSE, Localisation 5%. For the Executive Director, the 20% of
the bonus will be based on individual performance targets.
Up to 2021, the maximum normal bonus entitlement was 100% of salary for the Executive Chairman and 60% of salary for
the Executive Director. The plan also allowed for a discretionary amount above the maximum, with no formula determining
what appropriate level. In order to eliminate the potentially arbitrary allocation of discretionary bonus, the company has
moved to a system which pays higher bonuses for exceptional performance on a pre-agreed scale. For 2022, we have
increased the maximum bonus amount for our Executive Chairman and Executive Director by 50% to reflect stretch targets,
to 150% of salary and 90% of salary, respectively. Alongside this step, we will remove the ability to pay annual bonuses
above the stated maximum.
In line with our policy, 50% of bonus amounts paid for 2021 and any paid for 2022 will be paid in cash with 50% in shares
deferred for one year.
Long Term Incentives
Since 2019, our approach in regard to regular annual LTIP awards has been as follows: 100% salary to the Executive
Chairman and 60% to the Executive Director, three-year performance and vesting period, 50% EPS growth (based on
performance of core business) at 8-18% CAGR, 50% absolute TSR at CAGR 8-18%. For awards made in 2022, we will
set this target CAGR at 8-15% for both EPS and TSR reflecting the challenges of maintaining very high growth rates as a
group increases in scale.
From 2022, to reflect our increased scale and growth ambitions, we will introduce a new long term performance share
awards with the following key terms: additional annual award of 100% to the Executive Chairman and 60% to the Executive
Director, three-year performance period, performance condition 100% absolute TSR, vesting commencing from zero at
15% CAGR on a straight-line basis to full vesting at 25% CAGR.
A key part of the rationale for this additional award is to reflect the Group’s strategy and ambition to generate substantial
returns for shareholders from our Direct Investments and other corporate actions, incentivising key Executives to achieve
this in way that is directly aligned with shareholder outcomes.
Long term incentive awards to Executive Directors from 2022 will be subject to a two-year holding period post vesting.
Non-Executive remuneration
The Non-Executives are paid a basic fee with additional amounts paid to chair a sub-committee, as well as to the Senior
Independent Director to reflect the additional time and responsibility associated with this role. The base fee has been
increased from $65,000 to $68,250 with the Senior NED fee and Committee chair fee remaining at $13,000 and $20,000
respectively.
AGM and Shareholder Feedback
The Committee has reflected on the voting and withheld votes at our 2021 AGM. It consulted with shareholders in respect
of the changes to remuneration for 2022 outlined above and responded to shareholder feedback in implementing a twoyear holding period post vesting for Executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Code
The 2018 FRC Corporate Governance Code requires the description of the work of the Committee to cover a number of
specified matters, most of which are covered above. The Committee believes that the remuneration levels and structure
are appropriate in the light of the Company’s commercial and strategic objectives and the need to attract and retain
experienced and skilled executives. The remuneration policy operated as intended in 2021 in terms of company
performance and quantum.
The Committee has considered the principles of clarity, simplicity, risk management, predictability, proportionality and
alignment to culture in developing and managing executive remuneration as reflected in the table below.

Clarity

The Committee is committed to transparency. Information in this report is intended
to be disclosed directly, simply and clearly.

Simplicity

The structure of the Remuneration Policy is unchanged and is commonly used by
UK-listed companies. It comprises three elements - salary, annual bonus and
long-term incentive awards which operate simply and in line with market norms.

Risk

The Committee recognises the risk of target-based plans. It seeks to mitigate risk
by imposing limits on variable pay amounts, by paying half of annual bonus
amounts in shares, through applying malus and clawback provisions to its
incentive plans and through the ability of the remuneration committee to exercise
certain discretions.

Predictability

Variable pay is subject to normal threshold and maximum value or share amounts.

Proportionality

There is a clear link between individual reward and the delivery of strategy,
particularly through the performance targets attached to annual bonus and longterm incentive schemes. The link of remuneration outcomes to long term
performance is primarily through the LTIP which has stretching targets based on
eps and absolute share price performance as well has vesting values being directly
linked to share price performance.

Alignment to culture

The Remuneration Policy is designed to ensure that successful long-term
partnership with shareholders delivers good rewards to the Executive Directors,
the senior leadership team and the workforce as a whole.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 9 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Michael Rawlinson
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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Audit and Risk Committee Report
The report has been prepared by the Audit and Risk Committee (the ‘Committee’) and approved by the Board.
The Committee comprises David Abery (Chair), Alex Davidson and Michael Rawlinson. The profiles of the Committee members
are included on page 40 to 41. David Abery and Michael Rawlinson are deemed to be members with recent and relevant financial
experience. The Board considers all three members to be Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Summary of the role of the Audit and Risk Committee
The Committee acknowledges and embraces its role of protecting the interests of shareholders in reporting the Group's financial
information and the effectiveness of the audit of that financial information. The Committee also plays a key role in ensuring that
the annual report and accounts are fair, balanced and understandable and contain sufficient information on the Group’s
performance, business model and strategy.
The Committee is governed by the Audit and Risk Committee Charter ('Charter'), which is agreed and approved by the Board of
Directors, and includes the following responsibilities:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Consideration of the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the external auditor;
The negotiation of the audit fee;
Agreeing the nature and scope of the Group’s annual financial audit;
Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements;
Considering and reporting on any significant issues in relation to the financial statements;
Reviewing the effectiveness of the audit and the independence and objectivity of the external auditor, including an
assessment of any non-audit services;
Reviewing the Company’s procedures for detecting fraud, reviewing the Company’s systems and
controls for the prevention of fraud and assessment of the reporting fraud instances;
Reviewing the half-year and annual financial statements, and any audited accounts, before submission to the Board,
and confirming to the Board of Directors their opinion that the report and accounts are fair, balanced and understandable
and contain sufficient information on the Group’s performance, business model and strategy;
Discussing with the Group’s auditors any issues and reservations arising from the interim review and year-end audit;
Reviewing, on behalf of the Board, the Group’s system of internal control and making recommendations to the Board;
Business risk management and internal control systems, including business policies and practices;
Reviewing the requirement for an internal audit; and
Reviewing the Group’s whistle-blowing procedures.

Meetings
During the year ending 31 December 2021, four meetings of the Committee were held, exceeding the minimum number of three
required as per the Charter. The Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer were regular invitees, as they provided important
information and insight.
Significant issues related to the financial statements
The significant issues that were considered by the Committee in 2021 in relation to the financial statements and how these were
addressed were as follows:
Going concern and working capital: The Group operates in an uncertain environment and maintaining sufficient cash headroom
for the business is essential. The Group has a strict budgetary discipline and working capital and cash flow forecasting tools which
enable management to closely monitor the Group’s working capital and cash forecasts. The working capital and cash forecasts
are examined on an ongoing basis by the Committee and Board, and always when contemplating capital expenditure, to enable
the Board to report that the Group remains a going concern. As recognised by the Committee and Board in 2021 in order to
complete the financing of the equipment required for the Sukari project and to support the further growth of the business, the
Group obtained additional financing of $30.2 million comprising an extension of $27.7 million to the existing facility with Macquarie
Bank, and an extension of $2.5 million to the facilities with Epiroc. The Committee and Board are satisfied that this funding
approach will provide sufficient capital to execute the business’ strategy without negatively impacting the going concern.

80

Capital Limited

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2021

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

Taxation: The Group operates in multiple jurisdictions with complex legal, tax and regulatory requirements. In certain of these
jurisdictions, the Group has taken income tax positions that management believes are supportable and are intended to withstand
challenge by tax authorities. Some of these positions are inherently uncertain and include those relating to transfer pricing matters
and the interpretation of income tax laws. Management periodically reassesses its tax positions and presents these assessment
updates to the Committee for consideration and approval. In particular, the Committee assessed the positions concerning the
claims of the Zambian, Tanzanian, Mauritanian, Ivorian and Malian tax authorities as disclosed in Notes 6 and 33 to the Annual
Financial Statements. The Committee is satisfied with management’s estimates and assumptions. The Committee takes into
account the views and experience of the external advisors but accepts that responsibility for such matters lies with management
and, ultimately, the Board.
Asset impairment and inventory valuation: The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets and inventory annually.
Management performed a detailed analysis in terms of IAS 36, Impairment of Assets and IAS 2, Inventories to assess the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets and inventories. The Committee is satisfied with management’s estimates and assumptions.
Despite the fact that at 31 December 2021 no impairment indicator existed, a detailed impairment assessment was undertaken
based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), future Free Cash Flows and Net Present Value and determined that
there was no risk of impairment.
Review of IFRSs application for revenue contract at Sukari: The Group entered into the new full-service mining contract with
Centamin, at its Sukari Gold Mine in December 2020. Management performed a detailed analysis of IFRS 15 application for
Sukari revenue contract and assessed services provided within the contract, identified performance obligations, determined the
related transaction price and how this should be allocated to performance obligations, and determined when revenue should be
recognised. Based on the assessment of the steps referred to in IFRS 15, Management has concluded that the revenue
recognition principles recommended by IFRS 15 has been respected and been applied consistently in 2021.
New Fixed Asset policy
Reassessment of Useful Economic Lives (UEL).
At the end of 2020 the Group undertook a full review of its existing fixed asset policies and procedures and in January 2021
issued a revised fixed asset policy which included an updated list of useful economic lives for some categories of fixed assets.
The useful economic lives for each category of fixed assets have been estimated based on the original equipment manufacturers
(OEM) guidance and an internal assessment by the Executive Asset Management (based on the Management’s experience in
industry and current mechanical status) which has been subsequently validated by the Executive Leadership Team.
The following criteria have been taken into account:
•
•
•
•
•

The environmental factors where the assets are operated (rainfall/droughts/sandstorms);
The geological factors where the assets are operated (topography/abrasion rates/brown
fields/hardness/levels of silica);
Infrastructure where the assets are operated and maintained (mine site or exploration site);
Skill levels of the workforce operating the assets (developing or developed); and
The technical factors of each model of the same asset (advanced or basic).

fields/green

Heavy Mining Equipment (HME) componentisation.
The revised fixed asset policy also included an updated list of all heavy mining equipment and guidance on how such equipment
should be capitalised, subject to componentisation, depreciated or impaired during their UELs.
The number of production hours for each type of equipment has been estimated based on the original equipment manufacturers
(OEM) standards and an internal assessment by the Executive Asset Management which has been subsequently validated by
the executive leadership team.
Management performed a detailed assessment of significant inputs and market norms to ensure that depreciation policy and
UEL assessment are appropriate and that depreciation is calculated correctly. The Committee reviewed management’s
assessment and assumptions and approved them.
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Valuation of unlisted investments
The Group holds investments in listed and unlisted entities which are fair valued at each reporting date. The Group’s largest
unlisted investment is in Allied Gold Corp, valued at $7.4 million (2020: $8.4 million).
Significant judgement is involved in the valuation of unlisted investments due to the unobservable nature of some of the key inputs
used in the valuation methodology. The Committee critically reviewed the methodology and key assumptions applied in the
valuation of unlisted investments and challenged the accuracy and reliability of forecasts used in the valuation.
The Committee is satisfied with management’s estimates and assumptions in the valuation of unlisted investments.
External audit
The Company’s policy is to tender the external audit every ten years. The last audit tender was undertaken in 2019 when BDO
United Kingdom (BDO) were appointed as auditors to the Group.
The effectiveness of the external audit process is largely dependent on appropriate audit risk identification at the commencement
of the audit process. BDO prepared a detailed audit plan, identifying key risks which in 2021 included revenue recognition,
management override of controls, valuation of the unlisted investment in Allied Gold Corp., asset impairment, inventory existence
and valuation, going concern and taxation. The Committee reviewed the risks as identified by BDO and challenged both
management’s assumptions and estimates and the tests undertaken by the auditors in respect of those assessed as significant.
The Committee assesses the effectiveness of the audit process in addressing these matters semi-annually. In addition, the
Committee seeks feedback from management on the effectiveness of the audit process.
For the 2021 financial year, management was satisfied that there had been appropriate focus and challenge on the primary areas
of audit risk and assessed the quality of the audit process to be good. The Committee concurred with the view of management.
The external auditor and Committee have the opportunity at the end of a Committee meeting to speak privately without
management to ensure that no restriction in scope has been placed on the external auditor by management. Informal meetings
are also held from time to time between the Chair of the Committee and the external audit partner.
Non-audit services
The Committee requires that any non-audit services to be performed by the external auditors are formally approved in advance
of the service being undertaken. Audit-related services do not require pre-approval and encompass actions necessary to perform
an audit, including areas such as providing comfort letters to management and/or underwriters; and performing regulatory audits.
The provision of any non-audit service requires pre-approval and is subject to careful consideration, focused on the extent to
which provision of such non-audit service may impact the independence or perceived independence of the auditors. The auditors
are required to provide details of their assessment of the independence considerations, as well as measures available to guard
against independence threats and to safeguard the audit independence. In 2021, BDO Egypt was appointed to perform asset
verification services for the Group. This was not considered to be a conflict of interest, as it was an extremely limited scope without
the requirement to provide guidance in decision making. Other than the half-year review, no other non-audit services were
provided by auditors in the Group.
Risk management and internal controls
The Board is ultimately responsible for establishing and maintaining the system of internal controls which has been in place
throughout 2021. The system of internal controls is vital in managing the risks that face the Group and safeguarding shareholders’
interests. The Group’s internal controls are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk as an element of risk is inherent in the
activities of a drilling company. The Board’s obligation is to be aware of the risks facing the Group, mitigate them where possible,
insure against them where appropriate and manage the residual risk in accordance with the stated objectives of the Group. In
pursuing these objectives, internal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
The effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls is reviewed annually by the Committee. The Committee’s assessment
includes a review of the major financial and non-financial risks to the business and the corresponding internal controls. Where
weaknesses or opportunities for improvement are identified, clear action plans are put in place and implementation is monitored
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by senior management and the Executive Directors. The Committee reported to the Board that following such review, it
considered the internal controls in respect of the key risks that face the Group to be appropriate.
The following describes the principal elements of the Group’s internal control system and processes employed to review the
effectiveness of such system:
Strategic plan: The Board sets the strategic direction for the Group which is then implemented by the Executive Directors and
senior management which make up the Executive Leadership Team. Goals are set at the commencement of each year by the
Executive Leadership Team and monitored thereafter by the Board.
Management structure: A formal schedule of matters is reserved for consideration and approval by the Board including all major
decisions of financial, technical or organisational importance. The Group’s internal control procedures require Board approval for
all new projects and all major expenditure requires the approval of the Executive Chairman. The Executive Leadership Team
meets regularly to discuss day-to-day operational matters.
Risk management: The Board is responsible for identifying the major business risks that face the Group and for determining
appropriate risk mitigation in accordance with the Group’s risk management policy which covers environmental, operational,
financial and legal risks.
Financial Reporting risk: Board members are provided monthly with a Board Report detailing financial, operational, HSEQ, HR
and Business Development activities, obtaining insight into all significant aspects of the Company and allowing for open
engagement with Management.
Liquidity and budgetary risk: Each year the Board approves the Group’s business plan and budget and variance analysis is
undertaken regularly throughout the year and reported to the Board which approves any material variation to the budget. Shortterm and long-term cash flow forecasts are produced and reported to senior management and the Board on a regular basis.
Forecasts consider the possible impact of COVID-19 on the business. The capital structure and financing facilities are reported
by senior management to the Board on a regular basis to allow the Board to analyse the availability of funding.
In instances where the Group is setting up operations in a new country or a new region, appropriate personnel are deployed or
recruited and training is conducted to facilitate the integration with Group operational and financial policies.
In addition, there are clear lines of responsibilities for key risk areas such as acquisitions, capital expenditure, compliance,
information technology and operations. These lines of responsibilities are continuously monitored by the Executive Directors and
to ensure that the Group’s strategic risk management principles are met.
The Committee and Board are closely involved in evaluating and reviewing the principal risks and uncertainties as detailed in the
Chief Financial Officer’s Report. The process for identifying, evaluating and managing the principal risks faced by the Company
has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
Internal Audit
The Group undertook formal internal audits in the year under review. The internal audit scopes included a review of the use of
consultants and advisers in regions where the business operates; review of the Sukari Mining tender and estimate; and a treasury
review of bank charges and foreign exchange exposures.
The Committee reviewed all internal audit reports detailing significant findings, progress on the timely and effective resolution of
outstanding findings, the status of ad hoc projects and any revisions to the current year audit plan. The internal audit plan for
2021 was reviewed by the Committee and revisions proposed to reflect the updated risk profile of the business. Overall, the
Committee considers the current internal audit resource to be adequate for the internal control and risk management assurance
requirements.
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Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 9 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

David Abery
Chair of Audit and Risk Committee
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Independant Auditors Report to the Members of
Capital Limited
Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion:
•
•
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2021
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;
the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards; and
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981.

We have audited the financial statements of Capital Limited (the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs(UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence
We remain independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services prohibited
by that standard were not provided to the Group.
Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment
of the Group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:
•

•

•
•
•
•

Discussion of the continued impact of COVID-19 and the Russia-Ukraine conflict with the Directors and the
Audit Committee, including their assessment of risks and uncertainties associated with the Group’s
customers, workforce and commodity market prices. We assessed this against our own views of the risks
based on our understanding of the business, the mining sector in Africa and the business’ performance in
the 2021 financial year.
We obtained the Directors’ base case and downside case cash flow forecasts and challenged the key
assumptions in respect of revenue growth, gross profit margins and cash generation with reference to new
contract wins, our knowledge of the business and its historical performance and results. We confirmed that
the Directors had considered appropriate risks and uncertainties in the preparation of the base case and
downside forecasts based on our understanding of the business and the geography the Group operates in.
We tested the integrity of the forecast models and assessed their consistency with approved budgets, and
challenged the appropriateness of the adjustments to the base case to determine if they were reflective of
a downside scenario.
We considered and challenged the nature and feasibility of the mitigating actions available to the business
and confirmed that they were reasonable and appropriately incorporated into the downside analysis
through our review of the forecast model.
We evaluated management’s forecast covenant compliance calculations with reference to the covenants
stated in the relevant lender agreements and performed sensitivity analysis on the forecasts to evaluate
impact on covenant calculations.
We reviewed the adequacy of disclosures in the financial statements in respect of going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
In relation to the Parent Company’s reporting on how it has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have
nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about
whether the Directors considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
Overview

Coverage

Key audit matters

Materiality

94% (2020: 90%) of Group revenue
88% (2020: 74%) of Group total assets

1.
2.

Revenue recognition – also a key audit matter in the prior year
Uncertain tax positions – also a key audit matter in the prior
year

Group financial statements as a whole
$2,200,000 (2020 - $1,025,000) based on 5% of Group adjusted profit
before tax (2020 – 5% of Group adjusted profit before tax)

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including the Group’s
system of internal control, and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. We also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of
bias by the Directors that may have represented a risk of material misstatement.
The Group’s services are primarily provided across Africa. We assessed there to be five significant components that
were significant due to their size and risk profile, being four of the operational subsidiaries in Egypt, Tanzania and
Mali, and the Parent Company in Bermuda.
Full scope audits for Group reporting purposes were performed on the significant components in Tanzania and Egypt
by local BDO network member firms and on the Malian and Parent Company by the Group audit team.
We also identified other significant components in Zambia, Cote d’Ivoire and Mauritius where we performed specific
audit procedures on discrete financial statement areas that we considered presented risks of material misstatement
to the Group financial statements.
The significant component audits and other procedures performed to component and specific materiality levels for
the purpose of the Group audit opinion covered:
Financial information relating to the remaining non-significant components of the Group was principally subjected to
analytical review procedures performed by the group audit team.

Our involvement with component auditors
For the work performed by component auditors in Egypt and Tanzania, we determined the level of involvement
needed in order to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as a basis
for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole. Our involvement with these component auditors
included the following:
•
•
•
•

Detailed Group reporting instructions were sent, which included the significant areas to be covered by the
audits (including areas that were considered to be key audit matters as detailed below), and set out the
information required to be reported to the Group audit team
The Group audit team performed procedures independently over certain key audit risk areas, as considered
necessary, including the key audit matters below.
Regular communication throughout the planning and execution phase of the audit. Members of the Group
audit team virtually attended the clearance meetings and had detailed discussions with the component
auditors.
The Group audit team was actively involved in the direction of the audits performed by the component
auditors for Group reporting purposes, review of their working papers, consideration of findings and
determination of conclusions drawn.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter
Revenue
recognition
Refer to note
1.14 for the
Group’s policy
on revenue
recognition.

How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit
matter
The Group’s revenue is primarily
generated from drilling and mining
services. The Group has service
contracts with a number of
customers in different geographical
locations with varying terms and
rates.
The accounting for new contracts
needs to be assessed to ensure
compliance with accounting
standards. The Group commenced
the service of a significant new waste
mining contract during the year.
The Group has material revenue
transactions around the year end
which creates potential for cut-off
risk, particularly noting the potential
for metres drilled and volume of
waste removed not yet invoiced at
year end date.
Due to compliance with accounting
standards for new contracts entered
into during the year and the cut-off
risk at the year end date, the
recognition and measurement of
revenue was considered to be a key
area of focus for the audit.

Our specific audit testing in this regard included:
•

•

Tested a sample of new and modified
contracts in the year by evaluating
Management’s IFRS 15 contract
assessments, testing details to contracts
and invoices, and assessing that the
related revenue recognition was in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS
15, in particular with regards to the
assessment of the new waste mining
contract.
Assessed whether the Group’s revenue
recognition policy was in line with relevant
accounting standards.

Recognition of revenue in the period
•
For a sample of invoices recorded in the
year, we checked the drilled metres to
customer-approved daily drill reports and
agreed rates per metre used to signed
contracts.
•
For a sample of invoices recorded in the
year, we checked the volumes moved to
customer-approved reports and agreed
rates per Bulk Cubic Metre used to signed
contracts.
•
We performed cut-off testing on drilling
and mining revenue in December 2021

and January 2022. We selected a sample
of drill and volume reports and verified
these to customer approvals and revenue
recorded.
Key observations:
We found Management’s revenue recognition policy
to be in line with relevant accounting standards and
the recognition and measurement of revenue in the
year to be appropriate.

Uncertain
provisions

tax

Refer to notes 8
and 35.

The Group operates in a number of
African countries and the local tax
authorities in certain jurisdictions
have challenged subsidiary tax filings
giving rise to tax claims against
companies operating in those
countries.

Our specific audit testing in this regard included:
•

•
The Group has been subjected to
historic tax claims in certain
jurisdictions and some of these are
still active.
This gives rise to a significant risk as
the recognition of uncertain taxes
requires Management to exercise
judgement in respect of a number of
areas as disclosed in note 1.3,
including disclosures in the financial
statements.

•

Therefore, this was considered to be
a key area of focus for the audit.

•

•

Review of the claims made against the
Group and correspondence with the
relevant revenue authorities to
understand the basis of the claims and
Management’s positions.
We assessed the appropriateness of the
provisions made in relation to these claims
against the relevant accounting standards
and if they are based on Management’s
current expectation of the most probable
outcome.
We considered and challenged the
judgements and assumptions of
Management in their assessment of the
provisions made. This included
consideration of the nature of the
correspondence with the revenue
authorities, previous payments made in
this regard and discussions with
Management regarding the nature of their
ongoing communications with the relevant
revenue authorities and their external tax
advisors to assess whether the provisions
are sufficient and appropriate.
We involved our in-country tax specialists,
where appropriate, to assist in reviewing
the assumptions made in these tax
matters.
We reviewed the sufficiency of the
disclosure made in the financial
statements in respect of these matters.

Key observations:
We found Management’s assessment of the
uncertain tax provisions and the related disclosure
to be reasonable and appropriate.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements. We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could
influence the economic decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.
In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use a
lower materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly,
misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the
nature of identified misstatements, and the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect
on the financial statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole and
performance materiality as follows:

Materiality
Basis for determining materiality
Rationale for the benchmark applied

Performance materiality
Basis for determining performance materiality
Rationale for the benchmark applied

Group financial statements
2021
2020
$
$
2,200,000
1,025,000
5% of adjusted Group profit before tax
We consider the use of 5% of adjusted Group profit before
tax to be the most appropriate benchmark since this
removes the impact of fair value gains and losses on
investments on the underlying profit of the Group and is
also a key measure for the users of the financial
statements.
1,540,000

717,500
70% of Materiality
The level of performance materiality was set after
considering a number of factors including the expected
value of known and likely misstatements and
management’s attitude towards proposed misstatements.

Component materiality
We set materiality for each component of the Group based on the size and our assessment of the risk of material
misstatement of that component. Component materiality ranged from $620,000 to $1,400,000 (2020: $600,000 to
$665,000). In the audit of each component, we further applied performance materiality levels of 70% of the
component materiality to our testing to ensure that the risk of errors exceeding component materiality was
appropriately mitigated.
Reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of
$110,000 (2020: $50,000). We also agreed to report the amount in aggregate of differences below this threshold but
in excess of $44,000 that in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual financial statements other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated
in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether
this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Corporate governance statement
The Listing Rules require us to review the Directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and
that part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Parent Company’s compliance with the provisions
of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review.
Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the
Corporate Governance Statement is materially consistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
during the audit.
Going
concern
and longer-term
viability

•
•

Other
provisions

Code

•
•
•
•

The Directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going
concern basis of accounting and any material uncertainties identified set out on page
62; and
The Directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the Group’s prospects, the
period this assessment covers and why the period is appropriate set out on page 57.
Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 62;
Board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and
principal risks set out on page 54;
The section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems set out on page 82; and
The section describing the work of the audit committee set out on page 80.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:
•

•
•

•

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Group and the
industry in which it operates, through discussion with management and the Audit Committee and our
knowledge of the industry. We considered the significant laws and regulations to be those relating to the
financial reporting framework, tax legislation and the listing rules.
We considered compliance with these laws and regulations through discussions with management and
the Audit Committee and reviewing minutes from board meetings of those charges with governance to
identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations.
We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including
how fraud might occur. In addressing the risk of fraud including the management override of controls, and
improper revenue recognition we tested the appropriateness of journal entries made throughout the year
by applying specific criteria; performed a detailed review of the Group’s year end adjusting entries and
investigated any that appeared unusual as to nature or amount; assessed whether the judgements made
in accounting estimates were indicative of a potential bias (refer to Uncertain Tax Provisions KAM) and
tested the application of cut-off and revenue recognition (refer to Revenue Recognition KAM).
We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all
engagement team members and component auditors, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or
non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements,
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations
or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the
less likely we are to become aware of it.
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with the Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent Company
and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Scott McNaughton (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London, UK
9 March 2022

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Consolidated
Statement
ofLOSS
Profit
or Loss
And
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR
AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
Other Comprehensive Income
Group
Note(s)

2021

2020

$

$

Revenue

3

226,793,266

134,961,874

Cost of sales

4

(120,491,246)

(80,065,718)

106,302,020

54,896,156

Administration expenses

5

(33,027,346)

(21,074,206)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments

6

(21,397,355)

(12,197,072)

51,877,319

21,624,878

244,998

256,557

(3,833,766)

(1,364,222)

33,716,756

13,574,332

82,005,307

34,091,545

(11,716,529)

(9,328,357)

70,288,778

24,763,188

Gross profit

Operating profit
Interest income
Finance costs
Fair value gain on investments at fair value

7
20

Profit before taxation
Taxation

8

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Movement in other reserve

-

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation

-

-

70,288,778

24,763,188

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

Earnings per share
Per share information
Basic operational earnings per share (c)

19.21

7.95

Diluted operational earnings per share (c)

18.91

7.86

9

36.98

17.76

9

36.40

17.55

70,174,784

24,571,452

Basic earnings per share (c)
Diluted earnings per share (c)
Profit (loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

113,994

191,736

70,288,778

24,763,188

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the parent

-

-

Non-controlling interest

-

-
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DECEMBER 31,as
Consolidated
Statement
of POSITION
Financial
2021December 31, 2021
at
Group
Note(s)

2021
$

2020
$

88,970,683

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

11

143,598,399

Right-of-use assets

12

9,851,343

629,657

Goodwill

13

1,252,348

1,252,348

Intangible assets

14

1,282,269

276,248

Prepaid expenses and other assets

19

Total non-current assets

6,460,000
162,444,359

91,128,936

Current Assets
Inventories

17

37,935,112

24,689,102

Trade and other receivables

18

42,212,147

18,903,656

Prepaid expenses and other assets

19

17,681,623

28,394,850

Investments at fair value

20

60,151,667

27,167,095

Current tax receivable

27

499,361

359,970

Cash and cash equivalents

21

30,577,249

35,701,894

Total current assets

189,057,159

135,216,567

Total Assets

351,501,518

226,345,503

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent
Share capital

22

19,006

18,878

Share premium

22

60,900,119

60,169,426

Equity-settled employee benefits reserve

24

3,185,450

1,926,994

Other reserve
Retained income

23

190,056
154,879,201

190,056
84,384,101

219,173,832

146,689,455

3,767,589

1,389,315

222,941,421

148,078,770

Non-controlling interest

15

Total equity
LIABILITIES
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans and borrowings

25

45,567,668

26,112,602

Lease liabilities

12

7,354,745

337,233

Deferred tax

16

34,196

13,755

52,956,609

26,463,590

Total Non-Current liabilities
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2021December 31, 2021
at
Group
Note(s)

2021
$

2020
$

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

26

46,500,122

39,711,217

Current tax payable

27

9,979,250

7,174,749

Loans and borrowings

25

16,887,692

4,581,111

Lease liabilities

12

2,236,424

336,066

75,603,488

51,803,143

Total Liabilities

128,560,097

78,266,733

Total Equity and Liabilities

351,501,518

226,345,503

Total Current Liabilities
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Share
capital

Share
premium

Total share
capital

Other
reserve

Equitysettled
employee
benefits
reserve

Total
reserves

Retained
income

Total
Nonattributable controlling
interest
to the equity
holders of
the Group /
Company

Total
equity

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

13,625

22,495,287

22,508,912

261,301

974,118

1,235,419

62,004,344

85,748,675

1,199,681

86,948,356

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

24,571,452

24,571,452

Total
comprehensive
income for the
year
Issue of shares

-

-

-

-

-

-

24,571,452

24,571,452

191,736

24,763,188

5,253

40,743,147

40,748,400

-

(458,740)

(458,740)

-

40,289,660

-

40,289,660

Expenses paid on
equity raise

-

(3,069,008)

(3,069,008)

-

-

-

-

(3,069,008)

-

(3,069,008)

Recognition of
share-based
payments

-

-

-

-

1,411,616

1,411,616

-

1,411,616

-

1,411,616

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2,102)

(2,102)

Movement to
intangible assets

-

-

-

(71,245)

-

(71,245)

-

(71,245)

-

(71,245)

Dividends

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2,191,695)

(2,191,695)

-

(2,191,695)

5,253

37,674,139

37,679,392

(71,245)

952,876

881,631

(2,191,695)

36,369,328

(2,102)

36,367,226

Group

Balance at
January 1, 2020

Purchase of shares
from minority
shareholders

Total
contributions
by and
distributions
to owners of
company
recognised
directly in
equity
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share capital

Share Total share
premium
capital

Other
reserve

Equitysettled
employee
benefits
reserve

Total
reserves

Total
attributable
to the equity
Retained holders of
income the Group /
Company

Total
equity

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

18,878

60,169,426

60,188,304

190,056

1,926,994

2,117,050

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

70,174,784

70,174,784

113,994

70,288,778

Total
comprehensive
income for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

70,174,784

70,174,784

113,994

70,288,778

128

730,693

730,821

-

(730,821)

(730,821)
-

-

-

-

Balance at January
1, 2021

Issue of shares

$

Noncontrolling
interest

$

84,384,101 146,689,455

1,389,315 148,078,770

-

-

-

-

1,989,277

1,989,277

-

1,989,277

-

1,989,277

Adjustment arising
from change in noncontrolling interest

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,071,688

5,071,688

2,264,280

7,335,968

Dividends

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,751,372)

(4,751,372)

-

(4,751,372)

128

730,693

730,821

-

1,258,456

1,258,456

320,316

2,309,593

2,264,280

(4,573,873)

Recognition of sharebased payments

Total contributions
by and distributions
to owners of
company
recognised directly
in equity
Balance at
December 31, 2021

19,006

60,900,119

60,919,125

190,056

3,185,450

3,375,506

154,879,201 219,173,832

3,767,589

222,941,421

97

CAPITAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Capital Limited

Annual Financial Statements for the year
ended December 31, 2021
Consolidated
Statement
of Cash Flows

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Group

Note(s)

2021

2020

$

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations

28

Interest income received
Finance costs paid
Tax paid

27

Net cash from operating activities

42,607,564

35,987,566

244,998

256,557

(3,423,815)

(1,340,098)

(9,030,977)

(6,577,555)

30,397,770

28,326,470

(46,303,585)

(42,232,001)

68,116

42,990

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

11

Purchase of intangible asset
Cash paid for asset acquisition
Purchase of investments at fair value
Proceeds from sale of investments at fair value
Cash paid in advance for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of other investments
Net cash from investing activities

(1,006,021)

(44,302)

-

(716,752)

(9,150,084)

(6,398,269)

9,774,463

6,562,856

(3,548,794)

(17,933,019)

107,805

-

(50,058,100)

(60,718,497)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from new loans

25

27,669,435

16,000,000

Repayment of loans

25

(6,973,921)

(1,062,766)

Repayment of leases - principal

(946,920)

(453,611)

Advance payment on ROU assets

(418,782)

-

(4,751,372)

(2,191,695)

Dividends paid

10

Gross proceeds on equity raise

-

40,289,660

Expenses paid on equity raise

-

(2,486,602)

Amount received from non-controlling interest on rights issue

875,968

-

Net cash from financing activities

15,454,408

50,094,986

Total cash movement for the year

(4,205,922)

17,702,959

Cash at the beginning of the year

35,701,894

17,620,623

(918,723)

378,312

30,577,249

35,701,894

Effect of exchange rate movement on cash balances
Total cash at end of the year
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Corporate information
Capital Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda. The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) provide drilling services including
but not limited to exploration, development, grade control and blast hole drilling services, mining services including but not limited to
earthmoving, fleet management and mine management, mineral analytical services including but not limited to geochemical analysis and
laboratory management, maintenance services, including but not limited to fleet maintenance and distribution of specialist mining supplies and rig
site technology services including but not limited to equipment rental, survey and geophysical logging and borehole management software
services for mining and mining exploration companies.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group provided drilling services in Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea, Egypt, Kenya,
Mauritania, Mali, Saudi Arabia and Tanzania. Mining services are provided in Egypt and mineral analysis are provided in Canada, Guyana,
Mauritania, Nigeria, Ivory Coast, Mali and Tanzania. The Group’s administrative office is located in Mauritius.
1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Group's annual financial statements are set out below.
1.1

Basis of preparation and going concern

The Group Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and are presented in United States Dollars since that is the currency in which the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated. Where additional information has been presented in the current year Annual Financial Statements, the prior year
amounts have been presented to be consistent with the presentation in the current year.
The Group Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured at
fair value.
Historical cost is based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these Financial Statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are in the scope of
IFRS 2, leasing transactions which are within the scope of IFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:
•
•
•

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going Concern
At 31 December 2021 the Group had a strong Balance Sheet, low debt gearing, $30.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and an investment
portfolio of $61.4 million providing extra flexibility to offset potential risk factors. The existing Standard Bank RCF is not due for renewal until July
2023. In 2021 the Group drew an additional $27.7 million from Macquarie Bank Limited bringing the total loan facility to $37.7 million, repayable
over three years. Further financing has also been agreed with key Original Equipment Manufacturers. Commercially, the Group continues to
secure and extend long term mining contracts with high quality customers, including the latest significant contract wins and extensions at Geita
Gold Mine. Given the Group had minimal operational impacts from COVID-19 over the past two years, the Directors no longer view it as a going
concern risk.
Management has assessed the going concern status of the business relative to three perceived risk areas. Management has determined these as
the key risk areas with due consideration of the business’ principal risks and key sensitivities in the going concern review period:
1. A material deterioration of macro-economic conditions
2. A prolonged operational disruption
3. A significant cost overrun on the Sukari Mining contract
4. Non-renewal of key contracts
Based on a significant downside scenario, the ability of the business to deal with a period of operational disruption was assessed, modelled on a
significantly impactful political risk event that causes no work to be possible in our key region Tanzania, with some further pressure from not
being able to put further financing in place as anticipated – modelled in aggregate. The business is able to manage cash flows appropriately
through this scenario. In addition the management considers the probability of the downside scenario happening to be remote, particularly in
view of the minimal disruption in previous times of political unrest, the strength of the gold price and therefore the importance of mining revenues
to Governments, and also the quality of customers.
The impact of a significant cost overrun on the Sukari Mining contract has also been considered. Without any mitigating actions, the
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1.1

Basis of preparation and going concern (continued)

impact on the cashflow is material but is not considered significant enough to threaten the going concern status of the Group.
While we have strong relationships with our customers, as shown by the long periods we have operated at our mine site contracts, we have
considered the impact of the non-renewal of key contracts. Nevertheless the impact is not significant enough to threaten the going concern
of the Group.
In view of the recent escalation of the Russia-Ukraine conflict and sanctions imposed on Russia and Belarus, the Directors have considered
the likely impact on the Group:
•
•
•
•

Initial indications show that the conflict has already impacted the oil price however the Directors do not anticipate a significant impact
on the Group based on the structure of the customer contracts
The conflict has pushed up the gold price which, since 24 February 2022, is trading slightly below US$2,000/ oz
The Group does not have significant suppliers in Russia or Ukraine and therefore the Directors do not envisage a disruption to the
Group’s supply chain
Additionally, the Group does not have any operations nor customers in Russia or Ukraine and therefore the Directors do not anticipate
a loss of revenue or default on amounts receivable as a result of the conflict.

The Directors have therefore assessed that there is no material uncertainty over the Group’s going concern due to the ongoing RussiaUkraine conflict. The Directors will continue to carefully assess the impact of this situation on the Group’s operations. Overall, the analysis
strongly underpins the going concern status and as a result the Board considers the business to be a going concern.
1.2

Consolidation

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the company and all subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are
entities (including structured entities) which are controlled by the Group.
The Group has control of an entity when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from involvement with the entity and it has the ability to
affect those returns through use of its power over the entity.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to the effective date
of disposal.
Adjustments are made when necessary to the annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those of
the Group.
All inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the Group’s interest therein
and are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interest even
if this results in a debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions and are recognised
directly in the Statement of Changes in Equity.
The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the movement in non-controlling interest for such transactions is
recognised in equity attributable to the owners of the company.
Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non-controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured to fair value with the
adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the controlling interest. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the business combination is
measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued. Costs directly
attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective
interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.
Any contingent consideration is included in the cost of the business combination at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Subsequent changes
to the assets, liability or equity which arise as a result of the contingent consideration are not affected against goodwill, unless they are valid
measurement period adjustments. Otherwise, all subsequent changes to the fair value of contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in either profit or loss or in other comprehensive income, in accordance with relevant IFRSs. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of IFRS 3 Business combinations are
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1.2

Consolidation (continued)

Business combinations (continued)
recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal Groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.
On acquisition, the acquiree’s assets and liabilities are reassessed in terms of classification and are reclassified where the classification is
inappropriate for Group purposes.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree are measured on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This treatment applies to non-controlling
interests which are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair values unless another measurement basis
is required by IFRSs.
In cases where the Group held a non-controlling shareholding in the acquiree prior to obtaining control, that interest is measured to fair value as
at acquisition date. The measurement to fair value is included in profit or loss for the year. Where the existing shareholding was classified as an
available-for-sale financial asset, the cumulative fair value adjustments recognised previously to other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity are recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
Goodwill is determined as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior to obtaining control, plus noncontrolling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree. If, in the case of a bargain purchase, the result of
this formula is negative, then the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss.
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to be impaired, that impairment is not
subsequently reversed.
Asset acquisition
In the event of an asset acquisition, the cost of the acquisition is assigned to the individual assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values.
Contingent consideration is accrued for when these amounts are considered probable and are discounted to present value based on the
expected timing of payment.
1.3

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of Annual Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to time, to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These
estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The critical judgements made by management in applying accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are outlined as follows:
Impairment of Property, Plant & Equipment
At the end of every year, management uses judgement to review the indicators of impairment of Property, Plant & Equipment. Depending on
those indicators, management will determine if an impairment review needs to be done. Refer to Note 11 for details on external indicators and
management assessment on the impairment of Property, Plant & Equipment.
Impairment of Goodwill
At the end of every year, management uses a value in use model to test for impairment of goodwill previously recognised. Refer to Note 13 for
details on estimates and management assessment on the impairment of Goodwill.
Going concern
There is an element of judgement involved in determining the financial forecasts and availability of cash and headroom over banking
facilities and covenants in the context of a macro downturn, major political unrest and non-renewal of contracts. Refer to Note 1.1 for the detailed
assessment on going concern.
New Contract Costs
Costs which can be directly attributable to fulfilling a new contract are identified for each specific new contract and recognised as
prepayment. New contract costs $2,608,530 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: $2,330,581) is included in the Prepaid expenses and other assets
(Note 19) in the Statement of Financial Position.
The Group capitalises costs incurred in fulfilling new contracts in order to satisfy the performance obligation in the future. All of the costs
capitalised are related to specific contract and recoverable from the client. During such assessment Management takes into account the fact
patterns specific to the contract involved.
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1.3

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

New Contract Costs (continued)
These new contract costs are then amortised over the term of the contract.
Contingent liabilities
Management applies its judgement to the fact patterns and advice it receives from its attorney, advocates and other advisors in assessing if an
obligation, including taxation related claims, is probable, more likely than not, or remote. This judgement application is used to determine
if the obligation is recognised as a liability or disclosed as a contingent liability.
Uncertain taxation provisions
The Group operates internationally in territories with different and complex tax codes.
Management exercises judgement in relation to the level of provision required for uncertain tax outcomes. There are a number of tax positions
not yet agreed with the tax authorities where different interpretation of legislation and commercial arrangements could lead to a range of
outcomes. The tax positions under review covers Corporate Income Tax, VAT, Minimum Income Tax, WHT and Payroll. Judgements are made
for each position having regard to the particular circumstances and advice obtained. Please refer to Note 6 uncertain tax positions.
Management also exercises judgement in assessing the availability of suitable future taxable profits to support deferred tax asset recognition.
Further details of the Group’s tax position are provided in Note 8.
Classification of spare parts
Management exercises judgement in assessing spare parts classification. Spare parts and servicing equipment are carried as inventory and
recognised as an expense when consumed. However major spares stand-by equipment qualifies as property, plant and equipment when an
entity expects to use them during more than one period and if spare parts and servicing equipment can be used only in connection with an item of
property, plant and equipment, they are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
Investments at fair value
The Group holds investments classed as Level 3. The Group has assessed the fair value of these investments based on a market-based
approach using multiples of a set of peer companies. In both cases, this requires Directors’ estimates to be used and judgements to be made
with any provisions recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Further details are provided in Note 20.
Value added tax (“VAT”)
Included in trade and other receivables are recoverable VAT balances owing mainly by the fiscal authorities in a number of jurisdictions. The
Group is following the relevant process in each country to recoup the VAT balances owing and continues to engage with authorities to estimate if
all amounts are recoverable and to accelerate the refund of the outstanding VAT balances.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Management assesses the appropriateness of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period. The
useful economic lives of drilling rigs were reassessed in the year and extended for a number of assets following rebuild and repairs done on
those assets. When the estimated useful life of an asset differs from previous estimates, the change is applied prospectively in the determination
of the depreciation charge.
Heavy mining equipment (“HME”) is depreciated using the unit of production method based on the estimated production hours. The estimated
production hours for each type of equipment is based on the original equipment manufacturers (OEM) standards, together with an assessment
by the Group’s asset management.
Share-based payments
In calculating the share-based payment charge for the year under IFRS 2 Share-based payments, certain assumptions have been made
surrounding the future performance of the Capital Limited share price and the number of employees likely to remain employed during the duration
of the option life period. In addition, in order to arrive at a fair value for each of the grants, certain parameters have been assumed for the grants
and these have been disclosed in Note 24.
Transportation costs - Freight and customs
The Group has significant inventory which is purchased across the world and is moved across multiple borders. In order to allocate freight and
customs incurred to inventories management makes estimates of active and slow-moving inventories and determine at the end of each year the
percentage of freight and customs costs which are attributable to inventory. Refer to Note 17 on details of inventories.
Inventory provisions
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. At year end, management estimates the net realisable value of inventories in
order to decide whether to make provision for obsolescence. Factors which are considered include the ageing profile of inventories, storage
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1.3

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Inventory provisions (continued)
conditions as well as the shelf life of specific inventories. Refer to Note 6 for details on the amount of inventory provision for obsolescence.
Incremental borrowing rate
The Group used estimates of its incremental borrowing rate to calculate the present value of future lease payments at the date of
adoption/commencement of the leases. The Group calculated its incremental borrowing rate based on existing loan facility arrangements. The
weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease arrangements entered into during the year was 7.0% (2020: 7.0%).
1.4

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Group holds for its own use or for rental to others and which are expected to be
used for more than one year.
An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets.
Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the
asset's carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the
asset's economic benefits are consumed by the Group. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter of their expected
useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying
amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss so as to write-off the cost of assets, less their residual values, over their expected useful lives
using the straight-line method.
For Heavy Mining Equipment (HME), equipment hours are most closely linked with the economic benefits of the asset. On this basis, the unit
of production method using equipment hours is the preferred method of depreciation for HME. This method of depreciation has been applied as
from 2021 when the first batch of HME will be commissioned and put into use for the Sukari Mining contract.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item

Depreciation method

Average useful life

Drilling Rigs

Straight line

5-20 years

Associated drilling equipment
Heavy Mining equipment
Motor vehicles
Camp and Associated Equipment
Leasehold improvements

Straight line
Production Hours
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line

2-7 years
6,000 - 80,000 hours
4-7 years
3-5 years
10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. There have been no
changes in the residual values of assets during the year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. The useful economic lives of drilling rigs were reassessed in the year and extended for a
number of assets. This has resulted in a lower depreciation charge in the year for those assets as seen on Note 6. This is a change in
estimate and therefore has no retrospective effect on the financial statements.
Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the
carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.
Capital spares
Capital spares are spare parts that are regularly replaced, usually as part of a general replacement programme. The parts removed are often
repaired or overhauled and used in the next replacement cycle.
The Group carries these spare parts and servicing equipment as inventories and recognises them as an expense when consumed. However
spare parts and servicing equipment that can only be used in connection with a specific item of property, plant and equipment and they are
expected to be used more than 1 year are recognised as property, plant & equipment.
Depreciation of spares that are capitalised commences when the asset has been installed and is capable of being used. The depreciation charge
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1.4

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Capital spares (continued)
is based on the expected useful life of the spare while it is being used, which may be shorter than the useful life of the asset to which it relates.
When the spare is itself replaced, the asset is derecognised.
1.5

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:
• It is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
• The cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. For intangible assets, amortisation is provided
on a straight-line basis over their useful life once the development of the software has been completed.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.
Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset may be
impaired. As a result, the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual value as follows:
Item

Depreciation method

Average useful life

Computer software

Straight line

10 Years

1.6

Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Broadly, the classification
possibilities, which are adopted by the Group, as applicable, are as follows:
Financial assets which are equity instruments:
•

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets which are debt instruments:
•
•
•
•

Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business model whose
objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows); or
Fair value through other comprehensive income. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under
a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the instruments); or
Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. (This classification automatically applies to all debt instruments which do not qualify as
at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income); or
Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This classification option can only be applied when it eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch).

Derivatives which are not part of a hedging relationship:
•

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities:
•
•
•

Amortised cost; or
Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. (This applies to contingent consideration in a business combination or to liabilities which
are held for trading); or
Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This classification option can be applied when it eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch; the liability forms part of a Group of financial instruments managed on a fair value basis; or it forms part of a
contract containing an embedded derivative and the entire contract is designated as at fair value through profit or loss).

Note 30 Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the Group based on their specific classifications.
The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the Group are
presented below:
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1.6

Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other receivables
Classification
Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and Prepaid expenses and other assets, are classified as financial assets
subsequently measured at amortised cost (Note 18).
They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group's business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on trade and other
receivables.
Recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. They are
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using
the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT and Prepaid expenses
and other assets. When considering ECL, the Group reviews historical and forward-looking information. The amount of expected credit
losses is updated at each reporting date.
The Group measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, which represents
the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the receivable.
A default event means when the Group deems that funds are irrecoverable and written off.
VAT recoverability
VAT is recoverable upon submission of returns and acceptance of the accuracy of these returns by the tax authorities.
Investments in equity instruments
Classification
Investments in equity instruments are presented in Note 20. They are classified as mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.
Recognition and measurement
Investments in equity instruments are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
investments are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value. Transaction costs are added to the initial carrying amount for those
investments which have been designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other transaction costs are recognised in
profit or loss.
Investments in equity instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised either in profit or loss or in other
comprehensive income (and accumulated in equity in the reserve for valuation of investments), depending on their classification. Details of the
valuation policies and processes are presented in Note 31.
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established (provided that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably).
Trade and other payables
Classification
Trade and other payables (Note 26), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured
at amortised cost.
Recognition and measurement
They are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus
transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
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Financial instruments (continued)

Recognition and measurement (continued
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method results in the recognition of
interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss in finance costs (Note 7).
Trade and other payables expose the Group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to Note 30 for details of risk exposure
and management thereof.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount which is deemed to be fair value. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held on call with banks.
1.7

Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and
prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax
authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the company and its
subsidiaries operate at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax
loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. This is not applicable for the Group as there are no deferred tax assets at the
end of the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the
tax arises from:
•
•

A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or
A business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in
the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a
different period, directly in equity.
When considering the appropriate accounting for current and deferred tax liabilities and assets in circumstances in which there is
uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will accept the position
adopted, assuming that the tax authority has full knowledge of all related information. If the assessed probability is that the tax authority will not
accept the income tax treatment adopted, in accounting for the current and deferred tax asset or liability, the Group makes an assessment of the
probable outcome of the uncertain tax position.
1.8

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.
A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
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1.8

Leases (continued)

consideration.
In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset under consideration is "identified", which
means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the contract and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution
throughout the period of use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the right to control the use
thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset only exists when the Group has the right to substantially all of the
economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the right to direct the use of the asset.
In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires significant judgement, the relevant
disclosures are provided in the significant judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty section of these accounting policies.
Group as lessee
A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease agreements for which the
Group is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense (Note 6) on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Details of leasing arrangements where the Group is a lessee are presented in Note 12 Leases (Group as lessee).
Lease liability
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by 1.8
using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
The definition of the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate states that the rate should represent what the lessee ‘would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term and with similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. In practice, judgement may be needed to estimate an incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives;
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
The amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
The exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
Lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and
Penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (or right-of-use asset). The
related payments are recognised as an expense in the period incurred and are included in operating expenses (Note 12).
The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest
method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on the lease liability is included in finance costs
(Note 7).
The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal options. The
assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options impact the lease terms, which significantly affects the amount of
lease liabilities and rights of use of assets recognised.
The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:
•
•
•
•
•

There has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate;
There has been a change in the assessment of whether the Group will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;
There has been a change to the lease payments due to a change in an index or a rate, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used);
There has been a change in expected payment under a residual value guarantee, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate;
A lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.
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1.8

Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
•
•
•
•
•

The initial amount of the corresponding lease liability;
Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;
Any initial direct costs incurred;
Any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
when the Group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories; and
Less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. However, if a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase
option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of a
lease.
For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined consistently with items of the same
class of property, plant and equipment. Refer to the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment for details of useful lives.
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ
from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. Each part of a right-of-use asset with a
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.
The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.
1.9

Inventories

Inventories relates to spare parts and consumables. They are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the
weighted average cost basis. Redundant and slow-moving inventory are identified and written down to their net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in
net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
1.10 Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount for an
individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.
1.11 Share capital and equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 'share capital' in equity. Any amounts received from the issue of shares in excess
of par value is classified as 'share premium' in equity. Dividends are recognised as a liability when they are declared.
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1.11 Share capital and equity (continued)
Cost of raising equity
There are two elements to consider in determining the accounting treatment of transaction costs.
1. Transactions costs related to an equity transaction.
2. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to an equity transaction.
Transactions costs that meet the criteria above are accounted for as a deduction from equity.
1.12 Share based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at the grant date.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee benefits reserve.
Market conditions and non-vesting conditions are taken into account when estimating the fair value of the equity-settled share-based payment.
As an exception, when the Group is obligated, in terms of tax legislation, to withhold an amount of employees’ tax associated with an
equity-settled share-based payment transaction (thus creating a net settlement feature), the full transaction is still accounted for as an equitysettled share-based payment transaction.
1.13 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries, wages and leave entitlements in the period the related services
is rendered. Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid in exchange for the related service.
Retirement Benefits
The Group does not have a legal obligation to provide for retirement benefits, however each subsidiary makes defined contributions for
retirement benefits as per the country’s statutory obligations and charged to Profit and Loss as payment falls due.
1.14 Revenue recognition
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates
and other similar allowances.
Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to either the stage of completion (over time) or at a point in time. The
Group recognises revenue from the following streams:
•

Revenue from drilling and mining contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as the drilling and mining services are delivered and
direct expenses are incurred;

•

Revenue from surveying is recognised at the contractual rates as the survey services is delivered;

•

Revenue from the use of special software used in surveying services is recognised when the services are rendered over time;

•

Laboratory analysis of drilling samples relates to sample analysis by MSA Laboratories provided to customers. Transfer of benefits
occurs when testing is completed for each sample received and results communicated to customers. Samples are received in batches
from customers and processed continuously. Revenue is recognised when testing of a batch is completed and when results are
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1.14 Revenue recognition (continued)
Rendering of services (continued)
communicated; and
•

Revenue for mobilisation of mining equipment and associated resources is recognised over the term of the contract.

Dividend and interest income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established (provided that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably). Dividend income was only
recognised when all the above criteria was met.
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
1.15 Translation of foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency
The individual Financial Statements of each Group Company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it
operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the Group Financial Statements, the results and financial position of each Group Company
are expressed in United States Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Group, and the presentation currency for the Group Financial
Statements.
Foreign currency transactions
In preparing the Financial Statements of the individual Group companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:
•

Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are
included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

•

Exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

•

Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purpose of presenting Group Financial Statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into United
States Dollars at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
On disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to Profit and Loss.
1.16 Contingent Liabilities
A Contingent Liability is a possible obligation from past events that will be confirmed by some future event or a present obligation from a past
event, but either:
•

The outflow of economic benefits to satisfy this obligation is not probable, or

•

The amount of obligation cannot be reliably measured.

In events where firm indications of a possible obligation exist the Group will use judgements based on estimates from expert advice to provide for
the portion of the possible expense.
1.17 VAT recoverability
The Group's subsidiaries are subject to value added tax (VAT) in the jurisdictions in which they operate. The amount of VAT liability is determined
by applying the applicable tax rate to the amount invoiced less VAT paid on purchases. When VAT paid on purchases exceed VAT charged on
sales of goods and services, the excess is regarded as recoverable upon the submission of VAT returns and the acceptance of these VAT
returns by the relevant tax authorities. VAT recoverable is reviewed for impairment at the end of each reporting date.
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1.18 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, if it is probable the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision
is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax discount rate specific to the
liability.
2.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1

Standards and interpretations effective from 1 January 2021 and which have no impact on the Group

Interest rate benchmark reform - IBOR 'Phase 2' (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)
These amendments to various IFRS standards are mandatorily effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, however, the
Group adopted them early from the previous reporting period. The amendments provide relief to Group in respect of certain loans (Note 25) whose
contractual terms are affected by interest benchmark reform. See the applicable Notes for further details on how the amendments affected the
Group.
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendments to IFRS 16)
Effective 1 June 2020, IFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical expedient for lessees accounting for rent concessions that arise as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and satisfy the following criteria:
(a)

The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration
for the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b)

The reduction is lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

(c)

There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may be accounted for in accordance with the practical expedient, which means the lessee does not
assess whether the rent concession meets the definition of a lease modification. Lessees apply other requirements in IFRS 16 in accounting for
the concession.
2.2

Standards and interpretations not yet effective

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB that are effective in future
accounting periods that the Group has decided not to adopt early.

Standard/Interpretation

Effective Date

Expected Impact

Years beginning on
or after
Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

January 1, 2022

Unlikely there will be
a material impact

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)

January 1, 2022

Unlikely there will be
a material impact

Reference to the Conceptual Framework: Amendments to IFRS 3

January 1, 2022

Unlikely there will be
a material impact

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS
16 and IAS 41)

January 1, 2022

Unlikely there will be
a material impact

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2)

January 1, 2023

Unlikely there will be
a material impact

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)

January 1, 2023

Unlikely there will be
a material impact

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments
to IAS 12)

January 1, 2023

Unlikely there will be
a material impact
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3.

REVENUE

Revenue from the rendering of services comprises:
Group

Drilling and associated revenue
Mining and associated revenue
Laboratory services revenue
Revenue from surveying
Information technology revenue

2021
$
172,537,359
33,300,731
15,651,317
5,303,859
-

2020
$
119,494,649
2,891,832
8,900,872
3,585,758
88,763

226,793,266

134,961,874

The Group has five revenue streams:
•

Drilling revenue relates to drilling services revenue where the terms of the contract with customers requires the Group to drill a
specified number of meters at a specified drilling rate. Under IFRS 15 it has been concluded that the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed.
The transaction price for drilling is price per meter drilled times number of meters drilled. The e-plod system is a day-by-day tracker of
the meters drilled per rig. This takes into account the meters, relevant rate per meter and leads to the revenue number. Revenue
recognition occurs when the relevant geologist/mine manager signs and accepts the e-plod report which is converted monthly/bimonthly into invoices.

•

Mining revenue relates to earth moving and equipment rental services provided at customers mine sites.
Revenue for the earth moving services is generated based on the bank cubic metres (BCM) moved multiplied by the rates per bank
cubic metre as per the contract. Recognition is at a point in time as the load and haul service is provided, which in turn fulfils the
performance obligations. Invoices are raised monthly after customer sign off and acceptance of the progress claim that details tonnage
of earth moved at the contracted rates.
The equipment rental contract consists of both the variable and fixed fee rates. Revenue is generated based on the fixed fee per
equipment plus the variable rate multiplied by the number of hours the equipment worked for the month. Invoices are raised monthly
with customer sign off on equipment engine hours. Customers are given 30 days credit periods for services rendered.
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•

Laboratory analysis of drilling samples relates to sample analysis by MSA Laboratories provided to customers. Samples are analysed
and invoiced as and when the results are obtained and communicated to customers. The turnaround time for a sample from collection
is between 14 and 20 days from receipt to invoice. Under IFRS 15 it has been concluded that the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed.

•

Revenue from surveying relates to short term hire of down hole surveying equipment. Under IFRS 15 it has been concluded that the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed. Meeting of performance obligations and transfer of benefits is
continuous.

•

Information technology revenue relates to bandwidth and other information technology services provided to customers. Under IFRS 15
it has been concluded that the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed.
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4.

COST OF SALES
2021
$

Employee cost
Consumables
Repairs and maintenance
Fuel
Camp operational cost
Other cost of sales
Freight and customs
Equipment Hire
Travel and accommodation
Safety gear and equipment
Establishment cost
Others

5.

Group

2020
$

50,592,673
13,399,813
16,859,411
3,707,324
4,042,900
8,349,937
10,557,625
1,497,625
3,877,335
2,109,610
1,099,407
4,397,586

33,770,990
9,770,568
7,037,815
6,242,538
2,042,942
4,633,308
7,224,426
585,515
2,162,750
1,096,992
2,190,654
3,307,220

120,491,246

80,065,718

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
2021
$

Group

2020
$

Employee cost
Professional fees
Insurance
Rental cost
Share based payment expenses

14,962,199
3,747,479
1,412,108
1,268,795
1,989,277

10,554,467
2,877,507
801,947
960,778
1,502,422

Others

9,647,488
33,027,346

4,377,085
21,074,206

6.

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

The following items have been recognised as expenses in determining profit from operations:
Depreciation
Group

Rights of use assets
Computer software
Drilling rigs
Leasehold improvements
Associated drilling equipment
Vehicles and trucks
Camp and associated equipment

2021
$
880,871
4,179
7,959,524
2,022,454
1,870,873
1,207,651

Mining equipment

7,451,803

-

21,397,355

12,197,072

Total depreciation

2020
$
418,902
3,075
6,929,234
28,147
2,122,559
1,513,992
1,181,163
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6.

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS (continued)
Group
2021

2020

$

$

7,601,916

4,694,838

65,554,872

44,656,658

1,989,277

1,502,422

67,544,149

46,159,080

453,869
3,747,479
313,250
278,487
856,692

778,847
2,877,506
486,674
273,036
245,015

Leases
Operating lease charges
Short term equipment rental
Employee costs
Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits
Share based compensation expense
Total employee costs

Other
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Legal and professional fees
Stock write off and provision
Other tax
Tax assessment provisioning
7.

114

FINANCE COSTS

Lease liabilities
Interest on bank loans
Other interest paid

177,962
3,501,051
154,753

56,065
902,334
405,823

Total finance charges

3,833,766

1,364,222
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8.

TAXATION
Group
2021

2020

$

$

Major components of the tax expense

Income tax - current period
Income tax - recognised in current tax for prior periods
Withholding tax - current period

8,074,306
224,385
3,397,396

4,107,127
2,824,544
2,414,413

11,696,087

9,346,084

20,442

(17,727)

-

-

20,442

(17,727)

11,716,529

9,328,357

Deferred
Current year
Prior year

Capital Limited is incorporated in Bermuda. No taxation is payable on the results of the Bermuda business. Taxation for other jurisdictions is
calculated in terms of the legislation and rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
Reconciliation of the tax expense
The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate on the profit or loss per
the statement of comprehensive income as follows:
Accounting profit

82,005,307

34,091,545

8,100,344

3,465,889

Foreign withholding taxes paid

3,397,396

2,414,413

Permanent differences

Tax at domestic rates applicable to profits and losses in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

(542,467)

110,791

Prior year under /(over) provision

224,385

2,824,543

Losses not recognised

536,872

512,721

11,716,529

9,328,356

Total taxation

The Group’s consolidated income tax expense is affected by the varying tax laws and income tax rates in effect in the various countries in which
it operates, which are mainly in Africa and Southeast Europe.
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8.

TAXATION (continued)

Uncertain income tax positions
The Group operates in multiple jurisdictions with complex legal and tax regulatory environments. In certain of these jurisdictions, the Group has
taken income tax positions that management believes are supportable and are intended to withstand challenge by tax authorities. Some of these
positions are inherently uncertain and relates to the interpretation of income tax laws. The Group periodically reassesses its tax positions.
Changes to the financial statement recognition, measurement, and disclosure of tax positions is based on management’s best judgment given
any changes in the facts, circumstances, information available and applicable tax laws. Considering all available information and the history of
resolving income tax uncertainties, the Group believes that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not likely have a material effect on the
Group’s financial position, statements of income or cash flows.
Summary of uncertain income tax positions
Tax jurisdiction

Related tax
years

Value of
assessment

Amount
provided

Expected
resolution

Zambia

2007 – 2013

$462,214

$181,254

2022

Tanzania

2016 - 2018

$1,526,159

$nil

2022

Although no amount has been provided in relation to the Tanzanian income tax assessment, $0.5m was required to be paid in order to formally
object to the assessment. Further information on the income tax assessments above and other non-income tax assessments is set out in Note
35 Contingencies.
9.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:
Group
2021

2020

Earnings for the year, used in the calculation of basic earnings per share ($)

70,174,784

24,571,452

Earnings for the year, used in the calculation of basic operational earnings per share ($)

36,458,028

10,997,120

189,765,149

138,367,746

Basic operational earnings per share (c)

19.21

7.95

Basic earnings per share (c)

36.98

17.76

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share
The earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share measures are the same as those used in the equivalent basic earnings per
share measures, as outline above.
Reconciliation of weighted average number of ordinary shares used for earnings per share
to weighted average number of ordinary shares used for diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic earnings per share

189,765,149

138,367,746

3,021,654

1,478,469

Adjusted for:
Effect of STIP and LTIP shares
Diluted share awards
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share
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9.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

Diluted earnings per share (continued)
Group
2021

2020

Diluted operational earnings per share (c)

18.91

7.86

Diluted earnings per share (c)

36.40

17.55

Share options granted in the previous year were anti-dilutive in nature and were not considered in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
of the previous year.

10.

DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends

4,751,372.00

2,191,695.00

During the 12 months ended 31 December 2021, a dividend of 1.3 cents (2020: 0.7 cent) per ordinary share, totalling to $2,470,714 (2020:
$958,866) was declared as the final dividend for 2020 and paid to the shareholders on 04 May 2021 (2020: 04 May 2020) followed by a further
dividend of 1.2 cents (2020: 0.9 cents) per share which was declared as interim dividend for 2021 totalling $2,280,658 (2020:$1,232,828) and
paid on 24 September 2021 (2020: 25 September 2020). The total dividend paid is $4,751,372 (2020: $2,191,695).
In respect of the year ended December 31, 2021, the Directors propose that a final dividend of 2.4 cents (2020: 1.3 cents) per share be paid to
shareholders on 10 May 2022 (2020: 04 May 2021). This final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and
has not been included as a liability in these Consolidated Financial Statements. The proposed final dividend is payable to all shareholders on the
Register of Members on 7 April 2022 (2020: 9 April 2021). The total estimated final dividend to be paid is $4.59 million (2020: $2.47 million). The
payment of this final dividend will not have any tax consequences for the Group.
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11.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

At 1 January 2020
Asset acquisition
Additions
Net transfers from subsidiaries
Disposal
At 31 December 2020

Drilling Rigs

Mining
equipment

100,819,329
-

-

8,384,997 26,511,913
-

-

(5,663,428)

Associated Vehicles and
drilling
trucks
equipment

Camp and
associated
equipment

Computer
software

Leasehold
improvement
s

18,242,405

9,975,155

36,073

-

673,324

193

1,125,881

1,799,398

6,561,093

4,082,033

1,367,144

2,095

-

46,909,275

-

(60,669)

-

-

14,240,417
-

60,669

528,071

Total

143,841,450

-

-

(474,773)

(284,748)

(38,448)

-

-

(6,461,397)

103,540,898 26,511,913

20,326,737

21,979,021

12,037,844

38,361

1,653,952

186,088,726

7,009,849

12,439,323

2,483,930

-

-

75,666,185

Additions

23,814,358

Disposal

(3,103,550)

(19,520)

(831,773)

(824,132)

(644,637)

-

-

(5,423,612)

-

2,813,654

(2,813,654)

-

-

-

-

-

59,224,772

23,691,159

33,594,212

13,877,137

38,361

1,653,952

256,331,299

Transfers from Associated drilling equipment
At 31 December 2021

124,251,706

29,918,725

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2020
Depreciation
Net transfers from subsidiaries

68,882,367

-

5,410,550

11,407,247

5,208,150

1,967

69,152

90,979,433

6,929,234

-

2,122,559

1,513,992

1,181,163

3,075

28,147

11,778,170

-

-

(52,111)

52,111

-

-

-

-

Disposal

(5,005,527)

-

(373,307)

(227,237)

(33,489)

-

At 31 December 2020

70,806,074

-

7,159,802

12,641,891

6,407,935

5,042

97,299

97,118,043

7,959,524

7,451,803

2,022,454

1,870,873

1,207,651

4,179

-

20,516,484

(2,940,714)

-

(700,176)

(751,640)

(509,097)

-

-

(4,901,627)

-

528,416

(528,416)

-

-

-

-

-

At 31 December 2021

75,824,884

7,980,219

7,953,664

13,761,124

7,106,489

9,221

97,299

112,732,900

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020

32,734,824 26,511,913

13,166,935

9,337,130

5,629,909

33,319

1,567,455

88,970,683

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021

48,426,822

15,737,495

19,833,088

6,770,648

29,140

1,556,653

143,598,399

Depreciation
Disposal
Transfers from Associated drilling equipment
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11.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Impairment and reversal of impairment
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets may be impaired. Property, plant and equipment was tested for impairment at the reporting date. As at this date, Management
concluded that the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment did not exceed the value in use and therefore, no impairment loss was
recognised on that basis.
A checklist is made against both the external and internal sources of impairment.
These indicators include:
•

Unexpected decline in market value of the asset

•

Adverse technological changes, market or legal environment

•

Impact of climate change transitions

•

Changes in customer demands which Capital Limited fails to respond

•

Visual inspections of the asset during scheduled maintenance

No indication of the above has been Noted with regards to the Group’s property, plant and equipment. Market Values are still stable and in line
with the carrying values on the assets. Capital Limited has a total of 109 drill rigs operational as at 31 December 2021.
All rigs that drilled during 2021 are deemed fit for purpose. Routine maintenance is carried out on the assets as required, including parts
change out and service.
12.

LEASES (GROUP AS LESSEE)

Details pertaining to leasing arrangements, where the Group is lessee are presented below:
Group
Machinery
$

Land & Buildings
$

Total
$

At 1 January 2020

-

679,991

679,991

Additions

-

368,568

368,568

Depreciation

-

(418,902)

(418,902)

8,332,484

629,657
1,773,126

629,657
10,105,610

Right of use assets

At 31 December 2020
Additions
Depreciation

(340,101)

(543,823)

(883,924)

At 31 December 2021

7,992,383

1,858,960

9,851,343

At 31 December 2020
Additions
Interest expense
Lease payments

8,332,484
96,385
(380,882)

702,277
368,568
56,065
(453,611)
673,299
1,354,344
81,577
(566,038)

702,277
368,568
56,065
(453,611)
673,299
9,686,828
177,962
(946,920)

At 31 December 2021

8,047,987

1,543,182

9,591,169

Lease liabilities
At 1 January 2020
Additions
Interest expense
Lease payments

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities on 1 January 2021 was 7% (1 January 2020: 7%).
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12.

LEASES (GROUP AS LESSEE) (continued)
Group
2021

2020

$

$

Lease liabilities
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:
Within one year
Two to five years

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

2,236,424
7,354,745

336,066
337,233

9,591,169

673,299

2,236,424

336,066

7,354,745

337,233

9,591,169

673,299

The machinery lease arrangements entered into by the Group during the year mainly relate to the Chrysos, Photon Assay units. The Group
recognises lease liabilities and right of use assets once the units have been commissioned for use on site. As at 31 December 2021, one
Chrysos unit had been commissioned.

13.

GOODWILL

Group

2021
Cost

Goodwill

1,252,348

Accumulated
impairment
-

2020
Carrying value
1,252,348

Cost
1,252,348

Accumulated
impairment

Carrying value

-

1,252,348

Reconciliation of goodwill - Group - 2021
Goodwill arose from the business combination with the acquisition of control in MSA Mineral Services Analytical (Canada) Inc. (MSA)
incorporated in Canada in 2019.
At 31 December 2021 the Group owns 76.93% of the share capital in MSA while other shareholders own the remaining 23.07% of
the shares. There is no difference in voting rights for any of the shares.
Goodwill Impairment
The G r o u p is required to test, on an annual basis whether goodwill has suffered any impairments. Discounted cash flows were used
to assess the goodwill as at 31 December 2021 and no impairment was found. The discount rate used was 16.7% (2020: 16.7%) with
growth rate of 3% (2020: 3%). Cash flow forecast was performed for 5 years up to 31 December 2026 with terminal values estimated
thereafter at a growth rate of 1.5% (2020: 1.5%). Goodwill will undergo impairment testing again in December 2022.
Key assumptions
The Group regards MSALABS Ltd as a single Cash Generating Unit (CGU) for the purpose of testing for goodwill impairment. The
recoverable amount for this CGU is based on value in use which is derived from discounted cashflow calculations. The key assumptions
applied in value in use calculations are those regarding Earnings Before Interest Tax & Depreciation (EBITDA), growth rates and discount
rates.

120

Capital
Notes
toLimited
the Annual Financial Statements

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2021

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
13.

GOODWILL (continued)
Forecasting EBITDA
For MSALABS Ltd, the Group prepared cashflow projections based on the most recent forecasts for the year ending 31 December 2022 and
the Group’s outlook on the health of the metals and mining sector over a five-year period.
Growth rates
Revenue growth rates applied to the value in use calculations for MSALABS Ltd reflect management’s strategy and outlook on the metals
and mining sector and particularly over the gold mining sector where a growth rate of 3% per year has been used as a base case scenario
with sensitivity analysis applied to growth rates ranging from 1 % to 5%.
Discount rates
The pre-tax discount rates used to assess the forecast cashflows for MSALABS Ltd was based on estimates of the risk-free rate and uplifted
by management’s own assessment of business risks and specific risks of operating in the metals and mining sector. This was estimated at
16.7% at 31 December 2021. Sensitivity analysis was applied to discount rates ranging from 14.7% to 18.7%.
Sensitivity analysis
A sensitivity analysis was performed, and management concluded that changes in the key assumptions did not result in an impairment of the
goodwill in MSALABS Ltd. Given the uncertainties related to Covid-19 discount rates of up to 18.7% and growth rates as low as 0.5% were
used in the value in use workings. Even at such level management concluded that no impairment was required.

14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 2021
$
Cost
At 1 January 2020
Additions

Computer
Software
303,191
44,302

Adjustment to opening balance

(71,245)

At 31 December 2020

276,248

Additions
At 31 December 2021

1,006,02
1,282,269

The intangible assets have not yet been amortised as they were still in the development stage at the reporting date. No impairment indicators
have been identified in respect of the intangible assets.
The additions to computer software during the year consist of expenditure on the Group’s Laboratory Information Management
System (LIMS) and the new ERP system which, as at 31 December 2021, was still in the development stage. Management expects
the ERP software to be commissioned during 2022.
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15.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

15.1 MSALABS Ltd
MSALABS Ltd, a 76.93% (2020: 74.79%) owned subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling interests (NCI). MSALABS
Ltd is incorporated in Mauritius and has operations globally.
Summarised financial information in relation to MSALABS Ltd, before intra-Group eliminations, is presented below together with
amounts attributable to NCI. Net intercompany assets and liabilities were $0.9m (2020: $2.5m)
Summarised statement of financial position

MSALABS Ltd
2021

2020
$

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets

7,481,076

5,368,792

9,792,814

4,991,797

17,273,890

10,360,589

347,638

216,654

Current liabilities

4,777,698

3,620,818

Total liabilities

5,125,336

3,837,472

12,148,554

6,523,117

2,673,353

1,389,315

Total assets

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Total net assets (liabilities)

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest
Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

MSALABS Ltd
2021
$
Revenue

$

12,247,313

8,025,007

(12,491,928)

(7,610,840)

(Loss)/ profit before tax

(244,615)

414,167

Tax (expense)/ credit

(301,408)

40,126

(Loss)/ profit for the year

(546,023)

454,293

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year

(546,023)

454,293

(Loss)/ profit allocated to non-controlling interest

(133,764)

191,736

Other income and expenses
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15.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)

15.2

CMS (Tanzania) Ltd
The Group’s interest in CK Washirika Limited was diluted to 49% (2020: 80%) following an ownership restructure in Tanzania. A new share
subscription agreement and shareholder agreement was executed on 12 November 2021, introducing a new shareholder and noncontrolling interest with a 51% ownership interest in CK Washirika Limited and an indirect interest in CMS Tanzania Ltd of 10.2%.
The restructuring resulted in a gain on change in ownership interest of $5.6 million recognised in the equity attributable to the owners of the
Group.
CK Washirika Limited is consolidated despite the Group owning less than 50% of voting rights. This is due to the Group having the practical
ability to unilaterally direct the relevant activities of CK Washirika Limited.
The profit attributable to non-controlling interest during the year is $0.2 million (2020: $nil) and the net assets of CMS (Tanzania) Ltd at the
reporting date is $10.7 million. The carrying amount of non-controlling interest at year end is $1.1m (2020: $nil).
Summary of movement in non-controlling interest during the year:

MSALABS Ltd

CMS (Tanzania)
Ltd

Total

$

$

$

Balance at 1 January 2021

1,389,315

-

1,389,315

Profit or loss

(133,764)

247,758

113,994

Adjustment arising from change in non-controlling interest:
- Rights issue

875,968

-

875,968

- Impact of change in ownership percentage

541,834

846,478

1,388,312

2,673,353

1,094,236

3,767,589

MSALABS Ltd

CMS (Tanzania)
Ltd

$

$

$

1,199,681

-

1,199,681

Balance at 31 December 2021

Balance at 1 January 2020
Total comprehensive income attributable to NCI

191,736

Total

191,736

Adjustment arising from change in non-controlling interest:
- Purchase of shares from minority shareholders
Balance at 31 December 2020

(2,102)

-

(2,102)

1,389,315

-

1,389,315
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16.

DEFERRED TAX
Group
2021
$

2020
$

Deferred tax liability
Excess of capital allowances over depreciation

(34,196)

(14,859)

Total deferred tax liability

(34,196)

(14,859)

Deferred tax asset
Excess of capital allowances over depreciation
The summarised position is as per below:
Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax asset
Total net deferred tax liability

-

1,104

(34,196)

(14,859)

-

1,104

(34,196)

(13,755)

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability)
At beginning of year

(13,755)

(31,481)

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference movement on tangible fixed assets

(20,441)

17,726

(34,196)

(13,755)

During 2021 the Group undertook an assessment of the likelihood of utilising older tax losses. At the reporting date, the Group
has estimated tax losses carried forward of $8.8 million (2020: $6.1 million) with a tax value of $1.7 million (2020: $1.2 million) available
for offset against future profits. All losses will expire between 1-4 years. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to these
carried forward tax losses due to uncertainty as to the realisation of future taxable profits against which the losses can be offset.
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Group

17.

INVENTORIES

Consumables
Goods in transit
Gross carrying value of inventory
Less impairment of inventory

2021

2020

$

$

36,303,937

25,808,939

2,197,983

398,208

38,501,920

26,207,147

(566,808)

(1,518,045)

37,935,112

24,689,102

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in the current year amounts to $13.4m (2020: $9.8m). During the year, the Group wrote off $1.3m
(2020: $385k) of inventory. A reversal of provision of $1.0m (2020: Provision of $102k) was made during the year, resulting in a decrease in the
carrying amount of the provision. Refer to Note 4 for details of the amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense in the period.

18.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
2021
$

2020
$

Trade receivables

42,212,147

18,903,656

Total trade and other receivables

42,212,147

18,903,656

Trade receivables have credit periods of between 30 to 45 days. The ageing of trade receivables is detailed below:
Current
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due over 90 days

31,548,218

11,596,311

7,011,229
1,329,602
886,293
1,436,805

5,127,789
1,176,83
629,344
373,382

42,212,147

18,903,656

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits for each customer.
Customers credit limits are reviewed annually. The Group’s credit risk is concentrated as the Group currently provides drilling services to a
limited number of major and mid-tier mining companies as well as junior explorers.
Included in trade receivables is the amount of $27,706,272 (2020: $13,516,950) receivable from five main customers.
The ECL model takes into account the historical credit loss experience, the ageing profile of trade receivables, the diversity of the customer base
as well as available forward-looking information regarding individual customers and the state of the mining sector in general.
The Group transacts mainly with mining companies listed on the stock exchanges. As such the ageing of accounts receivable is in good standing
and no ECL impairment has been provided. Therefore, the impairment for 2021 was $Nil (2020: $Nil). The Group has $2.3m outstanding balance
outside 60 days, and a suitable arrangement is in place with the client to recover the amount.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximate their fair values.
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19.

PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER ASSETS
Group
2021

2020

$

$

Prepayments

4,134,418

3,311,939

Capitalised contract costs
VAT recoverable
Accounts receivable - Sundry
Prepayment for fixed assets
Others

2,608,530
6,050,210
7,778,654
3,548,794
21,017

2,330,580
3,841,643
404,934
17,933,019
572,735

24,141,623

28,394,850

17,681,623

28,394,850

6,460,000

-

24,141,623

28,394,850

Current
Non-current

Non-current receivable of $6.5 million (2020: $nil) relates to the consideration due from the non-controlling interest in CK Washirika Limited. The
consideration will be settled against future dividends in CK Washirika Limited. In assessing the receivable for impairment, the Group has
considered the future cash flows to be generated by CK Washirika Limited through its investments in CMS Tanzania Ltd and MSA Laboratories
(T) Ltd, the provisions of the shareholder agreement and the credit worthiness of the non-controlling interest.
The Directors have assessed the expected credit loss allowance in respect of the non-current receivable to be immaterial.

20.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Group
2021

2021

$

$

51,958,649

16,233,516

8,193,018

10,933,579

60,151,667

27,167,095

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss:
Level 1 shares
Level 3 shares and derivative financial asset

The reconciliation of the investment valuations from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Details
At 1 January 2021
Additions
Disposal
Fair value gain/(loss)
Transfer from level 3
At 31 December 2021

126

Level 1

Level 3

Total

$

$

$

16,233,516
9,025,943
(6,377,163)
31,042,850

10,933,579
124,141
(831,199)

27,167,095
9,150,084
(6,377,163)
30,211,651

2,033,503

(2,033,503)

51,958,649

8,193,018

60,151,667
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20.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (continued)

Details
At 1 January 2020
Additions
Disposal
Fair value gain
Transfer to level 3
At 31 December 2020

Level 1

Level 3

Total

$
6,695,958
6,243,182
(4,454,428)
7,972,464

$
5,841,147
1,474,361
(1,698,277)
5,092,688

$
12,537,105
7,717,543
(6,152,705)
13,065,152

(223,660)

223,660

-

16,233,516

10,933,579

27,167,095

Fair value gain on recognised during the year consists of:

Valuation of equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Valuation of derivative financial assets through profit or loss
Profit or loss on disposal of equity investments

2021
$
33,054,048
554,903
107,805
33,716,756

2020
$
13,574,332
13,574,332

Fair value information
Level 1 shares
Market approach - Listed share price.
The Company’s interests in various listed shares are valued at the 31 December 2021 closing prices. No secondary valuation methodologies
have been considered as all the Company’s investments are listed on active markets.
Level 3 shares
(A) Market Approach – Market Comparables applying Directors’ estimate.
The Directors have reviewed the valuation methodology at 31 December 2021 and considered the most appropriate valuation methodology is a
multiples-based approach based on comparing the enterprise values of a peer Group with their respective consensus forecast EBITDA
(EV/EBITDA) across 2021 and 2022. The peer average for 2021 used was 4.7x and the average used in 2022 was 3.6x. This peer Group
average multiple is then applied to the forecast EBITDA of the level 3 investment, supplied by the level 3 company.
For the purposes of the disclosures required by IFRS 13, if the average multiple EBITDA increased by 25% across all the level 3 companies,
with all other indicators unchanged, in aggregate the level 3 investment value included in the balance sheet would increase from USD7.4 million
to USD9.7 million. The related fair value increase of USD2.3 million would be recognised in profit and loss. Alternatively, if the average multiples
used decrease by 25%, with all other indicators unchanged, in aggregate the level 3 investment value included in the balance sheet would
decrease from USD7.4 million to USD5.1 million. The related fair value decrease of USD2.3 million would be recognised in profit and loss. An
adjustment to forecast gold prices would have an impact on the Enterprise Values of the peer companies. The Directors do not have the
resources available to accurately determine the impact such a change would have on the valuation of the level 3 companies.
As at 31 December 2021 the Directors used a multiples-based approach based on comparing the enterprise values of a peer Group with their
respective mineral reserves and resources (EV/Reserves and resources). Since the end of 2020, Allied has purchased more assets and is now a
larger producing company in Western Africa. Therefore, while EV/reserves and resources was appropriate previously, Allied is now a producing
company. it is now more appropriate to use a multiples-based approach based on comparing the enterprise values of a peer Group with their
respective EBITDA (EV/EBITDA), which also takes into account the cost of extraction and the different operating costs of each mine.
The Directors also considered suitability of peers, specifically the impact that different mine lives would have across the peers. A full comparison
of the same peer Group of West African producing peers was performed and Noted that mine lives were comparable and took into account
recent additions in mining portfolio.
Level 3 derivative financial assets
The Group’s derivative financial assets consist of call options to acquire additional shares in a non-listed entity. The financial assets have been
valued using the Black Scholes option pricing model by comparing the key assumptions in the model to a peer Group.
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21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Group
2021
Cash on hand
Bank balances

22.

2020

$

$

119,533

63,693

30,457,716

35,638,201

30,577,249

35,701,894

2021
$

2020
$

200,000

200,000

188,780,903

136,248,953

SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

Authorised
2,000,000,000 (2020: 2,000,000,000) Ordinary shares of $0.0001 (2020: $0.0001) each
Number of ordinary shares
Balance at beginning of period
Number of shares issued
Balance at end of period
No of shares reserved for issue under options

1,273,935

52,531,950

190,054,838

188,780,903

-

-

On 25th March 2021, the Company issued 1,273,935 new common shares (valued at $730,821) pursuant to the Company's employee short term
incentive plan. The shares rank pari passu with the existing ordinary shares. Fully paid ordinary shares which have a par value of 0.01 cents,
carry one vote per share and carry rights to dividends.
Issued share capital
Balance at beginning of period
Share issued

18,878
128

13,625
5,253

Balance at end of period

19,006

18,878

The holders of ordinary shares have the same rights. They are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and to one vote per
share at the shareholders’ meeting.
Share premium

128

Balance at beginning of period
Share issue

60,169,426
730,693

22,495,287
37,674,139

Balance at end of period

60,900,119

60,169,426
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23.

OTHER RESERVE

Other reserves consist of $190,056 (2020: $190,056) which arose upon the acquisition of shares in MSA in 2019.
24.

EQUITY-SETTLED EMPLOYEE BENEFITS RESERVE

All employees of the Group are eligible to participate in the discretionary bonus incentive scheme approved by the Board of Directors. The
scheme incentivises the achievement of a range of short-term and long- term performance targets that are key to the success of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee grants at its discretion options or share awards at no costs to the employee based on individual performance.
Employees to whom options or share awards are offered are required to accept the offer prior to issuance of the certificate.
Grant terms are determined by the Remuneration Committee on the date of the grant. These include the number of options or share awards,
vesting terms, exercise price and expiry date which are communicated to employees in the offer notice. Options or share awards are forfeited
if the employee leaves the Group before the vesting date. If options are not exercised by the expiry date, they are cancelled. Details of the share
options or share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:
2010 Option Series
These options were granted in 2010 and expired in December 2020. The weighted average value at grant date was USD 0.078 per option.
These options are exercisable only at the weighted average exercise price of GBP 0.80 per option. If these options remain unexercised after a
period of 10 years from grant date they expire. No options have been exercised during the year. The number of outstanding options granted
under this series as at 31 December 2020 is NIL (2019: 2,160,000). There were no options granted during the year and 2,160,000 options were
cancelled.
Group
Figures in US Dollar

2021

2020

Number of options Number of options
Balance at the beginning of the year

-

2,160,000

Awards granted/(cancelled)

-

(2,160,000)

Balance at the end of the year

-

2016 - 2018 Shares Awards Series :
Vesting date

2016 Series
Granted on 01/4/2016
2017 Series
Granted on 01/4/2017
2018 Series
Granted on 03/04/2018

Number

Weighted
Expiry date
Weighted
average
average grant
date fair value
exercise
price
per option

1/3 on 01/04/2017
1/3 on 03/04/2018
1/3 on 02/04/2019

762,737

02/04/2019

-

£0.550

1/3 on 04/04/2018
1/3 on 04/04/2019
1/3 on 04/04/2020

596,363

04/04/2020

-

£0.375

125,994
563,678
244,899

03/04/2021

-

£0.505

on 03/4/2019
on 03/4/2020
on 03/4/2021

These share awards were valued at the closing price of the Company's ordinary shares at grant date. These share awards are converted to
ordinary shares upon vesting on a one-to-one basis.
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24.

EQUITY-SETTLED EMPLOYEE BENEFITS RESERVE (continued)

2019, 2020 & 2021 Short Term Incentive Plan
Share awards were granted under the 2019 Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP). The total value of the grant in shares was USD 357,864. The total
number of shares granted was 1,039,153 and the share price used in the calculation was GBP 0.29 which was the quoted price of the shares as
at 19 March 2020. Vesting date is 31 March 2021 and vesting is contingent on continued employment to that date. The Group has expensed nil
in 2021 (2020: USD 166,568).
Share awards were granted under the 2020 Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP). The total value of the grant in shares was USD 650,649. The total
number of shares granted was 698,204 and the share price used in the calculation was GBP 0.67 which was the quoted price of the shares as at
31 March 2021. Vesting date is 31 March 2022 and vesting is contingent on continued employment to that date. The Group has expensed USD
325,325 in 2021 (2020: USD 325,325).
Share awards were granted under the 2021 Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP). The total value of the grant in shares was USD 1,336,921. The
total number of shares to be awarded will be based upon the closing share price after the March 2022 closing period. Vesting date is 31
March 2023 and vesting is contingent on continued employment to that date. The Group has expensed USD 668,461 in 2021 (2020: nil).
2019 & 2020 & 2021 Long Term Incentive Plan
The 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was granted on 1 January 2019 with a single vesting date of 31 December 2021. The 2019 LTIP
consists of share awards. The costs are recognised on a straight-l i n e basis following the respective valuation methods. The share awards
have a nominal strike price of $0.0001.
The 2020 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was granted on 1 January 2020 with a single vesting date of 31 December 2022. The 2020 LTIP
consists of share awards. The costs are recognised on a straight-l i n e basis following the respective valuation methods. The share awards
have a nominal strike price of $0.0001.
The 2021 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was granted on 1 January 2021 with a single vesting date of 31 December 2023. The 2021 LTIP
consists of share awards. The costs are recognised on a straight-l i n e basis following the respective valuation methods. The share awards
have a nominal strike price of $0.0001.
Vesting conditions for 2019, 2020 and 2021 LTIP's are contingent upon:
i) the compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of the earnings per share (EPS) over the vesting period ii)
the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) over the vesting period
50% of the share awards are contingent on condition 1 (EPS), while the other 50% are contingent on condition 2 (TSR).
The share awards are valued separately due to the independent vesting conditions. Conditions 1 being a non-market related condition while
condition 2 is a market-related condition.
Condition 1: (EPS CAGR)
Condition 1 is a non-market condition with a variable number of equity instruments. Valuation of condition 1 is done using the modified grant
method which utilise a value method and a number component.
i) Value component: The value component is the grant date fair value of the share award based on the share price observed in the market on
grant date. This value remains constant during the life of the instrument.
ii) Number component: The number of equity instruments expected to vest is based on the EPS CAGR estimate at year end. Linear interpolation
is performed between upper and lower bound targets to obtain an estimate of the number of shares vesting. The estimated number of shares
vesting is revised at year end.
Condition 2: (TSR)
Condition 2 is a market condition with a variable number of equity instruments. The grant date fair value should therefore reflect the probability of
satisfying the market condition. The binomial model is an appropriate valuation model as it considers the different possible outcomes while
allowing the adjustment of intrinsic value for the vesting conditions. The share-based payment should not be adjusted for stock price changes
related to the market condition on subsequent valuation dates.
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24.

EQUITY-SETTLED EMPLOYEE BENEFITS RESERVE (continued)

The second condition utilised a binomial model with the following inputs for the 2019, 2020 and 2021 LTIP:

Volatility

2019 LTIP

2020 LTIP

2021 LTIP

37.16%

37.06%

41.56%

GBP 0.3950

Fair value at grant date

GBP 0.3950

GBP 0.3283

Risk Free Rate

1.9%

1.88%

Dividend yield

3.45%

1.79%

1.52%
3.28%

Exercise price

USD 0.0001

USD 0.0001

USD 0.0001

Volatility periods

1,261

1,301

1,264

*Volatility for the 2019 LTIP was calculated using the daily share price movement from 01 January 2014 to 31 December 2018.
*Volatility for the 2020 LTIP was calculated using the daily share price movement from 01 January 2015 to 31 December 2019.
*Volatility for the 2021 LTIP was calculated using the daily share price movement from 01 January 2016 to 31 December 2020.
Long Term Incentive Plans

Vesting Date

Remaining
Shares

Remaining
Shares

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

Expected total
value with inputs
31/12/2021
USD

Expected total
value with inputs
31/12/2020
USD

2019 LTIP

31/12/2021

2,143,105

2,143,105

864,039

866,804

2020 LTIP

31/12/2022

1,645,908

1,645,908

1,016,405

1,019,616

2021 LTIP

31/12/2023

1,748,241

-

1,107,460

-
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25.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Group

Balance at the beginning of the year
Amounts received during the year
Credit facility received for the purchase of rigs
Interest accrued during the year
Interest paid during the year
Commitment fees expensed/paid
Principal repayments during the year
Less: Current portion included under current liabilities
Due after more than one year

2021

2020

$

$

30,693,713
27,669,435
10,834,144
3,217,253
(2,967,733)
(17,531)
(6,973,921)

13,194,210
16,000,000
2,649,798
1,196,50
(1,098,96
(185,070)
(1,062,766)

62,455,360

30,693,713

(16,887,692)

(4,581,111)

45,567,668

26,112,602

Long-term liabilities consist of:
(a) $15 million revolving credit facility (“RCF”) provided by Standard Bank (Mauritius) Limited
The RCF was renewed on 30 July 2020 for a further term of 3 years. The interest rate on the RCF is the prevailing three month US LIBOR
(payable in arrears) plus a margin of 6.5% , and an annual commitment fee of 2.275% is charged on any undrawn balances. The amount
utilised on the RCF is $15 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: $15 million).
Under the terms of the RCF, the Group is required to comply with certain financial covenants relating to:
•

Interest Cover Ratio

•

Debt EBITDA Ratio

•

Debt Equity Ratio

•

Total Tangible Net Worth

In addition CAPD (Mauritius) Limited is also required to comply with the Total Tangible Net Worth covenant.
Security for the Standard Bank (Mauritius) Limited facility comprises:
The RCF is secured by various pledges over the shares and claims of the Group’s entities in Cote d’Ivoire and Tanzania together with the
assignment of material contracts and their collection accounts in these jurisdictions and a debenture over the rigs in Tanzania.
As at the reporting date and during the period under review, the Group has complied with all covenants attached to the loan facilities.
(b) $ 3.8 million credit facility provided by Epiroc Financial Solutions AB
The facility was signed on 6 September 2019 and drawn down against the purchase of five rigs. The term of the facility is four years repayable in
46 monthly instalments. Interest is charged at a with a fixed rate of 8.47% per annum (payable monthly in arrears). As at 31 December 2021, an
amount of $1.8 million (2020: $2.7 million) remained outstanding under this facility.
(c) $2.6 million credit facility by Epiroc Financial Solutions AB
The facility was signed on 26 November 2020 and drawn down against the purchase of three rigs. The term of the facility is 4 years repayable in
46 monthly instalments. Interest is charged at a fixed rate of 8.25% per annum (payable monthly in arrears). As at 31 December 2021, an
amount of $1.9 million (2020: $ 2.6 million) remained outstanding under this facility.
(d)

$2.5 million credit facility by Epiroc Financial Solutions AB

This new facility was signed on 01 May 2021 and drawn down against the purchase of three rigs. The facility is repayable in 46 monthly
instalments. The interest rate is the prevailing three-month US LIBOR plus a margin of 4.8%. As at 31 December 2021, an amount of $2.4
million remained outstanding under this facility.
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25.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)
(e) $37.7 million term loan provided by Macquarie Bank Limited (London Branch)
On 25th September 2020, the Group entered into a senior secured, asset backed term loan facility with Macquarie Bank Limited. The term
of the loan is three years repayable in quarterly instalments with an interest rate on the facility of the prevailing three-month US LIBOR plus
a margin of 7.75% per annum (payable quarterly in arrears). The loan is secured over certain assets owned by the Group and currently
located in Egypt and Cote d’Ivoire together with guarantees provided by Capital Limited, Capital Drilling Egypt LLC and Capital Mining
Services SARL. The Group drew an additional $27.7 million in 2021. The facility was fully drawn as at 31 December 2021 (2020: fully
drawn).
During the year under review, the Group has complied with all covenants that attached to both the RCF and the term loan.
(f) $8.5 million term loan facility with Sandvik Financial Services AB (PUBL)
On 19 November 2020, the Group entered into a new term loan facility agreement with Sandvik Financial Services AB (PUBL). The facility is
for up to $8.5 million for the purchase of equipment from Sandvik AB, available in not more than four tranches until 31 December 2021.
Each tranche is repayable over a period of five years. Interest is payable quarterly in arrears at 5.45% per annum on the drawn amount. As
at 31 December 2021 $8.3 million of the facility was used and $0.2 million of the facility remained undrawn (2020: $8.5 million remained
undrawn).
During the year under review, the Group has no covenants that are attached to the facility.
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26.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021

Group

2020

$

$

22,137,469
11,107,425
9,033,748

19,869,806
7,583,742
6,053,433

Financial instruments:
Trade payables
Other payables - Accrued expenses
Other payables - Employee related liabilities
Non-financial instruments:
Deferred income

4,221,480

6,204,236

46,500,122

39,711,217

1,688,592
2,532,888
4,221,480

1,815,874
4,388,362
6,204,236

Deferred income
Current
Non-current

Trade payables comprise liabilities for the purchase of goods and services and have terms ranging from 60 to 90 days. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the appropriate credit time frame.
The amount received in advance refers to the Sukari project.
Trade and other payables approximate their fair values.
27.

CURRENT TAX PAYABLE (RECEIVABLE)

Current tax receivable
Normal tax
Withholding tax

95,179

178,702

404,182

181,268

499,361

359,970

7,814,794

4,722,718

Current tax payable
Normal tax
Withholding tax payable

2,164,456

2,452,031

9,979,250

7,174,749

6,814,779

4,046,249

Amounts charged to the statement of comprehensive income (excluding deferred tax)

11,696,087

9,346,085

Net amount payable at the end of the year

(9,479,889)

(6,814,779)

The taxation paid for the period under review can be reconciled as follows:
Net amount payable at the beginning of the year

Total Taxation Paid

134

9,030,977

6,577,555

Capital Limited

Notes
to theStatements
AnnualforFinancial
Statements
Annual Financial
the year ended
December 31, 2021

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
28. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
28.1

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Group
2021

2020

$

$

82,005,307

34,091,545

Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposals
Depreciation of Right of use assets
Share-based payment
Fair value gain on investment
Interest income
Finance costs
Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss on foreign cash held

20,516,484
453,869
883,923
1,989,277
(33,716,756)
(244,998)
3,833,766
918,723

11,778,170
778,847
418,902
1,411,616
(13,574,332)
(256,557)
1,364,222
(378,312)

Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

(13,246,010)
(26,879,489)
6,093,468

(7,074,833)
(5,170,082)
12,598,380

42,607,564

35,987,566

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

28.2

RECONCILIATION OF BORROWINGS AND LEASES
Loans and
borrowings

Leases liabilities
Total

$

$

$

At 1 January 2021

30,693,713

673,299

31,367,012

Cash flows

17,727,781

(946,920)

16,780,861

10,834,144

-

10,834,144

3,217,253

177,962

3,395,215

Non-cash flows:
-

Credit facility received

-

Interest accruing in the period

-

Commitment fees expensed

-

Additions to leases

At 31 December 2021

(17,531)

-

(17,531)

-

9,686,828

9,686,828

62,455,360

9,591,169

72,046,529

Loans and
borrowings

Leases liabilities
Total

$

$

$

At 1 January 2020

13,194,210

702,277

13,896,487

Cash flows

13,838,271

(453,611)

13,384,660

Non-cash flows:
-

Credit facility received

2,649,798

-

2,649,798

-

Interest accruing in the period

1,196,504

56,065

1,252,569

-

Commitment fees expensed

(185,070)

-

(185,070)

-

Additions to leases

-

368,568

368,568

30,693,713

673,299

31,367,012

At 31 December 2020
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29.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal Management Reports regarding components of the Group. These are regularly
reviewed by the Chair in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. Operating segments are
identified based on the regions of operations. For the purposes of the segmental report, the information on the operating segments have been
aggregated into the principal regions of operations of the Group.
The Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are therefore:
Africa
Rest of world

Derives revenue from the provision of drilling and mining services, surveying, IT support services and mineral
assaying.
Derives revenue from the provision of drilling services, surveying, IT support services and mineral assaying. The
segment relates to jurisdictions which contribute a relatively small amount of external revenue to the Group. These
include Saudi Arabia and Canada.

Segmental revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segment:
2021

Africa
$

External revenue

212,730,761

14,062,504

226,793,266

84,884,224

(31,732,012)

53,152,213

Segment profit (loss)

Rest of world
$

Consolidated
$

Central administration costs and depreciation

(1,274,894)

Profit from operations

51,877,319
244,998

Interest income
Finance charges

(3,833,766)

Fair value gain on investments at fair value

33,716,756

Profit before tax

82,005,307

The following customers from the Africa segment contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue
2021
%
16%
37%

Customer A
Customer B

2020

Africa
$

External revenue

118,892,158

16,069,716

134,961,874

42,983,120

(19,213,658)

23,769,462

Segment profit (loss)
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Rest of world
$

2020
%
22%
30%

Consolidated
$

Central administration costs and depreciation

(2,144,584)

Profit from operations

21,624,878

Interest income
Finance charges
Fair value gain on investments at fair value

256,557
(1,364,222)
13,574,332

Profit before tax

34,091,545
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29.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit
(loss) earned by each segment without allocation of central administration costs, depreciation, interest income, share of losses from associate,
finance charges, losses of investment recognised at FVTPL, and income tax. This is the measure reported to the Chair for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segment:
Group
P
2021
$

2020
$

Segment assets:
Africa
Rest of world

421,186,192

276,239,160

75,429,655

48,615,789

Total segment assets

496,615,847

324,854,949

Head Office companies

278,034,723
774,650,570

209,060,235

(423,149,052)

(307,569,681)

351,501,518

226,345,503

226,314,805

150,572,691

Eliminations
Total Assets

533,915,184

Segment liabilities:
Africa
Rest of world

28,407,677

37,338,422

Total segment assets

254,722,482

187,911,113

Head Office companies

269,589,374

189,124,661

Eliminations
Total Liabilities

524,311,856

377,035,774

(395,751,759)

(298,769,041)

128,560,097

78,266,733

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the Chair monitors the tangible, intangible
and financial assets attributable to each segment. All assets are allocated to reportable segments with the exception of property, plant and
equipment used by the head office companies and investments amounts of $15.2 million (2020: $19.2 million) included in other receivables, and
$10.1 million (2020: $24.8 million) in cash and cash equivalents held by the Head Office companies.
As part of the reporting on segment performance, all the liabilities have been allocated to the respective segments with the exception of the longterm liabilities of $47.1 million (2020: $28.7 million) and part of the trade payables and intercompany balances held at the level of the head office
which is further eliminated at the Group level.
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29.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information
Non-Cash items included in profit or loss:
Group
2021
$

2020
$

Depreciation
Africa
Rest of world
Total segment depreciation
Head Office companies

20,124,602

10,151,562

880,559

921,913

21,005,161

11,073,475

392,194

1,123,597

21,397,355

12,197,072

343,275

602,944

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Africa
Rest of world
Total segment loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Head Office companies

97,015

15,178

440,290

618,122

13,579
453,869

160,72
5
778,847

(1,010,503)
1,324,318

448,916
384,016

(565)
313,250

832,932

-

(346,259)

313,250

486,673

Impairment on Inventory
Africa
Stock Provision
Stock Write Offs
Rest of world
Stock Write Offs
Total segment impairment
Head Office companies

Additions to property, plant and equipment
Africa

72,654,860

Rest of world
Total segment additions to property, plant and equipment
Head Office companies

45,533,258

1,094,378

1,124,608

73,749,238

46,657,866

1,916,947

251,409

75,666,185

46,909,275

Segmental reporting summary by region:
Revenue

Middle East / North Africa
South and East Africa
West Africa
Others
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2021
$
89,307,774
52,055,578
78,186,571
7,243,343

2020
$
44,620,151
43,448,759
39,699,664
7,193,300

226,793,266

134,961,874

Non-current assets
2021
$
75,919,256
34,338,287
39,508,301
12,678,515

2020
$
41,357,995
12,246,215
24,682,269
12,842,457

162,444,359 91,128,936
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29.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (continued)
The business has considered this segmental distribution to be appropriate as it represents the discrete areas of operations that make up the
Group’s revenue stream.
30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital risk management
The Group manage their capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2020.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (refer to Note 25), cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 21) and equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings and the statement of changes in equity.
The Group’s capital structure and going concern are dependent on the company’s ability to obtain cash resources from its subsidiaries.
There are currently no severe long-term restrictions in place which impairs the Company’s ability to repatriate funds from its subsidiaries.
Under the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”) from Standard Bank (Mauritius) Limited and term loan provided by Macquarie Bank
Limited, the Group is required to comply with certain financial covenants relating to:
•

Interest coverage

•

Gross debt to EBITDA ratio

•

Debt to Equity ratio

•

Tangible net worth

•

Loans to value ratio (applicable only to loan from Macquarie Bank Limited)

In order to meet Capital Risk Management objectives, the Group aims to ensure it meets these financial covenants attached to the loans.
There have been no breaches of the financial covenants during the reporting period.
Risk Management is conducted within a framework of policies and guidelines that are continuously monitored by Management and the Board of
Directors. The objective is to minimise exposure to market risks (interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk.

Gearing
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:
Group
2021
$
Lease liabilities

2020
$

(9,591,169)

(673,299)

(62,455,360)

(30,693,713)

(72,046,529)

(31,367,012)

30,577,249

35,701,894

Net (debt)/cash

(41,469,280)

4,334,882

Equity

222,941,421

148,078,770

Total long-term liabilities

25

Total borrowings
Cash & cash equivalents

Gearing ratio

21

(18.6)%

2.9 %
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Categories of financial instruments
The following table details the categories of financial instruments and their carrying values in the Statement of F inancial P osition for the
Group.

Categories of financial assets
Group – 2021

Note(s)
Investments at fair value
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

20
18
21

Fair value through
profit or loss Mandatory

Amortised cost

Total

60,151,667
-

42,212,147
30,577,249

60,151,667
42,212,147
30,577,249

60,151,667

72,789,396

132,941,063

Group – 2020

Note(s)

Fair value through
profit or loss Mandatory

Amortised cost

Total

Investments at fair value

20

27,167,095

-

27,167,095

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

18
21

-

18,903,656
35,701,894

18,903,656
35,701,894

27,167,095

54,605,550

81,772,645

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

140

•

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

•

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

•

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. For further categorisation, refer to Note 20.
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Categories of financial liabilities
Group – 2021

Trade and other payables

Note(s)

Amortised cost

Total

26

42,278,642

42,278,642

62,455,360

62,455,360

104,734,002

104,734,002

Note(s)

Amortised cost

Total

26

33,506,982

33,506,982

30,693,713

30,693,713

64,200,695

64,200,695

Loans and borrowings

Group – 2020

Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings

At 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss or other comprehensive income
(2020: $Nil).
The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position for the Group approximate their fair values.
Financial risk management
Foreign currency risk
The Group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. In order to manage the Group’s risk to
foreign currency fluctuations, the Group tries to match the currency of operating costs with the currency of revenue as well as the currency of
financial assets with currency of financial liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are reviewed regularly by
Management to ensure that the Group is not unduly exposed to foreign currencies risks. Further to this, the Group manages its exposure on
foreign cash balances by converting excess local currency cash to United States Dollar to minimise local currency cash balances maintained.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets, cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and
monetary liabilities, trade payables, at December 31, 2021 are as follows:
Group
2021

2020

$

$

Financial assets
Mauritanian Ouguiya (2021: MRU 108,847,100; 2020: MRU 32,627,043)
West African CFA (2021: XOF 12,123,423,948; 2020: 5,366,151,913)
All other currencies

3,303,983
20,723,802
4,430,307

891,937
9,862,076
12,169,139

28,458,092

22,923,152
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Group
2021

2020

$

$

4,500,602
5,429,003

1,934,583
6,086,957

9,929,605

8,021,540

Financial liabilities
Euro (2021: Eur 3,978,532; 2020: Eur1,600,351)
All other currencies
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% change in the United States Dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. The
sensitivity analysis includes the outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items at year end and adjusts their translation for a 10%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit before tax where the United States Dollar strengthens
by 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the United States Dollar against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit before tax.
Egyptian Pound
Tanzanian Shillings
West African CFA
All other currencies

1,092,377
959,615
(1,189,835)
(218,578)

568,546
840,790
(1,912,506)
69,608

643,579

4,752

Interest rate risk management
As a result of changes in interest rates, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at variable interest rates
and therefore borrowing costs could increase with rate increases. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining a conservative gearing ratio.
The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed below.
Interest rate sensitivity analysis:
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.
For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared using the average balance outstanding for the year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key Management personnel and represents Management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit before taxation for the year ended
December 31, 2021 would decrease by $168,199 (2020: $69,105). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable rate borrowings. The decrease in the Group’s sensitivity to interest rates, is directly attributable to the variable interest rate long-term
debt facilities, offset by the settlements that occurred during the year, as disclosed in Note 25.
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Equity price risk management
The Group holds equity investments and is exposed to equity price risk. Equity investments are held for strategic purposes rather than trading
purposes and the Group does not actively trade these investments. The investments are actively monitored and proactively managed. New
investments are required to satisfy a number of criteria with non-executive oversight.
If equity prices had been 5% higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net equity for the year ended December 31,
2021 would increase by $2,597,932 (2020: $811,676)
Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. Credit risk
relates to potential exposure on trade and other receivables and bank balances.
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits for each customer.
Customers credit limits are reviewed annually. The Group’s credit risk is concentrated as the Group currently provides mining and drilling
services to a limited number of major and mid-tier mining companies as well as junior exploration companies.
The Group's exposure to credit risk is minimized as customers are given 30 to 45 days credit periods for services rendered.
As at 31 December 2021, 3 customers individually contributed 10% or more to the Group's trade receivables (2020: 4 customers).
Further disclosures regarding trade and other receivables, which are neither past due nor impaired, are provided in Note 18.
The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit- rating
agencies.
No significant increase in the credit risk has been identified in respect of the Group's customers during the year and as at 31 December 2021, no
expected credit loss allowance has been recognised (2020: $nil) as the Group has assessed it to be immaterial.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for Liquidity Risk Management rests with the Board of Directors. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, banking and reserve borrowing facilities, continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and by matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
Liquidity risk tables:
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial assets and liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The
tables for assets have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be
earned on those assets. The tables for liabilities represent undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest repayment date on
which the Group can be required to pay at the reporting date:

2021

1 month
$

1 - 3 months
$

3 months -1
year
$

1 - 5 years
$

Financial assets
Financial Assets under Amortised Cost

35,087,344

4,835,352

2,159,412

130,039

21,187,328
1,247,470
182,089

16,550,484
2,350,262
356,695

6,123,628
13,300,009
1,697,640

2,638,682
45,557,619
7,354,745

22,616,887

19,257,441

21,121,277

55,551,046

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing - Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost
Variable interest rate instruments
Lease liability
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

2020

1 month

1 - 3 months

Financial assets
Financial Assets under Amortised Cost

$

$

3 months -1
year
$

1 - 5 years

12,466,840

5,839,028

558,197

39,591

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing - Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost
Variable interest rate instruments
Lease liability

19,037,074
272,605
32,900

11,610,031
455,232
66,445

7,983,036
4,927,913
236,721

1,081,076
27,186,868
337,233

19,342,579

12,131,708

13,147,670

28,605,177

$

Financing facilities
The following table details the Group’s secured loan facilities (undiscounted) at the reporting date with a maturity date through to 2021 and
which may be extended by mutual agreement.
Group

Available amount

2021
$

2020
$

70,100,000

25,000,000

Unutilised amount

(3,000,000)

-

Utilised amount

67,100,000

25,000,000

31.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value adjustment on financial assets through profit and loss (investments)
The Group’s fair value adjustment on financial assets through profit and loss are listed and unlisted equity securities in the mining industry and
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The listed equity securities are designated as Level 1 financial assets in the fair
value hierarchy. Their fair value is determined using quote bid prices in an active market. The fair value of these financial assets FVPTL
amounted to $51,958,649 (2020: $16,233,516).
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined using standard valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where available and rely as little as possible on Group specific estimates. The
Directors consider that the carrying value amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
Consolidated Financial Statements are approximately equal to their fair values. The fair values disclosed for the financial assets and financial
liabilities are classified in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy have been assessed to approximate their carrying amounts based on a peer
Group analysis.
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32.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The Group auditors are BDO LLP (“BDO”). The Group has engaged BDO and other audit firms to provide both audit and non-audit services to its
various subsidiaries.
Group

Fees paid to the Group’s auditor
The audit of the Group’s annual Financial Statements
Non-audit services - Group
Fees paid to associates of the Group’s auditor
The audit of the Group’s subsidiaries
Non-audit services – subsidiaries
Fees paid to other auditors
The audit of the Group’s subsidiaries
Non-audit services – subsidiaries
Tax services - subsidiaries

33.

2021

2020

$

$

429,324
85,460

319,950
95,585

78,000
12,151

62,750
19,900

138,524
88,146
256,608

102,18
104,675
532,953

1,088,212

1,237,997

RELATED PARTIES

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of business, entered into various sale and purchase transactions. All
transactions are entered into at amounts negotiated between the parties.
Group
2021

2020

$

$

Directors' emoluments
Short Term Benefits
Share Based Payments

1,562,000
486,000

1,292,119
294,119

2,048,000

1,586,238

During the year the following Key Management Personnel have subscribed for and have been issued Common Shares in the Company:
• Jamie Boyton – Executive Chairman – Common Shares issued: 225,000 at a price of £0.65 per share.
The Group considers the Key Management Personnel to be limited to the Board of Directors as they are responsible for planning and
directing the Group’s activities.

34.

COMMITMENTS

The Group has the following commitments:
Group

Committed capital expenditure

2021

2020

$

$

13,424,141

35,647,233

The Group had outstanding purchase orders amounting to $30.3 million (2020: $40.2 million) at the end of the reporting period of which $13.4
million (2020: $35.6 million) were for capital expenditure.
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35.

CONTINGENCIES

35.1. Zambia tax
Capital Drilling (Zambia) Limited (“CDZ”), a subsidiary of Capital Limited, is a party to various tax claims made by the Zambian Revenue
Authority (ZRA) for the tax years 2007 to 2013.
On 30 April 2015, CDZ received a tax assessment from the ZRA totalling Zambian Kwacha 150m ($8.2 million), inclusive of penalties and
interest. The claims relate to various taxes, including income tax, value added tax, payroll tax (PAYE) and withholding tax. CDZ responded
in detail to these claims, and no amount has yet been paid. No subsequent communication has been received from the ZRA regarding this
matter since June 2016.
As Capital has ceased to operate in Zambia, CDZ is being liquidated. This process is expected to be completed during 2022.
35.2. Tanzania tax
2009-15 tax audit
Capital Drilling (T) Ltd (“CDT”), is party to a payroll tax claim made by the Tanzanian Revenue Authority (“TRA”) for the tax years 20092015. During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the company received an immediate demand notice from the TRA for 18.6 billion
Tanzanian Shillings (“TZS”) (US$(8.0) million), inclusive of penalties and interest. The management of CDT objected to the assessment
raised by the TRA and requested the calculations of the notice. In order to object, according to Tanzanian tax law, a taxpayer is required to
pay the tax amount not in dispute or one third of the assessed tax whichever is greater. CDT’s management reached an agreement with the
TRA and paid TZS 1.5 billion (US$0.7 million) in lieu of one third of the assessed value.
In June 2017 the TRA provided its calculations to CDT, in which CDT identified differences with the TRA on both the facts and methodology
used to determine the tax payable. In order to continue the discussions and negotiations with the TRA, CDT has, at the request of the TRA,
paid an additional amount of TZS 1.1 billion (US$0.4 million), increasing the total amount paid to TZS 2.6 billion (US$1.1 million) as at 31
December 2018.
CDT is of the view that the US$1.1 million already paid represents the maximum potential tax liability. However, on 3 February 2020, the
TRA issued an updated assessment of TZS 22.5 billion (US$9.8 million) which comprises a principal amount of TZS 7.3 billion (US$3.2
million) and interest of TZS 15.2 billion (US$6.6 million). CDT has lodged an appeal at the Tanzania Revenue Appeals Board (TRAB), which
was dismissed on a technicality on 25th September 2020. In August 2021, CDT finally received the documents required to be able to appeal
the dismissal and the appeal was lodged within the statutory timeframe. CDT is now awaiting confirmation of the date for the verbal
arguments to be presented. CDT’s advisers remain confident that the appeal will be successful.
2016-18 tax audit
The TRA issued an initial assessment of $4.5m for 2016-18 in December 2019. Through negotiation, this was reduced to $2.4 million in
May 2020 and a total of $0.7 million was paid by CDT in order to proceed with lodging formal objections. These were lodged in June 2020
and responses finally received a year later in June 2021. A number of CDT’s positions were accepted and a further round of
correspondence entered into which is ongoing.
$0.7m remains in line with Management’s estimate of the potential tax and penalties due and, as this amount has already been paid, no
further amounts have been provided on the balance sheet.
35.3 Mauritania tax
2019 tax audit
On 25 November 2020, CDM received notification that the MRA has commenced a routine tax audit into the 2019 tax year and, on 21
December 2020, the MRA issued a payment demand for a total of $1.9m including penalties.
Management considers that the maximum exposure is $0.7m, including penalties. A payment of $0.3m was made before the end of 2020,
leaving $0.4m payable based on management’s analysis. As at 31 December 2020, a further $1.0m was provided on the balance sheet.
However, in February 2021 CDM was required to sign a payment plan for the full outstanding claim of $1.7m, including an additional $0.1m
penalties, in order for the case to proceed to a full technical review by the MRA and to prevent shutdown of the company’s operations. The
full technical review had not progressed in any meaningful way before the payment agreement came to an end with all but $0.1m paid in
full. No further balance sheet provision is therefore required, and no asset recognised for the potential reduction in the final liability.
Negotiations with the MRA are ongoing and the technical review should still take place, although both the timing and outcome are uncertain.
35.4 Ivory Coast tax
2018-19 tax audit
A tax audit of CDCI for the two years ended 31 December 2019 is currently underway which focuses on the tax outcomes resulting from the
local SYSCOA accounting reporting requirements. The main area where the Ivorian tax authorities are seeking additional tax relates to
securities tax (IRVM) that they claim is payable on an intercompany balance. Through negotiations, the total tax exposure has been
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35.

CONTINGENCIES (continued)

35.4 Ivory Coast tax (continued)
reduced from $1.5m to $0.4m. No provision has been recognised at 31 December 2021 on the basis that negotiations are ongoing and the
underlying facts would not trigger any additional securities tax liability.
Customs duty
An initial exchange of correspondence has taken place between the Ivorian customs duty authority and Capital Mining Services (CMS)
relating to the availability of certain customs duty exemptions under CMS client’s Mining Convention. CMS responded with a forceful written
denial of this position in July 2021 and no further correspondence has been received. No balance sheet provision has been made, no
assessments have been issued and no amounts are due and payable.
35.5

Mali tax
In July 2019, the Mali Tax Authorities (DGE) commenced a routine tax audit of Capital Drilling Mali for the periods 2016-18. No final
assessments or requests for payment have been issued in respect of any of the three years under audit and the audit process has not yet
formally concluded.
Across the three years, the maximum potential tax claim including penalties is approximately $3.8m. Following a detailed review, our incountry advisers have calculated the actual potential exposure at $0.2m, including penalties and provided a comprehensive response to the
tax authorities supporting this position.

36.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Share buyback programme
As announced on 4 January 2022, the Group undertook a share buyback programme to reduce the Company’s share capital and meet its
obligations arising from the share option initiatives. A total of 1,974,551 shares were purchased at a total cost of approximately $2.5
million. The programme was completed on 23 February 2022.

37.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Annual Financial statements set out on pages 93 to 147 were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 March 2022 in
London.
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Appendix:
Glossary and Alternative Performance Measures
GLOSSARY
The following terms and alternative performance measures were used for the year ended 31 December 2021.					
					
ARPOR

Average revenue per operating rig

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortisation and fair value gain/loss

NET CASH (DEBT)

Cash and cash equivalents less short term and long term debt

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Total equity/ Weighted average number of ordinary shares

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED

EBIT/Total assets-current liabilities

RETURN ON TOTAL ASSETS

EBIT/Total assets

(CENTS)

RECONCILIATION OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:		
														
2021

2020

$

$

ARPOR can be reconciled from the financial statements as per the below:
Revenue per financial statements ($)

226,793,266

Non-drilling revenue ($)

(57,130,266)

(17,490,874)

Revenue used in the calculation of ARPOR ($)

169,663,000

117,471,000

78

57

Monthly Average active operating Rigs
Monthly Average operating Rigs

134,961,874

104

98

181,000

171,000

Profit for the period

70,288,778

24,763,188

Depreciation

21,397,355

12,197,072

Taxation

11,716,529

9,328,357

ARPOR (rounded to nearest $'000)
EBITDA can be reconciled from the financial statements as per the below:

Interest income

(244,998)

(256,557)

Finance charges

3,833,766

1,364,222

Fair value adjustments

(33,716,756)

(13,574,332)

EBITDA

73,274,674

33,821,950

Operating profit (EBIT)

51,877,319

21,624,878

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments

21,397,355

12,197,072

EBITDA

73,274,674

33,821,950

Gross profit

106,302,020

54,896,156

Administration expenses

(33,027,346)

(21,074,206)

73,274,674

33,821,950

32.3%

25.1%

EBITDA
EBITDA Margin
Net cash (debt) can be reconciled from the financial statements as per the below:
Cash and cash equivalents

30,577,249

35,701,894

Long-term liabilities

(45,567,668)

(26,112,602)

Current portion of long-term liabilities

(16,887,692)

(4,581,111)

Net cash (debt)

(31,878,111)

5,008,181
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2021
$

2020
$

Net Asset Value per share (cents) can be calculated as per the below:
Total Equity

219,173,832

146,689,455

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share

189,765,149

138,367,746

115.50

106.01

Net Asset Value per share (Cents)

EBITDA										
EBITDA represents profit or loss for the year before interest, income taxes, depreciation & amortisation and fair value adjustments on financial assets
at fair value through profit and loss and realised gain (loss) on fair value through profit and loss investments.

EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial measure that is used as supplemental financial measures by management and external users of financial statements,
such as investors, to assess our financial and operating performance. These non-IFRS financial measures will assist our management and investors
by increasing the comparability of our performance from period to period.

We believe that including EBITDA assists our management and investors in:i)

Understanding and analysing the results of our operating and business performance, and

ii) Monitoring our ongoing financial and operational strength in assessing whether to continue to hold our shares. This is achieved by excluding the

potentially disparate effects between periods of depreciation and amortisation, income (loss) from associate, interest income, finance charges, fair
value adjustment on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss and realised gain (loss) on fair value through profit & loss investments,
which may significantly affect comparability of results of operations between periods.

EBITDA has limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered as alternatives to, or as substitutes for, or superior to, profit or loss for the

period or any other measure of financial performance presented in accordance with IFRS. Further other companies in our industry may calculate these
measures differently from how we do, limiting their usefulness as a comparative measure.

NET CASH (DEBT)									
Net cash (debt) is a non-GAAP measure that is defined as cash and cash equivalents less short and long term debt.
Management believes that net cash (debt) is a useful indicator of the Group’s indebtedness, financial flexibility and capital structure because it

indicates the level of borrowings after taking account of cash and cash equivalents within the Group’s business that could be utilised to pay down the

outstanding borrowings. Management believes that net debt can assist securities analysts, investors and other parties to evaluate the Group. Net cash
(debt) and similar measures are used by different companies for differing purposes and are often calculated in ways that reflect the circumstances of
those companies. Accordingly, caution is required in comparing net debt as reported by the Group to net cash (debt) of other companies.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (CENTS)								
Net Asset Value per share (cents) is a non-financial measure taking into consideration the total equity over the weighted average number of shares
used in the calculation of basic earnings per share.

Management believes that the net asset value per share is a useful indicator of the the level of safety associated with each individual share because it
indicates the amount of money that a shareholder would get if the Group were to liquidate. Management believes that net asset value per share can
assist securities analysts, investors and other parties to evaluate the Group.

Net asset value per share and similar measures are used by different companies for different purposes and are often calculated in ways that reflect the
circumstances of those companies. Accordingly, caution is required when comparing net asset value per share as reported by the Group to net asset
value per share of other companies.

AVERAGE REVENUE PER OPERATING RIG (ARPOR)
ARPOR is a non-financial measure defined as the monthly average drilling specific revenue for the period divided by the monthly average active

operating rigs. Drilling specific revenue excludes revenue generated from shot crew, a blast hole service that does not require a rig to perform but

forms part of drilling. Management uses this indicator to assess the operational performance accross the board on a period by period basis even if
there is an increase or decrease in rig utilisation.							
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